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To accomplish great

S Mad rt ‘ things, we must dream

as well as act.



OVERVIEW

Sagicor is a dynamic, indigenous Group which has been redefining
financial services in the Caribbean. Following a carefully crafted business
strategy, the company transformed from a local single-line life insurance
company to a financial services group with a solid regional base, before
expanding into the international financial services market.

After the company demutualised in 2002, Sagicor Financial Corporation
was formed as a publicly-listed holding company. Sagicor, the company
name, means “wise judgment” and reflects the nature of the financial
advice and services we offer. Sagicor now operates in 22 countries in the
Caribbean, the USA, the UK and Latin America.

For 174 years, Sagicor's business has been based on long-term
relationships with its employees, communities, and customers who
entrust us with their future financial well-being. Cur name and identity
draw on the strength, stability and financial prudence that are our
heritage, and this identity also defines the flexibility that wise financial
thinking can bring to our customers throughout their lives. Local
expertise and partnerships with world-class asset managers, reinsurers,
and sound risk management, ensure that Sagicor is truly able to improwve
peoples’ lives through “wise judgment”, and will continue to meet their
financial needs now and in the future.

It is Sagicor's view that the entire business of wealth-creation and
protection is about social investment. For many decades, Sagicor

has provided financial support and voluntary assistance, primarily in
the areas of health, education, youth developmentand sports, to a
number of organisations and institutions. Sagicor continues to provide
significant support for the prevention of non-communicable diseases,
promoting healthy living, and improving access to and facilities for
health-care in the region. Sagicor supports education at the primary,
secondary and tertiary level, and sponsors a number of adult education
and development activities.

As we continue to move forward through these challenging times in

the economic life of our region and the rest of the world, Sagicor's core
business strategies will continue to provide a wide range of financial
products and services, while we continue to be committed to our vision,
“To be a great company, committed to improving the lives of people in
the communities in which we operate.”









Twists and turns don't

Ag'le ‘ faze us. We stay on

target, no matter what.



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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Stephen McNamara
Chairman

| am pleased to report to you on the 2013 performance of the Sagicor
Group. The Group's financial statements in 2013, like 2012, have
been presented with continuing operations being separated from the
discontinued Sagicor Europe operations.

The Sagicor Group's continuing operations, comprising our businesses
in the Caribbean and in the USA, continued to perform well. Net income
from continuing operations of US $79.6 million was realised for the year
ended December 31, 2013, (US $75.3 million for 2012); after accounting
for capital losses of US $22.0 million incurred through the Group's
participation in the Government of |Jamaica National Debt Exchange
{MDX), and impairment provisions on Government of Grenada bonds.

Met income from continuing operations attributable to shareholders

was US $39.1 million. Before accounting for the shareholders' portion

of the above mentioned capital loss (US $9.3 million), net income from
continuing operations attributable to shareholders was US 348.4 million
compared to US $53.1 million for the prior year 2012. Earnings per
common share from continuing operations was US 12.5¢ and represented

an annualised return on common shareholders' equity of 7.7%. Recall
that in 2012, there was a one-off gain of US $20.9 million relating to the
recapture of a reinsurance contract. When this one-off gain is excluded
from 2012 net income, net income attributable to shareholders for the
current year shows a 21% improvement in shareholder results.

Continuing operations generated total revenue of US $1,039.5 million
compared to the 2012 amount of US $1,064.3 million. The reduction

in total revenue is as a result of a decision to reinsure 90%

(US $271.4 million) in new annuity business written in 2013 in the USA.
Cther revenue in 2012 benefited from a gain of US $32.0 million before
tax (US $20.9 million after tax), on the recapture of a previously reinsured
block of policies.

Met irvestment income and other income were lower than previous
year, at US 32794 million compared to US $295.0 million for 2012. Net
investment income for the current year was also impacted negatively
by capital losses of US $22.0 million (US $9.3 million to shareholders)
incurred on the |amaica and Grenada government debt.

Total benefits incurred from continuing operations totalled

LS $592.8 million, a reduction from the comparative amount of

US 3639.4 million in 2012. This reduction is the result of a reinsurance
programme introduced in the USA segment, where a significant
percentage of the business is now being reinsured.

Expenses (including agents' and brokers' commissions) closed the year at
LS $348.1 million compared to US $325.1 million for the prior year. This
increase in expenses is consistent with the growth in premium revenue.

Cn July 29, 2013, the Compary entered into an agreement to sell Sagicor
Europe (SEL) and its subsidiaries to AmTrust Financial Services, Inc.
(AmTrust), subject to regulatory approvals. Final regulatory approvals
were obtained on December 23, 2013, on which date the sale was
completed. The operations of the Sagicor Europe operating segment are
presented as discontinued operations in these financial statements. The
terms of the sale required Sagicor to retain an interest in the run-off of
the 2011, 2012 and 2013 underwriting years of account after the syndicate
has been formally sold and is subject to a limit.



The impact of this transaction and the performance of SEL for the
financial years 2012 and 2013 are as follows:

2013 2012
Operating loss for the year 33a ilE
Write-off of carrying value of the investment 21.1 10.2
Expenses incurred on disposal 29 -
Charged to shareholders' equity for the year 57.9 42.0

The results of Sagicor Europe were also impacted by previous year's
currency translation loss of US $17.6 million, which was recycled from
reserves, and had no impact on the net assets of the Company.

Cwverall Group Met Income for the year 2013, including discontinued
operations, was US $4.1 million, compared to US $33.3 million for

2012. Met Income attributable to shareholders, including discontinued
operations, was a loss of US 336.4 million in 2013 compared to a profit of
US 3117 million in 2012,

Other comprehensive loss from continuing operations was

US 373.9 million compared to US $23.9 million in 2012, and includes
retranslation losses of foreign currency operations of US $36.4 million,
losses on defined benefit plans of US 3$9.5 million and net movements
related to investment assets of US $31.8 million.

In the consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2013,
assets amounted to US $5.3 billion and liabilities totalled US $4.6 billion.
Sagicor's Group equity totalled US $725.2 million. The Group's debt,
which is included in other liabilities, increased to US $290.2 million from
US 3241.6 million in 2012. On December 18, 2013, the company issued
18-month US $43.4 million in notes which are repayable in 2015. This,
together with the reduction in total equity, increased the debt to equity
ratio to 40.0% (2012 - 30.1%).

The Sagicor Group's experience during our ownership of Sagicor at Lloyds
was particularly challenging. Weak operating results from this segment
over the years and a protracted sales process combined to impact
shareholders’ equity negatively. On the positive side, despite a challenging
economic environment, the Caribbean and USA operations continue to
grow and to produce positive results for shareholders.

Cin January 29, 2014, Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited signed a Sale and
Purchase Agreement to acquire all of the issued shares of RBC Royal
Bank (Jarmaica) Limited and RBTT Securities Jamaica Limited [collectively
“RBC Jamaica”) from Royal Bank of Canada. The acquisition is subject to
regulatory approvals. At December 2013, RBC Jamaica had total assets of
US $509 million.

The Board has declared dividends of US 3.25 cents per preference share
and US 2.0 cents per common share, payable on May 15.

O January 15, 2014, Director Joyce Dear
retired from the Board of Sagicor Financial
Corporation, having attained the mandatory
age of retirement. On behalf of the Board,

| wish to thank Joyce for her many years of
valuable contributions, and | wish her well

in her retirement. Mr Richard Young was
appointed to serve the unexpired term until the
AGM, at which time he becomes eligible for
election.

Cin behalf of the Board of Sagicor, | wish to Richard Young
thank our Shareholders, Policyholders, Clients,

Staff, Advisors and Business Partners for their

continued support.

.-'-/ —
/.,'yz,.. -

Stephen McMamara
Chairman
March 29, 2014.




Sagicor FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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We measure ourselves,
notbywhat we have but
by what we give.

Generous




Scottsdale, Arizona: Plantation, Flnrlda,m
City, Oklahoma. Our service offerings in the Uﬂtted States
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IN OUR COMMUNITIES - EDUCATION

As one of the four pillars outlined in the Sagicor Vision, we consider the value
of education to be immeasurable. We offer strong support across the region to
learning institutions from primary to tertiary, catering to traditional studies and

education for those with special needs.

The SagicorVisionaries Challenge winners at their visitto  AndreaChristensen,ComplianceManager,volunteerswith Hon & Danny Willlams, Chalrman of Sagicor Group
Walt Disney World's EPCOT Theme Park other5agicorLifestaffmembersforthe Adopt-A-Classroom Jamaica, and guest speaker Tameka Hill, (center) are
programme In Phoenix, Arizona. flanked by the 16 reciplents of the

2013 GSAT Awards Scholarship.



CORPORATE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In 2013, Sagicor continued its robust corporate and social responsibility
(CSR) programme, in keeping with its vision of “improving the lives of
people in the communities in which we operate”. Active community
involvernent and volunteerism across the Sagicor Group resulted in a
nurmber of key initiatives focused on community and youth, health and
education and sport. Much of the success of Sagicor's CSR programme can
be attributed to its staff members, who gave of their time and energy to help
build on a tradition of supporting cormmunities in their time of need.

EDUCATION

In January 2013, Sagicor conceptualised a Challenge for secondary
school students of the Caribbean Region, to stimulate their interests in
Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) subjects.
In collaboration with the Caribbean Science Foundation (CS5F) and

the Caribbean Examinations Council (CXC), the Sagicor Visionaries
Challenge was launched in 12 Caribbean countries with the following
objectives:

+ lgnite an interest in innovation among secondary school students,
through STEM, to help build and integrate sustainable communities
throughout the Caribbean.

+ Integrate knowledge gained from formal and informal education to
enable tomorrow's leaders to build a more sustainable Caribbean.

+ Encourage and boost institutional capacity in STEM in secondary
schools within the region.

The Challenge required secondary school students to work with a teacher
at their educational institution to identify a problem facing their school
or community and, using STEM, develop effective, innovative and
sustainable solutions to the problem identified.

The projects were judged at the National level in each country, with the
first place winner in each jurisdiction advancing to the Regional Level of
the Competition, which was held in Barbados in April, 2013, Of the 12
schools participating, the project from Bishop Martin High School in
Belize emerged victorious, with the “Coconuts 4 Life"” project, followed
by Waolmer's Boys' School in Jamaica, with the “Electro Light” project
and, Maparima Girls' High School in Trinidad and Tobago, with the “So
Wha's the Farmer in your Meighbourhood” project.

In addition, each school winning its National Competition was awarded
a prize for a student and teacher to attend the Sagicor Visionaries
Ambassadors' Programme. This programme was arranged as part of the
Museum of Science and Industry's (MOSI) Summer Science Camp, in
Tarmpa Florida, in July, 2013,

Sagicor Life Inc (SLI1) Barbados rewarded the achievements of two
outstanding students in the Faculty of Social Sciences at the University
of the West Indies (UWI) Cave Hill Campus, as part of its Scholarship
Programme. Subsequently, two (2) third year students pursuing double
majors were granted financial awards, and later received internships in
the Pensions Department of SLI.

Sagicor understands that children enjoy exposure to the creativity of their
peers. In this regard, Sagicor Life Jamaica hosted the GEM (Creatness Exists
in Me) Pantomime. This talent showcase encouraged infant and primary
school students to achieve their fullest potential, while at the same time,
enhancing their confidence and self-esteem. Recognising that the month of
May was Mational Child Month, SL] sponsored a night at the Pantomime for
350 students from children's homes across Jamaica.

Sagicor Jamaica also provided awards exceeding |$2 million to 119
successful applicants, at both the primary and secondary levels, all

of whom were children of staff members. Another |$2.8 million was
awarded to 19 students at the University of the West Indies and the
University of Technology in Jamaica, as scholarship grants through the
Sagicor Scholarships programme. To date, in excess of 220 students
have been awarded scholarships through the Sagicor Education
Scholarships programme.

Sagicor Life Insurance Company (SLIC) embraced yet another
opportunity to donate funds towards BT Washington Elementary
School's annual Spring Carnival, an end-of-school-year celebration and
reward for the students’ hard work during the year. SLIC hosted a holiday
party for the entire third grade class of the school at the Lowry Park

Zoo, where the children had the opportunity to see and learn about the
animals.

During the summer, SLIC's staff from the Tampa office collected
school supplies for a donation to the Hillsborough County Education
Foundation, a non-profit organisation that collects and distributes



school supplies to teachers within Hillsborough County. In support of

this charity, SLIC's staff held numerous inter-office raffles, and hosted

in-house breakfasts where monetary donations were made towards the
purchase of supplies.

Staff at SLIC's Arizona office participated in the annual Adopt-A-Class
event, by sponsoring a first-grade class at the Wilson Elementary School
in downtown Phoenix. School administrators started the programme 15
years ago because they recognised that many of the students came from
low income househaolds, and had not experienced the joy of opening
presents at Christmas. In December, each student in the class received
toys from a “wish list” that they had sent to Santa.

__E J
Winners of the Sagicor Visionaries Challenge national competition in Belize, Bishop
Martin High School, with their project*Coconuts 4 Lifa”

L

Second Runmer Up in the
Sagicor Visionaries Challenge
Regional competition, Maparima
Girls’ High School from Trinidad

Attending the Sagicor-sponsored *Income Tax Law inthe Commonwealth Caribbean”

Book Launch wera (L-R) immy Bristol, former Attomey General, Grenada; Donna Denbow; E;wd;%ha_g 2{:”-?1 their project
Dr Claude Denbow; Justice Rolston Melson, and Sagicor’s Group Chief Operating Officer, N;ghbzﬁ:'huid?EM1n your

Richard Kellman.
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IN OUR COMMUNITIES - HEALTH

The Sagicor Vision outlines our commitment to initiatives and developments
which will enhance the long-term quality of life in the communities in which
we operate. From this perspective, we have made health a priority area of our
corporate support. Asaregional leader in the industry, we lead by example, both
within and outside of the organisation.

Dr Patricia Downes-Grant, President and Chief Executive A member of the Sagicor Life Inc Customer Service team Major League Baseball pitcher, Jeremy Hellickson, of the
Officer of Sagicor Life Inc {right) recefves a pink ribbon pin explaining the Caribbean Cervical Cancer Electronic Sagicor-sponsored TampaBayRaysvisits ayoungpatient at
from DrShirley Hanoman-Jhagroo, Medical Directorofthe Petition to a customer. All Children's Hospftal In 5t. Petersburg, Florida.

Barbados Breast Screening Programme.



HEALTH

SLI Barbados, in collaboration with the Healthy Caribbean Coalition and
various regional cancer organisations, launched an awareness campaign
in support of eradicating cervical cancer. The "End Cervical Cancer
Electronic Campaign” petitioned Caribbean Heads of Government

to increase Caribbean women's access to affordable cervical cancer-
screening. The petition was the first electronic petition of its kind in the
region.

In addition to the electronic campaign, 5L1 also partidpated in the
launch of a Cervical Cancer Advocacy Handbook in Trinidad. The
handbook, produced by The Healthy Caribbean Coalition, was designed
to provide a simple, user-friendly tool to support a greater understanding
and appreciation of cervical cancer advocacy, as well as support civil
society in the design, implementation and monitoring of basic advocacy
action plans.

In September, SL| Barbados sponsored the inaugural Globe-athon Walk
to End Women's Cancer. The 5K Walk raised funds for the Barbados
Cancer Society, which will ultimately be used to outfit a Gynae-Oncology
Unit at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital.

SLI continued the Barbados Breast Screening Programme's (BSF)
awareness and fundraising drive during Breast Cancer Awareness Weel,
by hosting programme volunteers as they collected donations for the
programme's popular pink ribbons. The monetary donations helped the
BSP to upgrade equipment and subsidise the cost of mammograms.
Since the Programme was first introduced in 2002, the cost to patients
has never increased.

The staff at SLI's Trinidad and Tobago office also supported the fight
against breast cancer, by participating in fund-raising activities including,
5K walks and t-shirt sales, during Pink Ribbon Week. The money raised
was donated to the Trinidad and Tobago Cancer Society.

5L also supported Breast Cancer Awareness Month by continuing its
ten-year association as title sponsor of the Jamaica Cancer Society's
Keeping Abreast Luncheon. 500 cancer survivors and supporters listened
to the guest speaker, three-time Olympic bronze medallist and breast

cancer surviver, Novlene Williams-Mills, as she shared her heartfelt
experience from receiving her diagnosis prior to the Olympics to
overcoming the disease.

Mare than 20,000 walkers, runners and wheelchair participants,
comprising corporate companies, groups and individuals, participated in
the Sagicor Sigma Corporate Run, the Caribbean's largest road race. The
run is a unique event, designed to inspire fun, fitness and camaraderie
among Jamaica's business community. Since 1999, 5L has donated
|$119 million from the proceeds of the run to various charities, with over
|$16 million being donated to the Best Care Lodge, Jamaica MNational
Children's Home and Bustamante Hospital for The Children's Pediatric
Cardiac Unit.

In Tampa, SLIC was the major sponsor of the “Bolt Run”, the Lightning
Foundation's annual 5K Fun Run in support of the Leukemia &
Lymphoma Society. Several SLIC staff members participated in the Run.

During 2013, SLIC made a significant monetary donation to three
children's hospitals in Phoenix, Arizona; and 5t Petersburg and Miami,
Florida. In addition, SLIC staff velunteered their time to support various
telethons, radiothons, and other fundraising events.

SLIC's Plantation, Florida office supported Vital Fights, an organisation
that works closely with South Florida hospitals to co-ordinate and
provide air transportation to critically ill children receiving treatment at
medical facilities away from their homes.

Staff at the Scottsdale, Arizona office participated in the American
Cancer Society's “Making Strides Against Breast Cancer Walk”. This
annual event is a five-mile walk that is designed to honour breast cancer
survivors, raise awareness about breast cancer and raise funds to fight
against the disease. The money raised was used for research and to
provide mammograms and other information and services to women
who need them. In addition, SLIC donated funds from its “casual dress
contributions” to help the cause.



Edward Clarke, Chief Operating Officer,
Sagicor Life Inc and General Manager -
Barbados Operations (left) presented 2
copy of the“Caribbean Cervical Society
CervicalCancer AdvocacyHandbookand
Flannimg Tool™to Sir George Alleyne,
Patron of the Healthy Caribbean
Coalition, at the 20132 “5trengthening
Health Systems, Supporting NCD
Action” meeting in Trinidad & Tobago.

Three-time Olympic bronze medallist, breast camcer
survivorandKesping AbreastLuncheonguestspaaker
Movelene Williams-Mills (centre) is flanked by
Patricia Evalyn (left), Fnancial Advisor at 5agicor Life
Jamaica, and Loma Lai, Executive Assistant. Lorna
and Patricia are also both cancer survivors.

TheWheelchairRace, whichis comprised of membersofthe Jamaica Paralympics Association
team, is off to a great start at the 15th staging of the Sagicor Sigma Corporate Run.

Major League Baseball pitcher, Jeremny Heallickson, ofthe Tampa Bay Rays joins Sagicor Life staffmembers
for a visit at All Children’s Hospital in 5t. Petarsburg, Florida.
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Sagicor Life Jamaica Ltd, a market leader in Jamaica,
operates the Sagicor Life Jamaica insurance company,
Sagicor Investments Jamailca and Sagicor Bank.
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COMMUNITY AND YOUTH INVOLVEMENT

SLI Barbados was, once again, title sponsor of the annual Barbados
Lighting Ceremony. Each year, the event, co-ordinated by the Community
Independence Celebrations Secretariat, officially marks the beginning
of a month-long period of Independence celebrations. The programme
included the lighting of buildings in Bridgetown, roundabouts along the
roadways and various parks and landmarks.

In addition to the Lighting Ceremony, SLI revived its sponsorship of
the Mational Independence Festival of Creative Arts (MIFCA). This year,
Sagicor sponsored the inaugural NIFCA Junior Finals, which saw young
people compete in poetry, song, drama and dance. In 2013, NIFCA
celebrated its 40th anniversary, showcasing some of the very best
Barbadian talent in dance, music, drama, literary and culinary arts, fine
art and craft, photography and film.

In 5t Vincent and the Grenadines, SLI continued its support of the

St Vincent and the Grenadines Coastguard Service Youth Development
Surmmer Programme. This programme marked its 20th anniversary in
2013. Each year, the programme exposes participants between the ages
of 14 and 18 to various disciplines such as leadership development,
safety at sea, conflict resolution, substance abuse prevention and
intervention and fisheries conservation. Participants get a greater
appreciation for the role of the Coast Guard, as well as gain critical life

skills.

Support for the awareness of envorionmental issues continued with the
SLI Trinidad and Tobago's donation towards the Plastikeep Recovery
Programme (PRP). The programme's objectives are to educate the
public about the problems posed by plastic waste, to cultivate a culture
of recycling, to highlight the importance of a healthy environment, to
minimise the impact of plastics on our natural habitat and to reduce
plastic-waste dumping in our landfills. To this end, the Plastikeep team
furnished north-west Trinidad with plastic recycling bins as part of the
Plastikeep Annual Plasti-thon. The plastics were collected by PRP for
sorting as well as processing, and subsequently shipped overseas for
recycling.

During 2013, 5L made a number of donations to various charities
and organisations for the betterment of the wider community. Such

donations included Shelly-Ann Fraser-Pryce's Pocket Rocket Foundation,
Jamaica Paralympic Association, |amaica Cancer Society, Running
Events, Jamaica Environment Trust, Manning's High School, Dunrobin
Primary and Amateur Swimming Association of Jamaica, Godfrey
Stewart High School, Waterford High School's Manning Cup Team, and
August Town Hermitage Basic School.

5L)'s Motivational Seminar made a donation to the Jamaica Christian
Boys' Home. Currently, the institution houses 23 young men between
the ages of eight and sixteen years. The institution was given awell-
deserved facelift, valued at J$370,000.

On Labour Day, 5L) team members from across Sagicor Group Jamaica
came together with tools and materials to " Lend a Hand, Build our Land
to provide a facelift to their adopted schools.

Staff from the Tampa and Arizona USA offices took part in two
successful food drives. The Scottsdale office set a goal of donating
16,000 meals to the 5t Mary's Food Bank. The Tampa staff's goal was
1,100 meals for Metropolitan Ministries. Casual dress contributions and
staff donations made it possible for both offices to surpass their goals.
Both food drives have become an annual event for SLIC, and each year
has been more successful than the last.

DISASTER RELIEF

Unseasonal terrential rains affected some islands in the Eastern
Caribbean en December 24, 2013. Dominica, St. Lucia, and St. Vincent
were significantly impacted. While there was no disruption to our
business operations, there were some casualties and destruction to
some homes, roadways and bridges on the island in general. Staff
pledges to a Sagicor Disaster Fund continue to provide assistance to
affected communities.

In May, 2013, the town of Moore, Oklahoma, was faced with significant
devastation from the ravages of tornadoes. SLIC's staff members in
Oldahoma City were involved in the relief efforts, and 5LIC also made a
monetary donation to the American Red Cross to assist those displaced
by the tragic events.



A member of the Senator's branch of Sagicor Life
Jamaica is hard at work at the branch’s Adopted
School on Labour Day 2013,

2012 Contributorofthe Year and Sagicorian (Manager of the
Year - Barbados), Sandra Kellman, illuminating the country's
capital at the 5agicor Lifie Inc Lighting Ceremony.

Participants of the 5tVincent and the Grenadines
Coastguard Service Youth Development Summer
Programme engaged in first aid and navigation activities.
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sagicor Life Inc, Trinidad and Tobago, has a strong team which
understands and meets the needs of our customers. Our service offerings

includelifeandhealthinsurance, home ownership, investmentservices and
retirement planning.




IN OUR COMMUNITIES - SPORTS

Nations and companies alike are built on teamwork and sportsmanship. Sagicor
viewsthesetraitsascharacter-building,andthroughoursupportofsportingevents,
seek to nurture their importance across all genders, races and ages.

? wk
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Sagicor Life Insurance Company sponsored the Weston

SoccerClubinWeston, Florida. Thecluboffers competitive

leagues for boys and girls ages 8 to 19 vears. Picturedls a
team from one of the leagues with their coaches.

. _ﬂ.

Saglcor Financial Corporation Chairman, Junior champions of the annual Sagicor Junior Tennis
Stephen McNamara, with the victorious 2013 OECS Tournament in Trinidad display their trophies.
Swimming Champlonship team from Grenada.



SPORTS

In Barbados, the Sagicor Junior Open Chess Tournament attracted over
100 junior players, from across the region. This four-day tournament

is one of the major events on the regional chess circuit, giving players
an excellent oppaortunity for exposure and development of their skills.
Players from Barbados, Martinique, Guyana and the United States

of America competed for titles in Under-20, Under-16 and Under-12
classes. Barbadian players emerged victorious in the Under-20 and
Under-12 categories, while the Under-16 title was won by Martinique.

SLI Eastern Caribbean maintained its support of the QECS Swimming
Championships. In November 2013, teams from Antigua, the British
Virgin Islands, Grenada, 5t Lucia and 5t Vincent competed in St Lucia,
with junior swimmers from Grenada emerging victorious in a close race
which saw reigning champions, 5t Lucia, take second place.

The Sagicor St Andrews Invitational is one of Trinidad and Tobago's
most popular golf tournaments, attracting participants from across the
six golf clubs in Trinidad and Tobago. The tournament raised funds for
the just Because Foundation, and has enabled many youths to attain
Division | scholarships and grants towards their education.

5Ll in Trinidad and Tobago sponsored the Sagicor Junior Lawn Tennis

Tournament at which approximately 150 contenders vied for top trophies
and cash prizes. Students not only developed overall performance skills,
but also improved their personal confidence at various levels of mastery.

5L} maintained its 20-year partnership with the |amaica Teachers
Association to stage the Mational Primary, All-Age and Junior High
School Athletic Championships, by donating |$4.5 million to the two-day
track and field event held at the National Stadium. This event benefited
over 1,200 young athletes from across the island.

Three years ago, 5L forged an important partnership with the Guild of
Students at the University of the West Indies Mona Campus. Since then,
Sl has staged the Sagicor/ UMW Guild Champions League, where over
1,500 students cheered on their football teams formed by LW students
competing for a chance to win cash prizes.

In Arizona, SLIC sponsored the Phoenix AYSO Soccer and Valley of

the Sun YMCA leagues, and in Florida, the Weston Soccer Club and

Ft Lauderdale Surge leagues. SLIC's sponsorship of these soccer leagues
provided the majority of the funding to conduct the games.

SLIC continued its support of the athletic programmes of two US
universities: Arizona State University's (ASU) football, basketball and
baseball programmes, and the University of South Florida's (USF)
football and basketball programmes.

During football season at both ASU and USF, SLIC offered a unique
opportunity for children from 6 to 12 years of age to be a “Sagicor Kick
Off Kid". One child was selected for each home game to run out on the
field after the kick-off to collect the kicking tee. The “Kick Off Kid"” was
featured on the stadium video board as he ran on the field to retrieve the
kicking tee, and the child and his family were also given VIP tickets to the
game and an autographed football from the coach.

In collaboration with the Tampa Bay Rays Major League Baseball team,
SLIC continued its popular “Kids Spirits Day” hospital visits with

the Rays players, the Rays' mascot, Raymond, and SLIC staff. During
the season, SLIC and the Rays conducted a series of visits to the All
Children's Hospital in St Petersburg, Florida and interacted with the
young patients and their parents. Players handed out Sagicor-branded
baseball-shaped pillows to the kids, posed for pictures and signed
autographs.

In 2013, SLIC and the Rays also created two new community
programmes: "Sagicor Junior Announcer Sweepstakes” and “ Sagicor
Salute to Education”. The sweepstakes provided children between

the ages of 8 and 16 with the chance to be an announcer for one
inning, announcing the batter's name as they approach to bat. Junior
announcers were selected for all Sunday home games throughout the
season. The Salute to Education Programme was developed to recognise
outstanding Tampa Bay area educators. For every other home game,
an educator and hisfher guest received VIP seating, and the honoured
teacher was recognised on the stadium's video scoreboard as Sagicor
Life's outstanding educator.



2013 saw a creative collaboration emerge out of the relationship between
SUIC and the Tampa Bay Rays. Mr George Estock, a long-standing
Senior Executive, retired from SLIC after eighteen (18) years' service.

In appreciation of George's valuable contribution to Sagicor, a baseball
scholarship in his name was established. Ceorge's father was a Major
League ball player. For the next ten years, a deserving child will attend

a weeklong baseball camp with the Tampa Bay Rays free of charge. The
Rays Baseball Camp runs each summer during the months of July and
August.

SUIC further solidified its presence in the Tampa Bay community with its

sponsorship of the Tarmpa Bay Lightning of the Mational Hockey League,
providing not only great in-arena promaotional opportunities for SLIC, but
also another chance to support the community.

Willard Brown, Vice President of the Actuarial and Risk Management Departrnants and
Employee Benefits Administrator, hands over the trophyto the JTA Secretary General, Adolph
Cameron, at the JTASagicor Mational Primary, All-Age and Junior High School Athletic
Championships.

D David Jordan, Vice President, Member Developrnent, Barbados Chess Fedaration
Inc and Sagicor Advisor, Sophia Howard, observe games in progress at the 2013
Sagicor Barbados Open Junior Chess Tournamant

Sagicor Lifes Jr Announcerwinner, Calvin McDonough, announces the batting order for the
inning from the announcer’s booth at a Tampa Bay Rays Major League Baseball game.
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HUMAN CAPITAL REPORT

EMPLOYEE ENCACEMENT

Cur Human Capital agenda for 2013 contained a strong theme that
sought to provide work/life balance, while remaining focused on our
commitment to strategic initiatives. A series of programmes were
implemented in 2013 which focused on employee performance and
behaviour.

Using the Sagicor Success Human Resources Technology platform, a
pilot project was launched in Sagicor Life Inc (SLI) in Barbados for the
implementation of 360 degree feedback, as part of the performance
appraisal. Feedback from a sample group of employees at the level

of Vice President and Assistant Vice President will facilitate the final
customisation, and full implementation of this component of our
Performance Management process in 2014,

Sagicor Companies continued to monitor employee engagement with
the assistance of the Life Office Management Assocdiation (LOMA)
Employee Opinion Survey, registering an average of 2.5% improvement
across the Group over the previous year.

Initiatives and programmes during the past year created a rich tapestry
of events that highlighted the cultural diversity created by Sagicor's
geographical reach. A first-ever “Career Day” for team members
highlighted different career fields within the Sagicor Life Jamaica (SL])
Group, outlined Career Paths, and provided advice on topics ranging
from ‘Dressing For Success' to 'Crafting the Perfect Resumé'. This
initiative to drive career development and to meet employees' desire for
new skills and opportunities exceeded the targeted success rate. 78.4%
of new or vacant permanent positions were filled through promotion,
reclassification or transfer from within SL).

CUSTOMER SERVICE

A new service philosophy was developed by Sagicor Life Inc in 2013,
with considerable input and consultations with Staff. The new service
standards and relevant training, based on seven key principles are

all aimed at creating memorable experiences in our environment by
em phasising accountability.

The seven principles spell cut the word “SAGICOR” and include Seamless
Service; Accurate & Accommodating; Gracious & Genuine; Informative;
Caring, Courteous and Consistent; Organised; Respectful, Reliable, and
Relationship Building. The philosophy will be rolled out in 2014,

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

LIMRA partnered with Sagicor in 2012 to conduct the first phase of a set
of executive development workshops on Effective Organisation Change
and Leadership.

LIMRA will facilitate the second phase of this Executive Development
Workshop for Sagicor Life Inc. in June 2014, The topics will be
Innovation Advantage and Creating a Culture of Achievement.

Group companies continue to support industry-specific programmes
offered through LOMA and LIMRA for Life and Health Insurance
designations, as well as academic programmes leading to professional
designations for career development and meeting talent requirements
identified in our Succession Plans.

Sagicor Jamaica held a Motivational Seminar for all staff which included
speakers such as the internationally known actress, Sheryl Lee Ralph,
and renowned |amaican athlets, Shelly-Ann Fraser-Pryce.

Programmes such as the “Hoopis Performance Network” (HPN),
used extensively in our Sagicor USA office, was introduced to upgrade
the skills of our Sales Team in Trinidad and Tobago. This web based
programme provides innovative sales training and leadership
development resources to financial professionals worldwide, and
features content from some of the top producers and experts in the
financial services industry. Approximately 150 Sales Managers and top
producers took advantage of this mode of training in 2013,

The Harvard ManageMentor2, a twelve-month management
development programme, provided eighteen (18) Managers and
Assistant Managers from our Trinidad & Tobago Office, with access to
a programme specifically tailored to the needs of the organisation, and
strategically aligned to the development of Sagicor's core management
competencies. This robust programme included modules based

on key strategic and operational areas such as Strategy Execution,



Performance Measurement, Change Management and Custorner Focus.
It also utilised a blended delivery approach that included self-directed
e-learning, webinars and a series of implementation projects aimed at
organisational transformation.

“The Sagicor Experience Internship Programme” in Jamaica offered
skills for developing the leaders of tomorrow and provided valuable
work-experience to university graduates. The Programme focused on the
development of Supervisory Skills.

Recognising the significance of a successful transition from full-time
employment to retirement in Barbados, Sagicor also provided a pre-
retirement workshop for employees who were within five years of
retirement. Facilitators covered various topics intended to provide the
participants with information on retirement income from pension plans
and government programmes, retirement lifestyle, inflation, investments
and taxes, and financing healthcare.

Various workshops continued in 2013 to keep employees and
rmanagement up to date with the changes in the regulatory environment
across the Group. These included Anti-Money Laundering, Information
Security, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Fraud Awareness,
Employee Rights and Safety and Health programmes.

Sage Toastmasters in Barbados was chartered by the Toastmasters Club
in 2013. The new club was incorporated in Sagicor Life Inc, and provides
an opportunity to marry the Toastmasters' aims and objectives with the
company's need to develop important professional and business skills
for current and potential leaders. Sagicor provides the club with room
facilities and general hospitality for its meetings.

HEALTH INITIATIVES

In response to growing concerns about the impact of chronic lifestyle
diseases on national budgets and the implications for insurers

and employers, Group companies continued a series of initiatives
and campaigns to improve employee wellness through life-style
modifications. A wide range of wellness initiatives were implemented
to encourage employees and advisors to make better lifestyle choices,
and to become more vested in the management of their health. These

initiatives are expected to impact positively the cost of providing
insurance, health benefits and our claims management experience.

In 2013, Trinidad and Tobago launched a holistic wellness programme,
based on three main pillars — annual wellness screenings and
assessments, educational interventions and exercise. Specific activities
were designed for each pillar, and included a Health Fair, where baseline
physical and mental health screening were provided, along with
nutritional counseling,

In Barbados, Sagicor General Inc. won third place in a corporate weight
loss challenge, hosted by Surfside Wellness Centre. Sagicor's *Fit by
Summer Challenge” provided staff with access to a nutritionist, who
advised the employees on effective meal planning, caloric intake and
weight management. Weekly newsletters and exercise programmes kept
participants motivated, and 54 of the participants each lost between 8-10
pounds throughout the course of the programme.

Sagicor Life Inc' s wellness programmes caught the attention of the
Barbados Chamber of Commerce and other national stakeholders
seeking to establish similar programmes. The Sagicor HR Team
participated in discussions on national initiatives, and drew on the
Sagicor experience to advise on the design and structure of new
initiatives at the national level. A highly visible Step Competition saw 203
competitors in 42 groups completing a total of 106,823,693 steps in 8
weeks. 137 employees participated in the weight loss programme, losing
a total of 530 pounds. The top 25 participants lost 274 pounds during
this period. Enthusiasm from these programmes resulted in an ongoing
series of Epic (long-distance) Walks, and a Sagicor Team participated

in the Great Train Hike, a 10to 12 hour trail hike through parts of
Barbados.

Sagicor Life Jamaica's initiatives included Wellness Days and Wellness
Challenges, a Hike and Bike to Blue Mountain and a range of other
health programmes which included the highly popular Sigma Run.

These activities, in addition to being highly beneficial in promoting
greater health awareness, had the added benefit of generating a keen
level of employee interest, engagement, team spirit and enhanced
communications. These wellness initiatives have significant strategic
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potential for the Sagicor Brand, and the Human Resources departments
will continue to facilitate similar initiatives in 2014,

REWARDS AND RECOGNITION

Sagicor Success provides a strong technology platform for goal setting,
training and development, and performance management. Group
Companies recognise and reward top performers at Awards Ceremonies
each year, building on a strong tradition of performance management.

We are pleased to feature uutstanding performers for 2013 and winners
of the President's Trophies in Barbados, the Eastern Caribbean, Jamaica
and the United States of America.

Janice Mullin-Sargeant, Sagicor Life Inc- Elease Richardson, Sagicor Life Inc - Eastern

Barbados, is 3 consistent and outstanding  Caribbean isatopperforming Sagicor Advisor

Sagicor Advisor.JanicecoppedthePresident’s  inAntiguawho wonthe President sTrophyfor
Trophy for Barbados in 2013, the Eastern Caribbean.

g :
Evan Kleeger, Top Producer, Sagicor Life
Insurance Company - Miami, Rorida, USA.

Lorei Robinson, Sagicor Life Jamaica -
Jamaica, is an outstanding Sagicor Advisor
and Chairman of Sagicor Life Jamaica’s
Production Club. In 2013, her achievements
created anew record at Sagicor Life Jamaica.

o

Fransje Lambertina is tha most outstanding
Sagicor Advisor for 2013 in
Sagicor Capital Life.

Dyal Ramcharan - Sagicor Life Inc -
Trinidad and Tobago, is a top-performing
Sagicor Advisor who attained several
company and industry awards. In 2013, ha
attained the designation of Master Fimancial
Advisor (MRA).



Awards to Administrative employees recognise outstanding customer
service, innovative changes to processes that improve efficiency and
product delivery, new business development and community service.
Sagicor also rewards the top performing employee and Manager in

the Sagicor Group of Companies. The Sagicorian Awards to the most
outstanding employee and the most outstanding manager are the most
coveted awards in this programme. The Group recognised and rewarded
the following employees for their cutstanding performances in 2013:

Aldane Mikton, Sagiconan Award - Group Marlene Chin - Sagicorian Award - Group John Flemming - Group Contributor of the Chnstine joseph — Sagicor Group Pionesr of

Employee of the Year, and 5agicor Life Manager of the Year and Sagicor Life Inc's Year, Sagicor Life Inc - Trinidad and Tobago the Year, Sagicor Life Inc -
Jamaica’s Employes of theYear, is now a Trinidad and Tobago Manager of the Year, is Trinidad and Tobago.
Manager in the Shared Services Information  the Manager, Corporate Communications in
Technotogy Department. Trinidad and Tobago.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

OVERVIEW

The Sagicor Group is a leading provider of insurance products and
related services in the Caribbean region. It also provides insurance
products in the United States of America (USA) and the United Kingdom
(UK) and banking services in some Caribbean countries.

The main insurance lines are life insurance, annuities and pension
management, health insurance and property and casualty insurance.
The custormer base is predominately individuals, but certain lines are
marketed to employers to provide employee benefits, and to commercial
enterprises to provide property and casualty products.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

The external environment impacts the operating and financial
performance of the Sagicor Group.

Economic factors, such as economic growth, employment levels

and disposable income impact the levels of new and renewed life
insurance and annuity products offered by the Group. Interest rates

and investment yields affect the level of savings and investment returns
offered for life insurance, annuities and banking products, and ultimately
the profit margins that the Group can generate from these product lines.

The health and mortality of insured customers and beneficiaries impact
the levels of death, disability and health benefits the Group is required to
meet.

Property and casualty insurance products offer policyholders financial
protection against loss or damage to property, accidents, and liability to
third parties.

The Group's operating units are all regulated by insurance, banking and
securities regulations. The Group therefore has to meet statutory and

reporting requirements to governments and government agencies.

Economic environment

The year 2013 marked an incipient economic recovery in major
economies across the developed world. The growth within developed

economies was largely driven by relaxed fiscal policies, coupled with
accommodative monetary conditions, which persisted. In the USA,
annual economic growth gained traction during the latter half of the year,
and was estimated at 2.3% for 2013. The Federal Reserve maintained
the elevated level of Quantitative Easing (QE) and held short-term
interest rates near zero, which continued to depress long-term interest
rates and supported economic recovery. The fragility of the economic
recovery in Europe led the European Central Bank to cut interest rates to
an unprecedented low in Movember 2013, This was influenced largely by
anticipated deflation within the Euro zone, in addition to an increased
level of unemployment.

Growth in large emerging markets softened. Global decline in demand
drove down prices for commodities, and dampened the performance
of the commadity-driven and export-led emerging market economies.
Emerging economies maintained the lead in spurring overall economic
growth, but continued to generate growth rates below their historical
levels.

In the majority of Caribbean islands, Governments continued to be
constrained by challenging economic conditions resulting from declining
levels of tourism and foreign direct investment, as well as onerous fiscal
deficits. For the year, the performance of regional economies remained
generally depressed, as evidenced by marginal real GDP growth being
experienced in Jamaica and Trinidad & Tobago of 1.8% and 1.6%
respectively. Real GDP for Barbados was estimated to have contracted
by 0.2%. Unemployment levels across the region remained elevated.
With respect to Jamaica, the International Monetary Fund (IMF)
approved a four-year SDR $615 million Extended Arrangement under
the Extended Funds Facility in May 2013. The programme is expected

to improve economic growth, lower public debt and reduce balance of
payment risks. Trinidad & Tobago experienced moderate improvement
in the energy and non-energy sectors, which supported the economic
expansion for 2013, Short-term interest rates remained depressed, and
the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago maintained its accommodative
policy stance and held the Repo rate at 2.75%. Generally, the US dollar
strengthened during the year, which resulted in declines in emerging
market currencies globally. Most notably the Jamaican dollar depreciated
at an annualized rate of 15% against the US dollar.



CROUP RESULTS

Revenues in 2013 totalled US $1,039 million from continuing operations,
compared to US 31,064 million in 2012. The reduction in revenue

was largely as a result of a decision to reinsure 90% of new annuity
business in the USA. Revenues in 2012 also benefited from a gain of

US $32.0 million on the recapture of a previously reinsured block of
policies in the USA segment. The Group also saw lower investment
income, due to capital losses experienced on Caribbean regional
government securities.

Commensurate with the decision to reinsure the annuity business in
the USA segment, insurance and other benefits declined in 2013 to
LS $593 million, compared to US $63% million in 2012. Expenses and
taxes increased and reached US $366 million in 2013, as compared to
US $350 million in 2012,

Met income from continuing operations totalled US $80 million in 2013,
an increase of 6.6% over 2012,

CONSOLIDATED INCOME ! - ¥ millions 2013 2012
Revenue 1,038 1,064
Benefits (593} (639)
Expenses & taxes (366) (350)
Met income do 75
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ' - $ millions 2013 02
Met income do 75
Other comprehensive {loss) (74) (24) |
Total comprehensive income 6 51 !
' from continuing operations |

Other comprehensive income recorded a net loss of US $74 million as
compared to a loss of US $24 million in 2012, Comprehensive income
in 2013 was impacted by losses on foreign currency retranslation of

F |.n n ..- :- al
Corporation
LIS $36 million, losses on defined benefit plans of US $9 million, and net
meovements related to investment assets of S $32 million.

In December 2012, the Board and Management made a decision to
dispose of the Sagicor Europe segment, which owns the Sagicor at
Lloyd's operations. In accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, the results of Sagicor Europe have been separated from

the Group's continuing operations and presented as a discontinued
operation. Sagicor Europe was sold on December 23, 2013,

The results of the Group's continuing operations are further analysed
under the next several sub-headings. The results of the discontinued
operation are discussed and analysed in the Operating Segments
section.

Shareholder returns

The Group's net income and comprehensive income are allocated to the
equity owners of the respective Group companies in accordance with
their results. As some Group companies have minority shareholders,
particularly in the Sagicor Jamaica operating segment, the Group's net
income is allocated accordingly between holders of Sagicor's common
shares and the minority interest shareholders. There is also an allocation
to Sagicor Life Inc's policyholders who hold participating policies, an
arrangement which was established at the demutualisation of Barbados
Mutual Life Assurance Society (now Sagicor Life Inc).

Forthe 2013 financial year, US $39 million of net income from
continuing operations was allocated to the holders of commaon shares
of Sagicor Financial Corporation, which corresponded to earnings

per share of US 12.5 cents. The comparative armounts for 2012 were
LIS $£53 million of net income, and US 17.1 cents per share. The
respective annual returns on shareholders' equity were 7.7% for 2013
and 9.8% for 2012,

Dividends declared to shareholders in respect of 2013 totalled

LS $12 million, and represented US 4 cents per share. The same
amounts were declared for 2012.
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COMMON SHAREHOLDER RETURNS! 2013 2012
Met income - § millions 39 53
Dividends - § millions 12 12
Earnings per share - cents 125 i
Dividends per share - cents 4.0 4.0
Return on equity - 36 1.7 9.3
! from continuing operations except for dividends.

Revenue

The sources of the Group's revenue are insurance premiums from
customers, investment income, fee income and other revenues. The
following table summarises the main items of revenue.

REVEMUE - $ millions 2013 2012
Met insurance premiums:
Life and annuity 408 511
Health 147 136
Property & casualty 18 13
657 665
Met investiment income 279 205
Fees and other revenues 103 104
1,039 1,004

Premium revenue from life insurance and annuity was US $498 million,
and represented 76% of total premium revenue. The comparative
amounts for 2012 were US $511 million and 77%. The reduction in
reverue reflected a dedision to reinsure 90% of new annuity business in
the USA. The Group markets a range of life and annuity products, most
of which are long-term contracts, for which a monthly premium is paid
by the customer.

For some long-term contracts, however, a single premium (usually

a lump sum) is paid at the beginning of the contract. There are also
annual renewable contracts which are marketed largely to employers to
provide coverage to their employees on a group basis.

The Group also markets annual renewable health insurance contracts to
employers and associations. These provide benefits against medical costs
incurred by insured persons. Premium revenue from health insurance
totalled US $141 million, an increase ef US $5 million over 2012,

Property and casualty insurance contracts are also offered in the
Caribbean region. These are marketed to individuals and commercial
enterprises. Premium revenue from these classes of insurance totalled
LS $18 million, the same level as 2012.

Income is earned on the investments made by the Group. The annual
yields achieved on financial investments were as follows:

INTEREST YIELDS 2013 2012
Debt securities 6.6% 7.1%
Mortgage loans 7.5% 7.6%
Paolicy lcans 7.1% B.1%
Finance loans & finance |eases 10.054 10.2%
Securities purchased for resale 3.7% 5.1%
Deposits 1.8% 2.4%

Income from fees and other revenues totalled US $103 million,
compared to US $104 million in 2012. The 2012 fees and other revenues
included a gain of US $32 million (US $20.9 million after income tax is
deducted) on the recapture of a previously reinsured block of palicies.
The gain arose due to a difference in methods for valuation of the
insurance liabilities which were reinsured. Commission income on
insurance business in 2013 also increased by US § 26 million over the
prior year, largely reflecting commissions earned on the reinsurance of
new annuity business in the US.
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Benefits Health, property and casualty insurance benefits are recognised either
on the notification or settlement (for short notification periods) ofa
The table below summarises the expense incurred by the Group in claim from policyholders. In addition, incurred but not reported (IBNR)
providing benefits. benefits are recognised in accordance with established or expected
trends for claims incurred.
BENEFITS - $ millions 2013 2012
Total health insurance benefits were US $113 million, representing an
MNet insurance benefits: overall claims to premium ratio of 80%. The comparative 2012 amounts
= ) _ were LS $106 million, and an overall claims to premium ratio of 78%.
A e whply 93 il Property and casualty claims amounted to US 37 million in 2013, a
gl 173 106 reduction of US §1 million when compared to 2012.
Property and casualty 7 8 The interest returns the Group has provided to investment contract-
535 571 holders and financial institutions which have advanced funds are
i surnmarised in the following table.
Interest expense 58 68
INTEREST YIELDS 2013 2012
593 639
Investment contracts 5.3% 7.2%
Lnsuraqce_ber{&ﬁts comprise amounts payable to pullq.-'.hulders and RV S— — "
eneficiaries, in accordance with the contract terms of insurance &
policies issued or assumed by the Group. Interest payable to investment Customer deposits 1.694 3 80¢
contract-holders or financial institutions which have placed funds with
the Group are treated as interest benefits. Securities sold for repurchase 4.8% 3.4%
Current life insurance and annuity benefits are recognised on the Expenses and taxes
notification of death, disability or critical illness of an insured person;
on the maturity or surrender of a policy; on the declaration of a policy Expenses and taxes totalled US $366 million for 2013, compared to
bonus or dividend; or on an annuity payment date. Future life insurance  US $350 million for 2012
and annuity benefits are recognised in the financial statements on in-
force long-term insurance contracts based on reserving methodologies Administrative expenses totalled US $204 million in 2013 and
adopted by the Group in accordance with established Canadian accepted  US $191 million in 2012, Commissions represent compensation and
actuarial standards. benefits payable to insurance agents and brokers who generate new
and renewal premium revenue for the Group. Commissions totalled
Life and annuity benefits totalled US $415 million in 2013, of which US $100 million for 2013, and US $89 million for 2012,
LS $305 millien related to current benefits, and US $110 million related
to future benefits. The corresponding amounts for 2012 were a total
of US $457 million, of which US $278 millien was for current benefits
and US $179 million was in respect of future benefits. The reduction
in benefits occurred as a result of the decision to reinsure 90% of new
annuity business in the USA as stated previously. 2073 Annual Report
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EXPENSES & TAXES - $ millions 2013 2012
Administrative expenses 204 191
Commissions 100 ga
g::zr:;:aiulj{;sr:s, depreciation and 13 14
Premium, asset and income taxes 30 36

ie6 350

The Group is subject to a variety of direct taxes, with premium and
income taxes comprising the main types of tax. Taxes are incurred

in the jurisdiction in which the income is generated. Premium tax is
customarily a percentage of gross premium revenue, while income tax
is usually either a percentage of investment income or a percentage of
profits.

Comprehensive income

Gains and losses recorded within other comprehensive income arise
from fair value changes of certain classes of assets, and from the
retranslation of foreign currency operations.

For 2013, fair value changes in assets accounted for a net loss of

S $32 million, and the retranslation of foreign currency operations
accounted for a loss of US $36 million. The latter arose mainly from the
depreciation of the Jamaica dollar. The corresponding amounts for 2012
were a gain of US $3 million, arising from fair value changes in assets,
and a loss of US $18 million from the retranslation of foreign currency
aperations.

Met income and other comprehensive income together results in

total comprehensive income. Summarising the Group's results from
continuing operations, total comprehensive income was US $6& million
for 2013 compared to US $57 million for 2012,

CROUP FINANCIAL POSITION

Sagicor's operating activities of, issuing insurance contracts; accepting
funds from depositors; banking and securities dealing, result in the
Group receiving significant funds which are held as liabilities, and are
invested in a variety of assets.

The Group's sources of capital are equity contributions from
shareholders, retained earnings and reserves, and borrowings.

The table below summarises the consolidated financial position of
Sagicor at December 31, 2013 and 2012

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION -

$ millions )

Assets 5,208 5.549

Liabilities arising from operations 4,283 4.;5[}4

Borrowings 290 242

Equity 725 803
5298 5:549




Assets

Invested assets and cash balances at December 31 are summarised in
the following table.

INVESTMENTS & CASH - $ millions 20131 207127
Debt securities 3,702 3,124
Mortzage loans 258 264
Policy loans 134 125
Finance loans and finance leases 165 155
Securities purchased for re-zale 41 20
Deposits 161 136
Cash 226 184
Investment property and other items 382 369

4,559 4377
! continuing aperations

Debt securities are the largest class of invested assets, and represented
70% of total investments and cash as of December 31, 2013 (719 as of
December 31, 2012). These securities are appropriate instruments to
back long-term insurance liabilities because of their medium to long-
term duration, the regular interest payments received, and the relatively
low credit risk.

Debt instruments are issued primarily by Governments, state- sponsored
agencies and corporate entities. The Group acquires and holds these
instrurments, usually in the country where the funding arose. The Group
also invests in debt instruments of short duration as a way of earning
investment returns with minimal risk, and of providing opportunities for
investment contract-holders to earn safe returns.

Other invested assets are spread across various asset classes such as
mortgages, loans, deposits and property.

Liabilities arising from operations

The Group issues life insurance and annuity contracts either to
individuals or to employers, in respect of their employees. Insurance
liabilities are surmmarised in the following table.

INSURANCE LIABILITIES - § millions 20131 20121
Future benefits - individual contracts 1,907 1,657
Future benefits - group contracts 417 384
Current benefits and other payables 234 219

2,538 2,260
! continuing operations

Future benefits represents amounts recognised at the date of the
financial statements for liabilities not yet due. These liabilities may
become due in the near, medium or long-term, and are estimated using
established actuarial techniques.

Current benefits and other payables represent amounts which are
currently due and are in the course of settlement. These include benefits
in respect of all classes of insurance written - life, annuity, health,
property and casualty.

The Group's liabilities, which arise from issuing investment contracts,
accepting deposits and funding, are as follows:

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - § millions 2013 2012
Investment contracts is? 346
Securities sold for re-purchase 524 547
Customer deposits 237 207
Cther funding instruments and other items 344 294

1,472 1,438
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Investment contracts may be issued to pension funds to hold pension
plan assets or to individual customers to provide savings vehicles.
Securities sold for re-purchase provide specific security to depositors
who place funds with the Group for investment return. Deposits and
other funding provide monies to the Group to invest in loans and related
securities.

Cther liabilities include general provisions, accruals and payables which
arise in the ordinary course of business.

The discontinued operation (Sagicor at Lloyd's) was sold on

December 23, 2013. There is a liability of US $55 million related to
future price adjustments on the run-off of the 2011, 2012 and 2013
underwriting years of account. As of December 31, 2012, the Group held
US %637 million in liabilities classified as discontinued.

Capital

The Group has issued equity and debt instruments to provide capital for its
operations. The amounts recognised in the staternent of finandial position
in respect of these instruments are summarised in the next table.

EQUITY & BORROWINGS - § millions 2013 012
Common shareholders' equity 495 S6d
Preference shareholders' balances 117 17
Minority interest sharehalders' balances 219 226
7.5% senior notes due 2016 145 146

4. 6% notes due 2015 43
Participating accounts & other (4) (8}
1,015 1,045

| Classified as:

Equity 725 803
Borrowings 290 242
1,015 1,045

303,917,020 common shares of Sagicor Financial Corporation are
outstanding, and are tradable on the Barbados, Trinidad & Tobago and
London stock exchanges. 120 million convertible redeemable 5-year
6.5% preference shares were issued by the Company in 2011, and
these are also tradable on the Barbados and Trinidad & Tobago stock
exchanges. Common shares of certain subsidiaries are held by minority
interests, primarily in Jarmaica, where those shares are tradable on the
local stock exchange. In 2006, a subsidiary issued 150 million 10-year
7.5% notes payable. On December 18, 2013, the Company issued
18-months US $43 million in notes, which are repayable in 2015.

Participating accounts were established by a subsidiary to provide
additional policyholder protection on participating policies which pay
bonuses and dividends.

A measure of inancial stability is the debt (borrowings) to equity ratio
which, for the Sagicor Group, was 40.0% at December 31, 2013; 30.1%
at December 31, 2012

A measure used to determine the capital adequacy of a life insurance
group, which is the predominant activity within Sagicor, is the Canadian
Minimum Continuing Capital and Surplus Requirement (MCCSR).

The consolidated MCCSR ratio for the Sagicor Group was 259% as at
December 31, 2013, compared to 250%, as at December 31, 2012, both
of which are significantly in excess of the minimum recommended ratio
of 150%. These ratios include risk factors for the potential credit default
of debt instruments of Caribbean Covernments held by life insurance
subsidiaries.
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OPERATING SECMENTS

The Group's principal reporting operating segments, as defined by
International Financial Reporting Standards, are Sagicor Life, Sagicor
Jamaica, Sagicor Life USA, and Sagicor Europe. The Sagicor Europe
Segment was disposed on December 23, 2013, The performance of
these segments in 2013 is discussed below.

Sagicor Life Segment

The Sagicor Life segment consists of the life insurance subsidiaries,
which conduct business in Barbados, Trinidad and Tobago, the Eastern
and Dutch Caribbean islands, Belize, Bahamas and Panama. The main
activities of this segment are the provision of life insurance, annuities,
health insurance, pension investment and pension administration
services.

In 2013, this segment generated revenue of US $350 million. This was
an increase of US $10 million over the previous year. The main revenue
component was premium income, which totalled US $258 million.
Investment income tetalled US $71 million, while ether items totalled
US $21 million.

Benefits totalled US $195 million, reducing by US $£17 million

over the previous year's total. Current insurance benefits were

LS $171 million, while amounts recognised for future insurance benefits
were US $10 million. The latter amount represented a decrease of

US $32 million over 2012,

Total expenses and taxes in 2013 closed the year at US 3110 million, as
compared to US $108 in 2012.

| SAGICOR LIFE
INCOME - $ millions 2013 2012
Revenue 350 340
Benefits {195) (212)
Expenses and taxes (17109 (108)
Segment income 45 20

Segment income attributable to
shareholders

FINANCIAL POSITION - § millions

Assets 1,708 1,610
Liabilities (1,280) (1,229
Met assets 426 381

Met segment income for the year was US $45 million as compared

to US £20 million for the prior year. After accounting for the income
allocated to policyholders, the net income attributable to shareholders
for the segment totaled US § 40 million in 2013, compared to

LIS $33 million in 2012,

Financial investments comprise 70% of segment assets, and policy
liability comprise 91% of segment liabilities at the end of 2013.

Saglicor Jamaica Segment

This segment com prises subsidiaries in Jamaica and Cayman Islands.
The principal activities of the segment are the provision of life, critical
illness and health insurance, annuities, pension administration,

investment management, securities dealing and commercial banking.

This segment generated revenue of US $464 million in 2013, an
increase of US $16 million over 2012. The main revenue component
was premium income, which totalled US $293 million in 2013, an
increase of US $33 million over the prior year. lnvestrment income
totalled US $118 million, and includes a capital loss of US $12 million



(IS 36 million to shareholders) incurred as a participant in the Government
of Jarnaica National Debt Exchange Prograrmme in January 2013.

Benefits totalled LS $272 million, as compared to US $247 million in the
prior year, an increase of US $25 million.

Expenses and taxes incurred totalled US $127 million in 2013,
decreasing by US 36 million over the prior year. The decrease is
attributed mainly to taxes.

Sagicor Life USA Segment

This segment consists of the USA operations of Sagicor, which markets
life insurance and annuity products to individuals.

Segment revenue totalled US $185 million in 2013, declining by

LS %57 million from 2012, Premium revenue recorded in 2013 was

US %38 million, a reduction of US $60 million realised in 2012, The
reduction in revenue occurred as a result of a decision to reinsure
80% of new annuity business in the USA. New premium written in this
segment is predominately single-premium annuities and life contracts.
Investment income for 2013 totalled US 350 million, an increase of
LS %5 million over the US %45 millian recorded in 2012,

In 2013, other revenues included commissions earned on the
reinsurance of new annuity business in the US. Other revenues in
2012 included a one-time gain on the recapture of insurance liabilities
previously reinsured. The gain on the recapture was US $32 million,
which was subject to income tax at a 35% rate.

SACICOR JAMAICA

INCOME - $ millions 2013 2012
Revenue 464 448
Benefits (272} (247)
Expenses and taxes (127 (133)
Segment income 65 63
Segment income attributable to

sharehalders I* 36
FINANCIAL POSITION - $ millions 2013 2012
Assets 1,880 1,892
Liabilities [1,521) (1,514)
Met assets 159 | T8

Met segment income for the year was US $65 million, marginally below
the total of US $68 million recorded for 2012, As the Sagicor Jamaica
segment is owned 51% by the Group (59% up to July 2012), the resulting
net income attributable to sharehelders was US $32 million in 2013,

{US $36 million in 2012).

Financial investments comprised 90% of the segment’s assets at the end
of 2013, The liabilities of this segment were distributed 40% to policy
liabilities and 55% to deposit and security liabilities at the end of 2013,

SAGICOR LIFE USA

INCOME - $ millions 2013 2012
Revenue 185 236
Benefits {114) (170)
Expenses and taxes (63) (48)
Segment income g 18
Segment income attributable to

shareholders . w
FINANCIAL POSITION - § millions 2013 012
Aszets 1,484 1,218
Liabilities (1,296) (1,037}
MNetassets 188 1838
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Berefits totalled US $174 million in 2013, decreasing from US 3170 million
in 2012. The expense for future insurance benefits in 2013 totalled

LS $24 million, decreasing from US 384 million in 2012. This reduction is a
result of the reinsurance of 90% of new annuity business.

BErpenses and taxes totalled US 363 million in 20013, as compared to
LIS $48 million in 2012, Administrative and commissions expenses also
increased in 2013, commensurate with the growth in gross premium revenue.

Met income of the segment for 2013 was US 38 million, as compared to

the US $18 million recorded for 2012. As of December 31, 2013, financial
investments comprised 80% of the segment assets, and policy liabilities
comprised 81% of the segment liabilities.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

The discontinued operation comprises the Sagicor at Lloyd's business,
and consists primarily of property and casualty insurance business
written through Lloyd's of London Syndicate 1206. The Lloyd's of
London franchise enabled the syndicate to write international business
outside of the United Kingdom.

As stated in a foregoing section, the Group made a decision to

dispose of these operations. The disposal of this segment occurred on
December 23, 2013. In accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, the Sagicor Europe operating segment is defined as a
discontinued operation.

The terms of the sale included:

(i} Initial consideration of US $82 million paid to Sagicor;

(i} The cancellation of the Banker's letters of credit which formed part
of the financing of Sagicor Europe and the return to Sagicor of the
associated collateral of US $50 million;

(iii) future price adjustment to the sale consideration representing
adjusted syndicate profitin the run-off of the 2011, 2012 and 2013
underwriting years.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

INCOME - § millions

Revenue 266 323
Benefits (181) (201}
Expenses (118) (154)
Met operating loss (33) 32)
Write down of carrying value (21) (10}
Currency translation loss realised on sale (18)

Expenses of sale and other items 4]

Met loss (76) (42)
FINANCIAL POSITION - § millions 2013 2012
Assets 706
Liabilities (55) (631}
Met assets (55) 75

Sagicor Europe made a net operating loss of US $33 million in 2013,
compared to an operating loss of US $32 million in 2012. Sagicor Europe
was affected by a worsening of the claims experience on some lines
resulting in a strengthening of the claims reserves.

An estimate of the financial impact of the future purchase price
adjustments has been recorded and resulted in a write down in

the carrying value of this segment of US $21 million during 2013

(US $10 million during 2012) and to the establishment of a net liability of
USE 55 million due to the purchaser for future purchase price adjustments.
This liability will be adjusted in future years as settlements and refinements
are made ending in 2019, when the final settlement is anticipated.

In accordance with IFRS, the accumulated currency translation balances
in shareholders' equity reserves were reclassified to income on disposal
of Sagicor Europe. This resulted in a further loss of US 3 18 million being
recorded in income. This transfer from shareholder equity reserves to
retained earnings had no impact on the financial position of the Group.



LOOKING FORWARD

The year 2013 was yet another challenging one for the global economies
and for our company Sagicor. However, Sagicor's continuing operations
performed creditably despite the vulnerabilities of our regional
economies, thus reinforcing Sagicor's reputation of being financially
salid.

We will continue to develop our business and to enhance our operating
capability. In 2014, we introduced a review and process optimisation
project to our Group which aims to improve all of our processes so that
Sagicor can offer our customers a more efficient service and superior
financial solutions.

We are confident in our future and we will continue to refine our
strategies in our various markets to take advantage of opportunities
presented to us.

On January 29, 2014, Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited signed an
agreement to acquire all of the issued shares of RBC Royal Bank
(Jarnaica) Limited and RBTT Securities Jamaica Limited (collectively
“RBC Jamaica”) from Royal Bank of Canada. The acquisition is subject
to regulatory approvals. As of December 2013, RBC |amaica had total
assets of approximately US $509 million.
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STEPHEM MCHAMARA, 63, was appointed Naon-

Executive Chairman on January 1, 2010, having
formerly served as Vice-Chairman since June

2007. He has been an independent Director since
Decermnber 2002, and is a citizen of 5t Lucia and
Ireland. He is a British-trained Attorney-at-law, and
is the Senior Partner of McMNamara & Company,
Attorneys-at-Law of 5t Lucia. Mr McNamara was
elected to the Board of Sagicor Life Incin 1997, Heis
Chairman of the Group's main operating subsidiary,
Sagicor Life Inc, and also of Sagicor Capital Life,
Sagicor USA, and Sagicor Finance Inc. He serves as
a Director of a number of other subsidiaries within
the Group.

ANDREW ALEONG, 53, has been an independent
Director since June 2005, and is a citizen of Trinidad
and Tobago. He holds an MBA from the Richard lvey
School of Business, University of Western Ontario,
Canada. Mr Aleong is Group Managing Director

of the Albrosco Group of Companies, Trinidad and
Tabago, and has served the Trinidad and Tobago
manufacturing industry for over 25 years. He is

a former President of the Trinidad and Tobago
Manufacturers' Association. MrAleong also serves
as a Director of a number of private companies. He
was elected a Director of Sagicor Life Inc in 2005,
and is also a Director of Sagicor Capital Life and a

number of other subsidiaries within the Group.

PROFESSOR SIR HILARY BECKLES, K.A, 58, has

been an independent Director since June 2005, and
is a citizen of Barbados. Sir Hilary earned his PhD
from Hull University, United Kingdom, and received
an Honorary Doctorate of Letters from the same
University in 2003. He has served as the Head of
the History Department and Dean of the Faculty

of Humanities, University of the West Indies. In
1998, he was appointed ProVice-Chancellor for
Undergraduate Studies and, in 2002, the Principal
of Cave Hill Campus. Sir Hilary has published widely
on Caribbean economic histery, cricket history

and culture and higher education, and serves on
the Editorial Boards of several academic journals.
He has lectured in Africa, Asia, Europe and the
Americas. He was elected a Director of Sagicor Life
Inc in 2005, and is also a Director of Sagicor Life
|amaica and a number of other subsidiaries within
the Group. He is a member of the Secretary General
of the UN, Ban Ki Moon's Advisory Board on Science
and Sustainable Development; and Vice President
of the Commuonwealth Ministers Advisory Board on
Sport.



PETER CLARKE, 59, has been an independent
Director since |une 2010, and is a citizen of Trinidad
and Tobago. He obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree
from Yale University and a Law degree from Downing
College, Cambridge University. He was called ta the
Bar as a member of Grays Inn, London, in 1979 and
to the Bar of Trinidad and Tobaga in 1980. Mr Clarke
is a Financial Consultant, who formerly practised

as a Barrister-at-Law before embarking on a 22-year
career in stockbroking. From 1984 to 2000, he was
the Managing Director of Money Managers Limited,
and Chief Executive of West Indies Stockbrokers
Lirmited from 2001 until his retirement in 2005.

Mr Clarke is a Director of a number of companies
in Trinidad and Tebago, including the Trinidad and
Tobago Stock Exchange. He is also a member of
the University of the West Indies Development and
Endowment Fund, and the Finance Council of the
Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Port of Spain. From
2002 to 2005, he was a Director of the Trinidad

and Tobago Chamber of Industry and Commerce.
Mr Clarke also serves as a Director of Sagicor

Life Inc, Sagicor Life Jarmaica Limited, Sagicor
Investments |amaica Limited and Sagjcor Bank
Jamaica Limited.

DR JEANNINE COMMA, 63, has been an

independent Director since June 2007, and is Chairman
of the Hurman Resources Committee. She is a citizen
of Trinidad and Tobago. She holds a PhD from George
Washington University, Washington, DC, USA, and is
also a graduate of the University of the Virgin Islands.
Dr Comma is CEQ/Director of the Cave Hill School

of Business of The University of the West Indies,

Cave Hill campus. She specialises in organisational
developrment, strategy and leadership developrment.
She has made significant contributions to the
sustainable development of human capital within the
regional business community.

Dr Comma has extensive experience in Leadership
Development, Organisational Strategic Planning,
Transformation Management and Corporate
Gowvernance, She has also taught at the undergraduate
and graduate levels at George Washington University,
Howard University, Washington, DC, and the University
of the West Indies. She is a member of The American
Society for Training and Development and the
Commonwealth Assodation of Public Administration
and Management (CAPAM) and serves on the boards
of the Barbados Tourism Inc, The Mational Initiative for
Service Excellence and The Barbados Entrepreneurship
Foundation. Dr Comma was elected a Director of
Sagicor Life Inc in 2006, and is also a Director of
Sagicor Capital Life.

—_—— e e

|OYCE DEAR, 70, has been an independent Director
since August 2006, and is a citizen of Barbados. She
is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants of the United Kingdom, and holds an
MBA from the University of Warwick. She is also a
Member of the Hospitality Financial and Technology
Professionals. She was, until 2004, a Partner in the
Assurance and Business Advisory Services Division
of PricewaterhouseCoopers in Barbados.

Mrs Dear has over 31 years' experience in rendering
audit and financial services to a wide variety of
industries, including public companies, tourism
and hospitality entities, manufacturing companies,
statutory corporations and international funding
agencies [government-financed programmes and
projects. Mrs Dear was the PricewaterhouseCoopers
Industry Lead Partner for the public service
assignments, and is a past President of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Barbados. Sheisa
former Director of a general insurance company

in Barbados. Mrs Dear was elected a Director of
Sagicor Life Incin 2010, and is also a Director of
other subsidiaries within the Group, including Globe
Finance Inc, where she serves as Vice-Chair of the
Board.
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America. He holds an MBA with a concentration
in Finance from the London Business School,

London University, and a BA in Economics from the
University of Delhi. He is a Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants, London, England. Currently
a Consultant on Emerging Markets, Mr Duttis

a seasoned investment professional who, for

the 25 years preceding 2011, was employed with
International Finance Corporation (IFC), a member
of the World Bank Group.

While at IFC, he held various positions, the most
recent of which was Chief Credit Officer for Global
Financial Institutions & Private Equity Funds. He was
formerly the Head of IFC's Private Equity Advisary
Group, the Head of the Baltics, Central Europe,
Turkey and Balkans Group, Principal Irvestment
Officer for Asia, Senior Investment Officer for Central
& Eastern Europe, and an Investment Officer for
Africa, Latin America and Asia. Mr Dutt has extensive
experience evaluating investment proposals in
financial institutions and private equity funds zlobally,
structuring investrments, tracking global irvestment
portfolios, and providing quality control guidance to
private equity fund investments. Mr Dutt has also
represented IFC on boards of investee companies.

MARJORIE FYFFE-CAMPBELL, 62, is a Management
Consultant and has been an independent Director
since June 2005, and is a citizen of |amaica. She
holds an MScin Accounting from the University of
the West Indies, and is a Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Jamaica and a member

of the Hospitality, Financial and Technology
Professionals. She is a former President and

Chief Executive Officer of the Urban Development
Corporation, Jamaica, a large development
andproperty-owning company that manages several
entities such as hotels, attractions, a maintenance
company, a water supply company, a shopping
centre, a conference centre and a golf course.

Mrs Fyffe-Campbell is an Adjunct Lecturer in
Financial and Management Accounting and
Enterprise Risk Management Governance at the
Mona School of Business and Management of

the University of the West Indies, Mona, where

she is also pursuing a Doctorate in Business
Administration with emphasis on corporate
governance. She was elected a Director of Sagicor
Life Jarmaica in 2002, and is also a Director of other
subsidiaries within the Group.

RICHARD KELLMARN, 62, was elected as a Director

Operating Officer on November 1, 2009. He is a
citizen of Guyana and of the United Kingdom. He
holds a BSc in Statistics from University College,
Londen University and is a Fellow of the Institute
of Actuaries and an Assodiate of the Society of
Actuaries.

He has also attended training programmes at
Harvard Business School and has completed
other financial, investment and management
training courses, Mr Kellman is a financial services
professional with wide knowledge regionally in

the areas of finance, pensions, insurance and
investments.He has also held senior actuarial

and management positions and served on several

boards.



WILLIAM LUCIESWITH, 62, has been an
independent Director since June 2005, and is
acitizen of Trinidad and Tobage. He holds an
MA from Cuford University and is a Chartered
Accountant. He is a retired Senior Partner of

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Trinidad and Tobago,

where he headed the Corporate Finance and
Recoveries Divisions, specialising in all aspects of
business valuations, privatisation, mergers and
acquisitions and corporate taxation.

He was elected a Director of Sagicor Life Inc in 2005,
and is also a Director of Sagicor USA, and a number
of other subsidiaries within the Group.

DODRIDGE MILLER, 56, was appeinted Group
President and Chief Executive Officer in July 2002,
and has been a Director since December 2002, A
citizen of Barbados, Mr Miller is a Fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
[(ACCA), and obtained his MBA from the University
of Wales and Manchester Business School. He holds

an LLM in Corporate and Commercial Law from the
University of the West Indies and, in October 2008,

he was conferred with an Honaorary Doctor of Laws

degree by the University of the West Indies. He

has more than 30 years' experience in the banking,

insurance and finandial services industries.

Prior to his appointment as Group President

and Chief Executive Officer, he held the positions
of Treasurer and Vice President — Finance and
Irvestments, Deputy Chief Brecutive Officer and
Chief Operating Officer. Mr Miller joined the Group
in 1989. He is a Director of Sagicor Life Inc, Sagicor
LISA, Sagicor Life Jamaica, Sagicor lrvestments
Jamaica Limited (formerly Pan Caribbean Financial
Services) and a number of other subsidiaries within
the Group.

Director since June 2008, and is a citizen of

the United States of America. He received his
undergraduate degree from Washington & Lee
University, and holds an MBA from the Sellinger
School of Business at Loyola College, Maryland.

Mr Shettle is an Operating Partner of Stone Point
Capital, a private equity firm in the global financial
services industry. He has over 20 years' experience
in senior management positions in the property/
casualty, health and insurance-related services
industry.

More recently, he served as Senior Advisor to
Lightyear Capital, a private equity firm, and

President and Chief Executive Officer of the Victor

© Schinnerer Company. Prior to that, he was the
Chief Executive Officer of Tred Avon Capital Advisors,
Inc, a firm providing advisory services to companies
and private equity firms focused on the insurance
sector. He has held senior management positions at
Securitas Capital, Swiss Reinsurance Company and
Frederick, the Maryland-based AVEMCO Corporation
{NYSE). Mr Shettle is also a Director of Sagicor USA
and a number of subsidiaries within the Group.
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Directors’ Interests

Directors’ interests as at December 31, 2013 and as at the record date, May 2, 2014, are as follows:

Shares as at 31-Dec-13 Shares as at oz-May-14
Common Shares Preference Shares Common Shares Preference Shares
Beneficial Be::fri:ial Beneficial Berligl:'i:ia] Beneficial Be:lggéial Beneficial Be:ll:fr';ial
Stephen McMamara 23,993 0 0 ] 23,993 0 0 0
Andrew Aleong 533,158 55,000 0 533,358 v} 55,000 0
Professor Sir Hilary Beckles 9579 0 0 i} 9,579 0 0 0
Peter Clarke 10,000 0 50,000 0 10,000 0 50,000 o
Dr Jeannine Comma 11,523 0 5,000 1] 16,023 0 5,000 Q
Joyce Dear® 26,000 ] 100,000 0 26,000 0 100,000 0
Maonish Dutt 1,000 ] 8] 0 1,000 0 0 0
Marjorie Fyffe-Campbell 39,845 1] o 0 42,823 0 0 0
Richard Kellman 12,921 0 150,000 0 94,825 ] 150,000 0
William Lucie-Smith 90,000 0 200,000 0 90,000 ] 200,000 0
Dodridge Miller 1,097,704 0 15,000 0 1,281,358 ] 15,000 0
Jehn Shettle, |r 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 ] ] o
Richard Young** 29,266 0 10,000 0 29,266 ] 10,000 o
#*Ms Joyce Dear resigned as a director on January 15, 2014,
## Mr Richard P Young was appointed to the Board of Directors on January 23, 2014,
Restricted Stock Grants Stock Options
As at 1-Dec-1y As at 2-May-14 As at 31-Dec-13 As at 2-May-14
Vested | Unvested | Vested | Unvested | Vested | Exercised | Unvested | Vested | Exercised | Unvested
Richard Kellman 130,424 189,929 130,424 189,929 93,774 0 281,324 93,774 0 281,324
2013 Anriual Report Dodridge Miller 785140 | 872368 785140 872368 |[1,374358 0 [1,006138 (1,374 358 0 |1,006738




Corporate CGovernance Report
1 Board Composition and Structure

The maximum number of Directors permitted by the Restated Articles
of Incorporation of the Company is 12, and the minimum is 7. The
Board of Directors presently consists of 12 Members, 10 of whom are
independent Non-Executive Directors. The rermaining 2 are the Group
President and Chief Executive Officer, and the Group Chief Operating
Officer. Biographical information on the Directors and details of their
interests in the Company as at December 31, 2013, and as at the record
date, May 02, 2014, are set out earlier in this Report. Mon-Executive
Directors do not participate in performance-based incentive plans, and
their remuneration consists solely of cash. The Board Chairman and
Directors are paid fees, and Committee Chairmen and Members are paid
an additional fee for each Committee on which they serve. Executives
who are Directors are not paid fees. All fees have been approved by
Shareholders.

The Board of Directors considers that the quality, skills and experience
of Directors enhance the Board's effectiveness, and the collective Board
is required to have the core set of skills identified in the Board Core
Competency Matrix on the following page.
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Directors' Skills and Experience

Stephen McMamara

Andrew Aleong

Prof Sir Hilary Beckles

Dr Jeannine Comma

Peter Clarke

Joyce Dear®

Menish Dutt

Marjorie Fyffe-Cam pbell

Richard Kellman

William Lucie-Smith

Dodridge Miller

John Shettle, |r.

Richard Young**

Ceneral Management

International Business

FinancefAccounting

Corporate Finance, Mergers & Acquisitions

Strategic Marketing

Corporate Law

Banking

Asset Management

Insurance

Human Resource Management

Property Management and Development

Regulatory

Risk Management

Information Technology

Other: Education




In addition, individual Directors must also possess specific knowledge
and experience cornmensurate with the business requirements ofthe
Company, and are also expected to have a style of operation which
includes:

{a)  high personal standards consistent with the Company's Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics

(b)  commitment to business leadership

{c)  courage to express and defend a position

decisiveness and willingness to be held accountable

effective intervention and decision-making style

(f)  willingness to contribute to team synergy

(2]  mature and thoughtful perspective on business.

The Company is also mindful that the Board must reflect the business,
social, economic and cultural jurisdictions from which the Company
draws customer patronage, and that Directors must have sufficient
time available to devote to performance of their Board duties. Finally,
Directors are required to undergo annually a rigorous self assessment
of their independence, to ensure that they do not put themselves in
positions where their personal interests conflict, or may be perceived to
conflict, with the interests of the Company. All Directors have satisfied
the 2013 independent self assessment.

2  Rotation and Re-election of Directors

The Company's Bylaws provide that at least one-third, or the number
nearest thereto, of the Directors must retire every year, but a Director
shall not be required to retire unless he has been in office for three years.

Andrew Aleong, Professor Sir Hilary Beckles, John Shettle, |rand
Richard P Young will retire at the Eleventh Annual Meeting and,

all being qualified, have offered themselves for re-election. Profiles

of the nominees are contained in the Management Proxy Circular
accompanying the Notice of the Meeting. The Board recommends
that all the nominees be re-elected. In making this recormmendation,
the Board has been guided by the nomination process overseen by the
Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee, which requires a review
of the core competency requirements of the Board as a whole; the skills
and experience of each nominee; their independence as defined by
our Corporate Governance Policy; and their performance as Directors,

including their willingness and ability to devote the time necessary to
fulfil their role as Directors.

3 Board Responsibilities
3.1 Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is collectively responsible for providing
entrepreneurial leadership, guidance and oversight to the Company
within a framework of prudent and effective controls that enable risk to
be assessed and managed, with a view to maximising shareholder wealth
within the bounds of law and community standards of ethical behaviour.
The Board's six main responsibilities, which it executes through
decision-making and oversight, are strategic planning, enterprise

risk management, executive succession planning and performance
evaluation, Shareholder communications and public disclosures, internal
controls, and Corporate Governance.

The respective roles of the Chairman of the Board, the Board, Committee
Chairmen, Committees and Management are clearly defined. The Group
CED and the Executive Committee (ExCom) are responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Group. Their role is to formulate and
implement strategy, operational plans, policies, procedures and budgets,
monitor operating and financial performance, assess and control

risk, prioritise and allocate resources and monitor competitive and
environmental forces in each area of operation. The roles of functional
Group Executives who form part of ExCom, are also specifically defined.

3.2 Board Committees

The four Committees of the Board - Audit, Corporate Governance and
Ethics, Human Resources, and Investment and Risk - play an integral
role in the governance process, in that they assist the Board with the
proper discharge of its functions by providing an opportunity for more
in-depth discussions on areas not reserved specifically for the Board. The
mandates of all the Committees comply with best practice.

The mandate of the Audit Committee is to oversee the external audit
process, and manage all aspects of the relationship with the External
Auditors. The Committee is also required to review the annual audit
plan, interim and audited financial statements, and international 2013



financial reporting standards having a significant impact on the financial
statements. It also reviews actuarial reports and recommendations.

The Committee oversees the Internal Audit function, reviewing

Internal Audit's assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Croup's internal controls, compliance with legal, statutory, regulatory
and other requirements, and management of risk. The Committee's
compaosition meets the independence and skill requirements of the
Croup's Corporate Governance Policy and remained unchanged in 2013,
The majority of the Members are finandially literate, and in 2013 three
Members, William Lucie-Smith, Joyce Dear and Marjorie Fyffe-Campbel],
all Chartered Accountants, had recent and relevant accounting expertise.
Changes were made to the compaosition of the Committee subsequent
to year end. The current Members are William Lucie-Smith {appointed

a Member on August 24, 2005 and Chairman on June 28, 20086),
Marjorie Fyffe-Campbell {(appointed a Member on September 11, 2008),
Dr Jeannine Comma (appointed a Member on September 11, 2008),
Maonish Dutt (appointed a Member on March 21, 2014 and Peter Clarke
{appointed a Member on April 24, 2014). Member |oyce Dear resigned
from the Board on January 15, 2014 and Andrew Aleong ceased to be a
Member on April 24, 2014.

The role of the Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee is
principally to develop and recommend to the Board policies and
procedures to establish and maintain best practice standards of
Corporate Governance and Corporate Ethics. It also manages the
process for Director succession, Director performance, the operation of
the President, the composition of Board and Committees, Shareholder
communications, and corporate image. The Committee's com position
meets the independence requirements of the Group's Corporate
Covernance Policy and remained unchanged in 2013. A change was
made to the composition of the Committee subsequent to year end.
The current Members are Stephen McMamara (appointed a Member
on March 9, 2004 and Chairman on February 17, 2010), Professor

Sir Hilary Beckles (appointed a Member on March 18, 2009), Marjorie
Fyffe-Campbell (appointed a Member on March 18, 2009), John Shettle,
Jr (appointed a Member on August 18, 2010) and Richard P. Young
(appointed a Member on April 24, 2014).

The mandate of the Human Resources Committee is to advise the Board
with respect to compensation policies, programs and plans, human
resources policies and practices to attain the Compary's strategic goals,

executive management recruitment, succession plans, performance
evaluation and compensation. The Committee's composition meets

the independence requirements of the Group's Corporate Governance
Policy. The current Members are Dr Jeannine Comma (appointed a
Mermber on September 18, 2007, and Chairman on August 24, 2011),
Stephen McMamara (appointed a Member on August 18, 2010), Andrew
Aleong (appointed a Member on March 23, 2012) and Monish Dutt
(appointed a Member on March 21, 2014).

The Investment and Risk Committee is charged with ensuring generally
that the Group manages risk within its defined philosophy and appetite,
and in compliance with policy risk parameters. Its specific mandate is
to ensure that an appropriate enterprise risk management framework
is implemented throughout the Group, approve risk policies and risk
undertakings and exposures reserved for Board decision. It continually
monitors exposures relating to certain risks. Committee Members are
required to understand the enterprise's significant inherent risks and
the policies and controls used by Management to assess, manage

and report these risks. The Committee regularly reviews the Group
risk profile, and assesses Management's plans for ensuring financial
stability and capital soundness. The Committee's composition

meets the independence requirements of the Group's Corporate
Governance Policy and remained unchanged in 2013. Changes were
made to the composition of the Committee subsequent to year end.
The current Members are Stephen McMamara (appointed a Member
on Movember 26, 2003 and Chairman on February 17, 2010}, Andrew
Aleong (appointed a Member on March 18, 2009), Peter Clarke
(appointed a Member on August 18, 2010), John Shettle |r (appointed
a Member on March 18, 2009) and Richard P. Young (appointed a
Member on March 21, 2014).

4  Board Evaluation

In 2013, the Board undertook its annual performance evaluation

to assess the effectiveness of the Board's performance as a whole.
The evaluation took the form of a self-assessment and peer review
guestionnaire, and an evaluation of the Corporate Governance system
as a whole. Findings continue to reveal ongoing opportunities for the
enhancement of our Corporate Governance practices. The Corporate
Governance and Ethics Committee continued to manage Director
independence and potential conflicts of interest, and the Committee



concluded that Directors continued to meet the independence
requirements under our Corporate Governance Poligy.

5  On-going Director Education

Duwring the year, on-going Director education focussed on the Trinidad
and Tobago Insurance Bill and Board Room Dynamics. The Board is
committed to continuing these sessions to ensure Director effectiveness
by enhancing Director knowledge.

6  Board Operations

Duwring 2013, Management engaged the Board of Directors (BOD) 10
times, either in formal meetings or by requests for round-robin decisions
in between meetings. The Audit Committes (AC) met 5 times; the
Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee (CGC) met 4 times; the
Human Resources Committee (HRC) met 5 times; and the Investrment
and Risk Committes {IRC) met 3 times. Directors' record of attendance
was as follows:

BOD AC CGC HRC IRC Total %
Stephen McNamara 10of10 4 of 4 5of5 Jofd 22 of 22 100
Andrew Aleong 10of10 5of5 5of5 Jofd 230f23 100
Prof Sir Hilary Beckles 5of 10 4 of 4 12 of 14 86
Peter Clarke Bof10 3of 3 1 ofl13 85
D Jeannine Comma 10of10 4af§ 5of5 19 of 20 95
Joyce Dear 100f10 5of5 15 0f 15 100
Monish Dutt 10f10 10 of 10 100
Marjorie Fyffe- Campbell 100f10 5of5 4 of 4 19 of 19 100
Richard Kellman 10af10 10f 10 100
William Lucie-Smith 9 of 10 5of5 14 of 15 93
Dodridge Miller 100f10 10 0f 10 100
John Shettle, |r 7of 10 4of 4 2of3 13 0f17 76
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The Board manages an annual schedule of critical agenda items
designed to ensure that it fulfils its recurring obligations, and that Board-
reserved items are routinely considered. The principal business at Board
meetings in 2013 was to:

« consider and approve the Group strategic plan, capital plan and
projections for the period 2014 to 2016;

« review periodically the Group capital and liquidity plan, strategic and
business development initiatives forming part of the Strategic Plan,
and other key initiatives;

« receive and consider periodic reports and presentations from
Management on the performance of various subsidiaries within the
Croup and the Group on a consolidated basis;

« review and approve unaudited interim and audited annual
conseolidated financial statements;

« approve interim and final dividends;

« review and approve actuarial reports of the Appointed Actuary; and

« receive reports on work being carried out by Board Committees, and
consider and approve their recommendations as required.

7 Committee Operations

Audit Committee Report:
The 2013 activities of the Audit Committee included:

« reviewing and approving the external audit plan and timetable;

« evaluating the performance of the External Auditors for Group
entities and approving their audit fees;

« reviewing the External Auditors’ 2012 Management Letter and
Report on the 2012 audit;

« approving the 2013 Audit Engagement Letter;

« reviewing and recommending for approval, by the Board, interim
and annual audited financial statements;

« making dividend recommendations to the Board;

« reviewing actuarial reports of the Appointed Actuary;

« reviewing reports of the External Auditors on key audit issues;

« reviewing the financial performance of the Group and key
subsidiaries;

« examining the implications of changes to International Financial
Reporting Standards;

« approving the 2013 Internal Audit Plan, reviewing Internal Audit
reports and monitoring Management action on open Internal Audit
items;

« reviewing compliance with various financial covenants;

« reviewing reports on pending material litigation and claims and
pending regulatory issues;

« reviewing regulatory compliance and other compliance reports;

« assessing the adequacy of the Committee's mandate and evaluating
its effectiveness in fulfilling the same.

Audit Tender Process:

During the year, the Audit Committee conducted a review of the external
audit process, to evaluate its overall effectiveness and efficiency. An
Audit Tender Process was developed and an Audit Tender Committee
consisting of senior management was established and tasked with

the responsibility for managing the tender process. The Audit Tender
Process included the following procedures:

» Development of an appropriate request for propaosal establishing the
tender process and timelines with prospective audit firms.

« Determination of appropriate evaluation criteria.

» The submission of written proposals by audit firms.

« Oral presentations by audit firms to the Audit Committee and the
Audit Tender Committee.

The evaluation process considered the audit firms' qualifications, service
teams, audit approach and quality control, independence and fees. At
the conclusion of the process the Audit Committee recommended that
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the incumbent auditors, be reappointed for the
year ending December 31, 2014.

Corporate Covernance and Ethics Committee Report:
The Committee's principal business during 2013 included:

« reviewing Board and Director core competencies, and identifying
gaps to inform the nomination process;

« overseeing Director nominations, Board Committee, subsidiary and
outside Board appointments;

« overseeing the management of independence requirements and
conflicts of interest;



+ reviewing the adequacy of Director and Officer liability insurance
cover;

+ overseeing the Director self and peer performance evaluation
process;

+ monitoring Director attendance;

« reviewing investor relations plans and programmes;

+ conducting its annual review of the adequacy of the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics;

« generally monitoring the operation of Corporate Governance
policies and practices; and

+ assessing the adequacy of the Committee's mandate, and evaluating
itz effectiveness in fulfilling the same.

Human Resources Committee Report:
During 2013, the Human Resources Committee:

+ reviewed executive performance, compensation and terms of
engagement;

+ monitored succession planning and leadership and development
plans at the executive level;

+ granted awards to qualified participants under the annual cash
incentive, Long-Term Incentive plan (LTI} and Employee Share
Ownership Plan (ESCOP) based on performance against established
benchmarks;

+ reviewed aspects of the rules of the Company's annual LTI
plans; reviewed ESOP financial staterments;

+ reviewed plans for corporate re-structuring and reorganisation; and

+ assessed the adequacy of the Committee's mandate, and evaluated
itz effectiveness in fulfilling the same.

Investment and Risk Committee Report:
In 2013, the Investment and Risk Committee's work included monitoring
key risks to which the Group is exposed, including:

« reviewing in detail interest rate, credit, liquidity and foreign exchange
risk dashboards for the Company as a whole, and for its major
subsidiaries;

+ monitoring of risk exposures and reviewing mitigation strategies
designed to manage risk, and generally overseeing the enterprise
risk management process;

+ reviewing investment performance as required; and

+ assessment of the adequacy of the Committee's mandate, and an
evaluation of its effectiveness in fulfilling the same.

8  Enterprise Risk Management

The Group's enterprise risk management framework comprises
articulation of risk philosophy and appetite, risk structures and
processes, risk policies, and a regime of monitoring risk exposures, both
at the enterprise and subsidiary levels. The Group's activities of issuing
insurance contracts, accepting funds from depositors, and investing
insurance premium and deposit receipts in a variety of financial and
other assets, expose the Group to various insurance, financial and
operational risks. Insurance risks include pricing, claims and lapse
risks. Financial risks include credit, liquidity, interest rate and market
risks. Operational risks include fraud, damage to physical assets,
improper business practices, improper employment practices, business
interruption and system failures, and execution and process errors.
Exposure and sensitivity to financial and insurance risks are disclosed

in Motes 41 and 42 respectively to the 2013 audited financial staterments
contained in this Annual Report.

g Internal Audit

The mission of Group Internal Audit is to provide independent,
objective assurance and consulting services designed to add value and
improve the organisation's operations by utilising an appropriate risk-
based audit methodology across the Group. It helps the organisation
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach
to the evaluation and improvement of risk management, control

and governance processes. The scope of work of Internal Audit is to
determine whether the organisation's network of risk management,
controls and governance processes, as designed and represented by
Management, is adequate and functioning in a manner to ensure,
among other things, that risks are appropriately identified and
managed, and that employees' actions are in compliance with policies,
standards, procedures, applicable laws and regulations. The work of
Internal Audit also seeks to give assurance that resources are acquired
economically, used efficiently, and adequately protected, and that quality
and continuous improvement are fostered in the organisation's control
process, and significant legislative or regulatory issues impacting the
organisation are recognised and addressed appropriately. 207



10 Compliance

Sagicor continues to strengthen and streamline its compliance function
in response to the increasing complexity of regulatory and other risks,
with the Audit Committee continuing to exercise oversight of all aspects
of compliance.

The Group Compliance Committee's mandate is to ensure that
compliance is managed on a formal and proactive basis, as opposed

to an ad hoc and reactive basis; is governed by appropriate policy,

and is implemented and administered in accordance with policy. The
Committee is also charged with ensuring that risk management practices
are developed, implemented and administered for identifying, assessing,
managing, reporting and monitoring compliance risk, and with lending
value-added support for the administration of, and compliance with,
Sagicor's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. The Committee, whose
membership includes the Group Chief Compliance Officer as Chair, and
the Chief Compliance Officer of each major operating subsidiary, the
Group Chief Risk Officer and Group General Counsel, continued to be
active in 2013,

11 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Sagicor's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (which codifies our
corporate value system embracing legal, moral and ethical conduct,
accountability, corporate social responsibility and leadership) requires
Directors, Management, Staff and Advisors to acknowledge, on

an annual basis, that they have read the Code, and whether or not
they are in compliance. Mechanisms through which code violations
can be reported and channelled to the appropriate parties operated
satisfactorily, including widely available anonymous whistle-blowing
facilities. These enabled Management to take timely corrective action.
The Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee carried out its annual
review of the Code to ensure its adequacy.

12 Investor Relations and Communications

During 2013, the Company continued to execute its investor relations
communications prograrmme with quarterly briefings to the Media,
Analysts and Brokers. The Company continues to ensure that price-
sensitive information is released across markets at the same time, and

to manage its Insider Trading Policy as an integral part of the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics. The annual Shareholders’ briefing was
held in Trinidad, where the majority of Shareholders reside, for the
benefit of Shareholders who are unable to travel to Barbadas for the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

The Company continues to review its corporate governance policies

and practices on an annual basis to evaluate their consistency

with international best practices and the corporate governance
recomrmendations published by the stock exchanges on which it is listed.

By Order of the Board of Directors.

B,

Althea C Hazzard
Corporate Secretary

May 23, 2014
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

DODRIDGE D. MILLER
FCCA, MBA, LLM, LLD (Hon)
Group President and Chief Executive Officer

Dodridge Miller was appointed Group President and Chief Executive Officer in July 2002, and has been a Director since
December 2002, A citizen of Barbados, Mr Miller is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA),
and obtained his MBA from the University of Wales and Manchester Business School. He holds an LLM in Corporate

and Commercial Law from the University of the West Indies and, in October 2008, he was conferred with an Honorary Doctor of Laws degree by
the University of the West Indies. He has more than 30 years' experience in the banking, insurance and financial services industries. Prior to his
appointment as Group President and Chief Executive Officer, he held the positions of Treasurer and Vice President — Finance and Investments,
Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer. Mr Miller joined the Group in 1989, He is a Director of Sagicor Life Inc, Sagicor USA,
Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited, Sagicor Investments |amaica Limited and a number of other subsidiaries within the Group.

RICHARD M. KELLMAN
BSc, FIA, ASA
Group Chief Operating Officer

Richard Kellman was elected as a Director in june 2008, and was appointed Group Chief Operating Officer on

Movember 1, 2009. He is a citizen of Guyana and of the United Kingdom. He holds a BSc in Statistics from University
College, London University, is a Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries and an Associate of the Society of Actuaries. He has also
attended training programmes at Harvard Business School and has completed other financial, investment and management
training courses. Mr Kellman is a financial services professional with wide knowledge regionally in the areas of finance, pensions, insurance and
investments. He has also held senior actuarial and management positions, and served on several boards.

- RONALD B. BLITSTEIN

BA, MBA

"._ gh‘ Group Chief Information Officer
' L Ronald Blitstein joined Sagicor Financial Corporation in September 2013, He holds a BA in Political Science and a MBA

= " in Finance from Syracuse University. He has attended various training programmes at Harvard Business Scheol and

it .é:fl Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Mr Blitstein is an IT professional with broad and deep knowledge in all areas of

information technology and its application to driving improved business outcomes. He has previously served as Director,

Business Technology and Strategies Practice for the global advisory firm, Cutter Consortium, supporting Fortune 500 clients, as well as national

governments and various United Mations agencies. Mr Blitstein has also held €10 or other key executive leadership positions at Revlon, Pitney

Bowes, BOC Group, and Xerox Corporation. He has served as a Six Sigma Champion for firms pursuing enterprise operational excellence.




DICLLIADM DVI CC
RICHARD BYLES

BSc, M5Sc
President and Chief Executive Officer, Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited

Richard Byles was appointed President and CEOQ of Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited, a member of the Sagicor Group, in March
2004. He is Chairman of the Board of Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited, Sagicor Property Services Limited, Sagicor
Reinsurance Limited (Cayman), Sagicor Insurance Managers {Cayman) and Desnoes and Geddes. He also serves on the
boards of several subsidiary and associated companies and is a Director of Pan-Jamaican Investrment Trust Ltd. Mr Byles is the Co-chair of the
Economic Programme Oversight Committeee (EPOC), a private/public sector committee established to oversee the Implementation of the IMF
programme in Jamaica. He has earned valuable experience within the financial sector, spanning the areas of Life, Health and General Insurance,
Asset and Investment Management, Banking, Pension Administration, Property Development and Reinsurance Management. Mr Byles holds a BSc
in Economics from the University of the West Indies and an MSc in National Development from the University of Bradford, England.

BART F CATMULL
BSc, CPA
President and Chief Operating Officer, Sagicor USA, Inc.

, Bart Catrnull was appointed President and Chief Operating Officer in April 2013, A citizen of the United States of America,
" o WMr Catrmull is a Certified Public Accountant {CPA), and obtained his Bachelors of Science degree in Accounting from
i Brigham Young University in 1992, He has more than 20 years' experience in the insurance industry. Prior to his appointment
as President, he held the positions of Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Chief Accounting Officer.

Mr Catmull joined the Group in 2005 when the predecessor of Sagicor Life Insurance Company (the U.5. operating company) was acquired by the
Group. He has been with the Company since 1999,
ANTHONY CHANDLER
CGA, MBA
Group Chief Financial Controller

Anthony Chandler was appointed Group Chief Financial Controller on July 1, 2013, Prior to this, he served as Executive Vice
‘ President and Chief Financial Officer of Sagicor Life Inc from 2017, He joined Sagicor in 1995 as Financial Accountant and

E'N was transferred to the Group subsidiary, Island Life Insurance Company Ltd, in 2000. In 2003 he joined the management of
Life of Jamaica as Head ofits Internal Audit function, before returning to Barbados in the position of Vice President, Finance,
of Sagicor Life Inc later in the same year. In 2006, he was promoted to Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr Chandler is a member of the
Certified General Accountants Association of Canada, and holds an MBA from the University of Manchester.
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DR. M. PATRICIA DOWNES-GRANT
BA, MA MBA, DBA
President and Chief Executive Officer, Sagicor Life Inc

Dr Patricia Downes-Grant was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of Sagicor Life Inc on January 1, 2006, having
served as Group Chief Operating Officer since July 1, 2002. She joined Sagicor in 1997, and held several senior positions,
including those of Vice President, (Investments), and Treasurer and Executive Vice President (Finance and Investments)
before being appointed Chief Executive Officer. She holds an MBA in Finance, an MA in Economics, and a Doctorate in Business Administration
Finance. Prior to joining Sagicor, Dr Downes-Grant was a Senior Manager in the Management Consulting and Insolvency Division of Coopers &
Lybrand {now PricewaterhouseCoopers). Dr Downes-Grant has also had significant work experience in Development Banking. She is a former
Chairman of the Barbados Stock Exchange and Barbados Central Securities Depository, and a Director of several companies within the Sagicor
Group and within the private sector of Barbados

I RIS DY “R1 1 AFLICD
J. ANDREW GALLAGHER

F5A, FCIA, CERA
Chief Risk Officer

Andrew Gallagher was appointed to the position of Chief Risk Officer for the Group in 2007. He joined Sagicor in August
1987, and previously held the position of Resident Actuary. He holds a Bachelor of Mathematics degree from the University
of Waterloo, is both a Fellow of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries and a Fellow of the Society of Actuaries, and is a
Chartered Enterprise Risk Analyst. Prior to joining Sagicor, Mr Gallagher worked with Eckler Partners in Toronto in their financial institutions practice.
He has over 25 years of experience in the industry.

MAXINE MACLURE
BSc, MEd, MBA
Executive Vice President, Corporate Services and Chief Compliance Officer

Maxine MacLure was appointed Executive Vice President, Corporate Services, Sagicor Financial Corporation in February
2007. Prior to this, she served as President and CEQ, Sagicor USA, from March 2004, Ms MaclLure joined Sagicor in
December 2001 as President and CEO of Life of |Jamaica (LO|). Before joining Sagicor, Ms MaclLure was General Manager
of Insurance for FINSAC in Jamaica, where she ran a Z-year insurance reform project sponsored by the Inter-American
Development Bank and the Jamaican Government. She also spent 7 years as a senior Financial Sector Regulator in Canada, and 11 years in banking
in Canada and the UK. Ms Maclure has an MBA from the Richard lvey School of Business at the University of Western Ontario, Canada, a Masters
degree in Education from Western Washington University in the United States, and a BSc from the University of Manitoba, Canada, with a major in
Mathematics.
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SANDRA OSBORNE™*
SCM, QC, BSc, LLE, FCIS
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Sandra Osborne was appointed General Counsel and Secretary for the Sagicor Group in April 1989, An Attorney-at-Law
and Chartered Secretary, Ms Osborne has 30 years' experience in the legal field, having previously practiced as a Crown
Counsel and at the private Bar in civil practice in Barbados. For the last 20 years, her focus has been in the corporate area,
aatl " both as Corporate Counsel and Corporate Secretary. She has also contributed to legislative reform in Barbados in the area
of securities. Ms Osborne holds a BSc (Hons) in Political Sdence and an LLB (Hons), both from the University of the West Indies, and a Certificate
in Legal Education from the Hugh Wooding Law School, Council of Legal Education, Trinidad. She is also a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in Canada and has completed an Executive Development Programme at Kellogg Graduate School of Management,
Morthwestern University, United States. She was appointed a Queen's Counsel of Barbados in 2007,

RAVI RAMBARRAN
BSc, MSc, FIA
President and Chief Executive Officer, Sagicor International

Ravi Rambarran has 25 years of experience, both regionally and internationally, in the pension, insurance and asset
managernent industries. He was awarded an Open Mathematics Scholarship by the Government of Trinidad and Tobago,
has a BSc (Hons) in Actuarial Science from City University, London, an MSc in Finance from the University of London and is
a Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries. He is a member of the Executive of the Caribbean Actuarial Association and represents
the Caribbean on the International Actuarial Association Insurance Committee.

MELBA SMITH*
BA
Vice President, Corporate Communications

Melba Smith was appointed Vice President, Corporate Communications, for the Sagicor Group in January 2002, Prior to
joining Sagicor, she was the General Manager of the Caribbean Broadcasting Corporation. During her 7-year tenure there,
she managed television, radio and cable services. She was also a Board member of the Caribbean Broadcasting Union and
became that Institution's first female President in 2000. She was elected Caribbean Representative on the Board of the
Commonwealth Broadcasters Association. Mrs Smith, a graduate of the University of the West Indies, holds a BA (Hons), and a Post-Graduate
diploma in Mass Communications; and is a member of the International Association of Business Communicators. Over the last 25 years, Mrs Smith
has worked in all areas of Mass Communication and, in addition, has gained valuable experience and expertise in the areas of Communication,
Public Relations and Management.

" Ms Osborme and Mrs Smith retired on December 31, 2013.
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Sagicor AUDITORS’ REPORT

Financial
Corporation
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INDEPEXDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT Opinlon
T the Shmreholders of In our opindon, the consolidined andial Mmements pront fidy, in all maserial respects, the
Sagicor Financial Corporation Timancial pesition of Sagicor Finastial Corperation and its subsidisrics as of December 31, 2013,

and their financal posformance and cath flows for the year thea ended In scoordance with
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ACTUARY’S REPORT Sagicor

Financial
Corporation

Eckler A
Saglcor
SAGICOR FINANCIAL CORPORATION
APPOINTED ACTUARY'S

2013 REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND
POLICYHOLDERS

| P parformad of reviowed the valuation of the coniplidated palicy Rakbiities of Sagleer Finandial
Corporation {"Saglear) which inglisdes the palicy habiltian of itg il insurance subaidiaries:

Sapgicor Life inc. {Barbados),

Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited (Jamalca) °,

Sageor Capital Life Incurancs Covrgaany Livetad (Barbadad),
Capital Life Insurande Company' Bahannas Lirited (Bahamas),
Sagioor Life Aruba WY (Arubaj,

Sapicor Panamé SA (Panarmal,

Hatiorwide Insurarce Compary Limited (Trinidad & Tobago),
Sagicor Life of the Cayman Islands Limited (Cayman [stands) *, and
Cagioor Life Insurance Compeny [LISA) °,

for the Balance sheet, st 30t Decerniser 2012, and their change in the consclidated statement of
aperatiors, 1or the wear then ended, Tor each organization and on & cordolidated Dash in accondanos
with scoepted actuarial practice, includng selection of aooropristes assumptions and rmethods,

The waluatan of Sagicor and its Life Insusance Subsidiaries was conducted by mveell or other actuaries
Cinchicared by a **= abovel, using either the Poboy Prémium Method (PEM) or Che Cansdian Asset
Liability Method {TCALMT whers spgropriste, sssurming best-saimate sssemplions togpether with
margire for adverss devistions in sccordance with the Standards of Practice (Life) of the Canadien
Iretitute of Actuaries. For those where other achusrsss completed the valustion. | have reviewsd and
accaptad their valuation and have relied on thelr work inondar o issue this cortificatae.

In my opinion the amount of pdicy Raksfites mokes appropriate orgeision Por &l poldyhobder
abigations and the financial statérmnents fairly represent the results of th valuation.

Sylusin Goulat, FLIA, FRA, MAAR

Affiiate Member of the mstbube and Faculty of Actuares
Hornber of the Carbboan Actuarisl Ascoclation
Appoanted Actuary for Sagicor Finencial Corporation

25 March 204

Pepal BaAG-AL_EFRI-Corkd0l3 BYiE Bagicoi Financlal Conponatian - Sotilcste
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION Sagicor Financial Corporation

As of December 31, 2013 Amounts expressed in US Sooo
Note 2013 2012 restated hote 2013 2012 restated
ASSETS LIABILITIES
Invesiment property 5 98 360 115,224 Actuarial liabélties 13 2,324 319 2,040,907
Property, plant and equipment 7 151,539 145,818 Other Insurancs ligbilities 14 184,434 187,199
Associates and joint ventures B 44 202 42,433 Investment contract fiabilities 15 367,001 346,196
Intangible assets a 71,893 79,612 Total policy labllites 2,885,754 2574 302
Financial investments 9 4,191,766 4041326 Motes and loans payable 16 290,160 241,556
Reinsurance assels i0 336427 102 686 Deposit and security liabilities 17 1,106,083 1,092 429
Income tax assels 1 29,035 33,073 Provisions 18 75,083 58 621
Miscellaneous assels and receivables 12 148,151 99,157 Income tax liabfities 19 29,225 33613
Cash resources 226,370 183,984 Accounts payable and accrued Rabilities 20 131,237 114,425
Assets of discontinued cperation 38 - 705,732 Liabilities of discontinued operation 38 55,024 630,977
Total assets 5,297,752 5,549,057 Total liabilities 4,572,566 4745923
These financial statements have besen approved for issue by the Board of Direciors an March 28, EQUITY
e Share capital 21 295,450 296,058
Reserves 22 (4,825) 16,411
Retained earnings 291,472 274,565
/.// Total shareholders’ equity 512,007 SBT,034
f/% A= b ; r\ﬂp« Participating accounts 2 (5,662) (10,333)
Director Director Mirrorily interest in subsidiaries 218,751 226,433
Total equity 725,188 BOZ, 134
Total liabilities and equity 5,297,752 5,549,057
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME Sagicor Financial Corporation

Year ended December 31, 2013 Amounts expressed in US Sooo

Nate 2013 2012 restated Note 2013 2012 restated
REVEMNUE Met income from continuing operations 79,628 75,320
Premium revenus 24 1,016,538 7,223 Met loss from discontinued operation 38 {75,508) (42,034}
Reinsurance premium expense 24 (359,510 (82,220) NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 4120 33,286
Net premium revenus 65T (28 565,003
Met investment income 25 279,350 295,026 Met incomel{loss) is attributable to:
Fees and other revenue 26 103,105 104,253 Common shareholders:
Total revenue 1,039,483 1,064 282 From continuing operations 39,138 53101

From disconlinued operation (75,508) (42,034)
BENEFITS (36,370) 11,067
Policy benefits and change in actuarial liabilites 27 797,743 598,758 Participating policyholders 5,005 (12,525)
Policy benefitz and change in actuarial liabifities reinsured 27 (262 564) (28,840) Minioiily inlerests 35,485 34,744
Net policy benefits and change in actuarial liabilibes 535,179 570,918 4120 33,286
Interest expense 28 57,611 68,465
Total benefits 532,790 638,383 Basic earnings /({loss) per commen share: 34
From continuing operations 125 cenls 17.1 cenls

EXPENSES From discontinued operation {25.1) cents {13.9) cents
Administrative expenses 203,959 190,749 {12.8) cents 3.2 cenls
Commissions and related compensation 29,821 B8 626
Premium and asset Laxes 11,983 11,956 Fully diluted earnings /{loss) per common share: 34
Finance costs 17,143 17,897 From continuing operations 12.2 cents 16.2 cents
Deprociation and amortisation 15,230 15,901 From discontinued operation (24.8) cents {13.1) cents
Total expensas 348,141 325129 {12.8) cents 3.1 cents
INCOME BEFORE TAXES 98,502 98,770
Income taxes 32 (18,924) (24,450)
NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 79,628 75,320
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Sagicor Financial Corporation

Year ended December 31, 2013 Amounts expressed in US Sooo
OTHER COMPREHEMNSIVE INCOME Mate 2013 2012 restated TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 013 2012 restated
Items net of tax that may be reclassified subsequently
& Mt ¥ Net income 4120 33,286
Available for sale assels: Other comprahensive (loss) (54,597) (23,783

(Losses) [ Gains on revaluation 47 442) 38,023 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) / INCOME FOR THE (50477) 9.503
YEAR ; '
(Gains) transferred to income {14,768) (13,128)
Net change in actuarial iabifties 30,445 {22,278
Total comprehensive (loss) / income is attributable to:
Retranslation of foreign currency operations {36,841) (18402 = foss}
h :
Other llams . (1) Common shareholders
From continuing cperations 515) 39,902
|68,207) (15,804)
Fram disconfinued operation (56,236) (41,890)
lterns net of tax that will not be reclassified a5 (56,751) [1,988)
N Pariicipating poicynolders 4913 (12,286)
Gains | (losses) on revaluation of owner-cccupied property 3813 {156) Moty iainats 1361 28977
Losses) on defined benefil plans 9475 T 967 - ‘
( :I P I: :I { ) (50,4??} 9503
(5,662 {6,123)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) | INCOME FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (73,868} vl 22T
Otiver comprehensive income from discaniineed opearatian 368 18,272 144
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR {54,597 (23,783)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Sagicor Financial Corporation

Year ended December 31, 2013 Amounts expressed in US Sooo
Share Capital Reserves Retained SM;:::’W Tufr:;" Minority Total
{note 21) {note 22) Eamings Equity (note 23] Interests Equity
2013
Balance, beginning of year as restated (note 48) 296,058 16,411 274 565 587,034 (10,333) 296,433 803,134
Total comprehensive income from continuing operations - {36,413) 35,808 (515) 4813 1.361 5,759
Total comprehensive income from discontinued operation - 18,272 [75,508) (56,236) - - (56,236)
Transactions with holders of equity Instruments:
Movements n treasury shares (608) z : (608) : : (608)
Changes in reserve for equity compensation benefits - 2123 - 2123 - 25 2,178
Dividends declared (note 21.3} - = [18,835) (19,835} - (9,182) (28,017}
Transfers and other movements - (6,218) 6,352 134 {242) B4 (24}
Balance, end of year 285,450 (4,825) 221,472 512,097 (5.682) 218,751 725186
2012
Balance, beginning of year as restaled (nole 48) 296,048 20,865 261,425 598338 2201 188,476 TER01S
Total comprehensive income from continuing operations - (6,713 46,615 39,902 (12, 286) 23777 51,393
Total comprehensive income from discontinued operalion - 144 (42,034) (41,8900 - . (41,890)
Transactions with holders of equily instruments:
Movements in treasury shares 10 - - 10 - . 10
Changes In reserve for equity compensation benefils . 4,494 - 4 494 - {41) 4 453
Changes in cwnership of subsidiaries (nole 37) - 1,028 4 862 5,830 . 27,351 33241
Dividends declared (note 21.3) - - (19,835) (19,835) - (13, 264) (33,099)
Transfers and other movements - (3,407) 3532 125 (248} 134 1
Balance, end of year 206,058 16,411 274,565 587,034 (10,333 226433 803,134
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2013

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income before taxes

Adjustments for non-cash items, interest and dividends
Interest and dividends received

Interest paid

Income taxes paid

Met increase in investments and operating assets

Met increase in operating liabilities

Acquisition of insurance portfolio, net of cash and cash
equivalents

Recapture of reinsurance contract held
Met cash flows - operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Praperty, plant and equipment, net
Associates and joint ventures, net
Irtangible assets, net

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash and cash equivalents

Sale of subsidiaries, nel of disposal costs
Net cash flows - investing activities
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Note

361

36.1
36.1

132

13.2

6.2

7

202
013
4 restated
98 552 94,770
{75,741) (46,747)
258 552 256,676
(73,683 (81,080)
{28,083) {20,130)
(351,404) {193,557)
183,379 13,984
30,699
- 3,626
42 201 32,742
(18,284) (19.843)
1,082 {5.275)
{1,015) {2.025)
- (9.461)
BE 697 -
68,480 (36, 604)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Movement in ireasury shares

Shares issued to minarity inferests
Change in ownership of subsidiaries
Ofther notes and loans payable, net
Dividends paid to commaon shareholders
Dividends paid to preference sharehalders
Dividands paid to minority inferests

Met cash flows - financing activities

Effects of exchange rate changes

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Met change in cash and cash equivalents - disconfinued
operatian

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Amounts expressed in US Sooo

2012
3
ok o restated
1622) (249)
{18) (38)
ir e B A6
363 42 432 2,055
{11,848) (11,846)
(7.810) (7,780
(3,007 (12,130)
13,126 5418
1 (64£3)
123,918 213
38 {T8,882) (52,008)
213,564 264,659
354 258,600 213,564
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Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

1 INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Sagicor Financial Corporation was incorporated on December 6, 2002 under the Companies Act of
Barbados as a public imited liabifty holding company. On December &, 2002, Sagicor Life Inc was
formed following its conversion from The Barbados Mutual Life Assurance Society (The Society). On
December 30, 2002, Sagicor Financial Corporation allothed common shares fo the eligible
policyhalders of The Seciely and became the holding company of Sagicar Life Inc.

Sagicor and its subsidiaries ‘the Group” operate across the Caribbean, in the United States of America
(LUSA) and in the United Kingdom (UK). Details of the Sagicor's heldings and operations are set outin
notes 4 and 38.

The principal activities of the Sagicor Group are as follows:
+  Life and health insurance
«  Annuities and pension administration services
*  Property and casually insurance
«  Banking, Investment management and other financial services

For ease of reference, when the ferm “insurer® is used in the following notes, it refiers o either one
or more Group subsidiaries thal engages in Insurance activities.

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consclidated financial
statements are sel out below. These policies have been consislently applied 1o the years presented,
unless olherwise stated,

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with and comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Tha Group has adopted accounting policies for the computation of actuarial liabilifies of ife insurance
and annuity contracis which comply with the Canadian accepled acluaral standards, As no specific
guidance is provided by IFRS for compuling actuarial liabilibes, management has judged that
Canadian accepted actuarial standards should continue to be applied. The adoplion of IFRS 4 —
Insurance Conlracts, permils the Group to continue with this accounting policy, with the modification
required by IFRS 4 that rights under reinsurance contracts are measured separately.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the histarcal cost convention excepl as
modified by the revaluation of investment properly, owner-occupied properly, available for sale
imiestment securities, financial assets and liabilites held atl fair value through income, actuarial
liabilities and associaled reinsurancs assels.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of cerain critical
accounting estimales. |t aiso requires management lo exercise is judgement in the process of
applying the Company's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, ar areas when assumplions and estimales are significant to the consolidaled financial
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

All amounts in these financial siatements are shown in thousands of United Siates dollars, unless
ofhanwise stated.
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Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) Amendments to IFRS

Several new or amended standards are effective for the current financial vear, and where required
those standards have been applied in preparing these financial statements with restatement of
comparative disclosures. These standards are as follows:

(i} 1AS 19 - Employee Benefits

The key amendments ta this standard affect defined benefit retirement plans and are summarised as
follows:

+  The 10% corridor method has been removed and all actuarial and experience gains and
losses are required lo be recognised in olher comprahensive income.

*  Expecled refurns on plan assets are no longer recognised in income. Instead, interest is
recognised on the net defined benefit Bability or asset, calculated using the discount rate
used to measure the defined benefit abligation,

+  Past service cost arising from plan amendments or curtalment are now recognised in
income at the earlier of when the amendment occurs or when the related restruciuring or
termination cost are recognised. The option to amortise such cost over future years has
been elimmated.

+ ANl items recorded in oiher comprenensive income are taken to refained eamings or
rmimarity interest.

These represent changes from the former standard where actuarial gains and losses within the 10%
corridor were deferred and all other recognised changes were recorded In income.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The revised sfandard has been adopted as a change in accounting policy and has been applied
refrospeciively with the restatemant of the comparative 2012 amounts and of the cumutative impact at
the beginning of 2012, The impact on the group's resuéts has been;
» A decrease in equity and an increase in the net defined benefit fiability of 58,518 at the
baginning of 2012;
+  For the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase in nel income of §1,260 and a
decrease in olher comprehensive income of 87 967.

These restatements are summarised in note 48,

{iiy [FRS 10 - Consolidaled Financial Staterments; IFRS 11 - Joint Amangements;, IFRS 12 -
Disclosure of Interests in Other Enfities

These new standards partially or wholly replace |AS 27, 1AS 28 and IAS 31 and:

+  Refine the definition of contro! over entiies and consequently define interests that require
consolidation,

«  Introduce new accounting requirements for joint arangements.

*  Require enhanced disclosures about both consolidated and unconsclidated entities so that
users of financial statements may evaluaie the basis of controd, resfrictions on assets and
fiabilities, risk exposures from involvements with unconscldaled entifies and non-
confrolling interests' invalvement in consolidated entities.

The Group has re-assessed its subsidiary, associates and jointly-owned holdings and has concluded

that IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements requires a reclassification of a joint venture was formerly accounted
Tor under the proparionate consolidation method. The joint veniure is included in nofe &,
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Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(i) IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement

The standard defines fair value, sels out a framework for measuring fair value and reguires
disclosures about fair value measuremenis.

The standard apples to financial and non-financial assels and llabites that are either measured at
fair value or for which fair value iz disclosed, The fair value hierarchy concept formerly defined in IFRS
7 has besn transferred fo and enhanced by this standard, The standard summarises the main
yvaluation technigues which should be applied.

The Group has adopied this standard from the current year, Thase siatements include new
disclosures of the fair value hierarchy as applied to investment and owner-occupied property (note 40)
and to financial insinuments caried at amortised cost {note 41.5(b}). Disclosures of the fair value
heerarchy as applied lo financial instruments cared al falr valug continues from prior years in note
41.5(a).

This standard has no significant impact on the Graup's financial results,

2.2 Basis of consolidation
(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entiies over which the Group has contred, The Group has confrol over an entify
when the Group is exposed fo the variable retums from ifs ownership nlerest in the entity and when
the Group has the ability 1o affect those retums through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consoiidated from the date on which controf iz transfermed fo the Group, and are de-consolidated from
the date on which control ceases.

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Ml material intra-group balances, transactions and gains are eliminated on consolidation. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consislency with the
accounting policles adopled by the Group.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting when control over entiies and insurance
businesses is obtained by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the
identifiable assets given, the equily instruments issued and the Rabiliies incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange. |dentifiable assets acquired and iabilities and contingent liabdities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date imespective of
the extent of any minority interest. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurmed.

The excess of the cost of the acquisition, the minority interest recognised and the fair value of any
previously held equily interest in the acquiree, over the fair vaile of the of the net identifiable assels
acquired is recorded as goodwil, If there is no excess and there iz a shorifall, the Group reassesses
the net idenfifiable assets acquired. If afler reassessment, a shorfall remains, the acquisition is
deemed o be a bargain purchase and the shorlfall is recognised in Income a5 & galn on acquisition.

Subsequent ownership chanmges in a subsidiary, without loss of control, are accounted for as
transactions between owners in the slatement of changes in equily.

Mirarity interest balances represent the equity in & subsidiary not attributable to Sagicor's inferests,

On an acquisiion Dy acguisiion basis, the Group recognises af the date of acguisition the
components of any minarity inferest in the acquires elfhver at fair value or at the proporionate share of
the acquiree's net identfiable assels. The latler option s only avallable if the minorty interest
component iz entitled io a proportionate share of net identifiable assets of the acquiree in the event of
liquidation, For certain companents of minority interests, other IFRS may override the fair value option.

Minarity interest balances are subsequently re-measured by the minarity's proporiionate share of
ichanges In equity affer the date of acguisition.
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Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)
{b) Disconlinued operation

In December 2012, the Group agresd fo self Sagicor Eurape Limited, its subsidiary Sagicor at Lioyd's
Limited and its interest in Lloyd's of London syndicate 1206. The decision lo sell resulted in the
closure of the Sagicor Europe cperafing segment and therafore met the criteria of a disconfinued
operation. The sale was concluded in December 2013, Conssquently, the balances and resulis
associated with the discontinued operation have been classified separately in the these financial
statemenis,

As of December 31, 2013, the fulure price adjusiments relating fo the discontinued operation are
disclosed in the statement of financial position at their estimated undiscounted value. Prior fo the sale
(a5 of December 31, 2012 and during interim financial perods in 2013), the net assels of |he
discontinued operation were cared in the statement of financial position at their estimated fair value
less costs to sed, As this amount was less than the previous camying value, impairments were
recorded and applied to the goodwill and intangible assets component of the disconlinued operation’s
assels.

(c) Sale of subsidianes

On the sale of or koss of control of a subsidiary, the Group de-recognises the related asseis, liabilities,
minosly interest and associated goodwill of the subsidiary. The Group reclassifies its share of
balances of the subsidiary previously recognised in other comprehensive income either to income or
to retained samings as appropriate. The gain {or loss) on sale recorded in income is the excess (or
shartfall) of lhe fair value of the consideration received over the de-recognised and reclassified
balances,

(d) Associates and joint venture

The mvestments in associated companies, which are not majority-cwnad or confrofled but whare
significant influence exisls, are included in thesa consolidated financial siatements under the equity
method of accounting.
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2.2 Basis of consolidation {centinued)

Investments in associate and joint veniure companies are onginally recorded at cost and include
intangible assets identified on acquisition. Accounting policies have been changed whene necassary
to ensure consistency with the accounting poficies adooted by the Group.

The Group recognises in income its share of associates and joint venlure companies’ post acguisition
income and its share of the amoriisation and impairment of intangible assets which were identified an
acquisifion. Unrealised gains or losses on fransactions between the Group and its associates and
Joint ventures are eliminated lo the extent of the Group's interest, The Group recognises in ather
comprehensive income, its share of post acquisition other comprehensive income.

(&) Pension and invesiment funds

Insurers have issued deposit administration and unit linked confracts in which the full retum of the
assels supporting these confracts accrue directly fo the confract-holders. As these contracts are not
operated under separate legal frusts, they have been consolidated in these financial statements.

The Group manages a number of segregaled pension funds, mutual funds and unit trusts, These
funds are segregated and investment retums on these funds accrue directly to unit-holders.
Consequently the assels, liabifties and acfivily of these funds are nof included in these consolidated
financial statements unless the Group has a significant helding in the fund. Where a significant
holding exists, the Group consolidates the assets, liabilities and activity of the fund and accounis for
any non-confrolling interest as a financial [kability.

(f) Employees share ownership plan (ESOFP)

The Company has established an ESOP Trust which either acquires Company shares on the apen
market, or is allotied new shares by the Company. The Trust holds the shares on behaif of
empioyeas untll the employees’ retirement or termination from the Group., Untl disirbution fo
empioyess, shares held by the Trust are accounted for as treasury shares. Al dividends received by
the Trust are applied lowards the fulure purchase of Company shares.
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2.3 Forelgn currency translation

{a) Functional and presentational currency

Items included in the financial statements of each reparing unit of the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary sconomic enviranment in which the entity operates (the funcional curency),
A reporting unit may be an individual subsidiary, a branch of a subsidiary or an intermediate holding
company group of subsidiaries,

The consolidated financial statements are prosented in thousands of United States dollars, which is
the Group's presentational curmancy,

{b) Reporting units

The resuts and financial position of reporting units that have a functional cusrency other than the
Group's presentational currency are translated as follows;

(i} Income, ather comprehensive income, movements in equity and cash flows are translated
al average exchange rates for the year.

() Assets and abilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling on Decamber 31,

(i) Resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Currencies which are pegged fo the United States dollar are converted at the pegged rales.
Currencies which float are converied to the United States dollar by reference fa the average of buying
and selling rates quoted by the respective central banks or in the case of pounds stering, according to
prevailing market rates, Exchange rates of the other prncipal operating cumencies fo the United
States dollar were as follows:

2013 closing 2013 average | 2012 clesing 2012 average
Barbados dallar 2.0000 2.0000 2.0000 2.0000
Easfern Caribbean dallar 2,7000 2.7000 27000 2.7000
Jamaica dollar 105.9952 09,7566 926766 8B.4378
Trinidad & Tobago dallar B.4386 64064 B.3814 6.4030
Pound sterling 0.60500 0.64036 0.61850 0.630586
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2.3 Foreign currency translation {continuad)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net invesiment in forefgn
entities are recorded in other comprehensive income. On the disposal or loss of control of a foreign
enfity, such exchange diferences are transferred fo income.

Goodwill and other intangible assets recognised on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabdities of the foreign entify, and are transtated at the rate ruling on December 31.

(c] Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are Iranslated into the funclional currency al the exchange rales
prevailing at the dates of the iransactions, Foreign exchange gains and losses, which result from the
geftlement of foreign currency transactions and from the re-franslation of monefary assels and
liabilities denoménated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the income statemenl.  Mon-monetary
assefs and liabiiities, primarily deferred policy acquisiion costs and uneamed premiums, are
rmaintained at the transaction rates of exchange.

The foregoing exchange gains and losses which are recognised in the income statement are included
in other revenus,

Exchange differences on the re-transiation of the fair value of non-monetary iflems such as equities
held at fair value through income are reperted as part of the fair value gain or loss. Exchange
differences on the re-translation of the fair value of non-monetary items such as equities held as
avaitable for sale are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in other comprehensive income.

24 Segments

Reporiable operating segments have been defined on the basis of performance and resource
allocation decisions of the Group's Chief Executive Officer,
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25 Investrment property

Invesiment property consisis of freehold lands and freehold properties which are held for rental
income and / ar capéal appreciafion. Invesiment property is recorded initialfy at cost, In subsequent
financial years, imvestment property is recorded at fair values as determined by independent valuation,
with the appreciation or depraciation in va‘ue being faken fo investment incoma. Fair value reprasents
the price (or estimates thereof) that would be agreed upon in an orderly fransaction between market
participants at valuation date.

|mvestment property includes property partially owned by the Group and held under joint operations
with third parties for which the Group recognises its share of the joint cperation's assets, Rabilities,
revenues, expenses and cash flows.

Transters to or from investment property are recorded when there is a change in use of the property.
Transters to owner-occupied property or to real estate developed for resale are recorded at the fair
value at the date of change in use, Transfers from owner-occupied property are recorded at their fair
value and any difference with camrying value at the date of change in use is dealt with in accordance
with note 2.6,

Investment property may include property of which a portion is held for rental to third parties and the
other poriion s occupled by the Group. In such circumsiances, the property is accounted for as an
investment property if the Group’s occupancy level is not significant in relation to the total available
occupancy. Otherwise, it iz accounted for as an owner-occupied,

Rental income is recognised on an accruals basis.

26 Property, plant and equipment

Proparty, plant and equipment are recorded initially at cost. Subseguent expenditure is capitalised
whien it will result in future economic benefits fo the Group.
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26 Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Owner-occupied propery is re-valued at least every three years to its fair value as determined by
independent valuation. Fair value represents the price (or estimates thereof) that would be agreed
upon in an ordery transaction between marke! participants at valuation date. Revaluation of a
property may be conducted mare frequenily if circumstances indicate that a significant change in fair
value has occurred, Moverments in fair value are reporfed in ofher comprehensive income, unfess
there is 8 cumulative depreciation in respect of an individual property, which is then recorded in
incoma.  Accumulated depreciafion at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carmying
ameunt of the assel,

Cwner-occupied property includes property hedd under joint operations with third parties for which the
Group recognises its share of the joint operation's assels, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash
flows, On the disposal of owner-occupied property, the ameun! included in the fair value reserve is
transferred to retained eamings.

The Group, as lessor, enters inlo operaling leases wilh third parties to lease assels. Operaling leases
are leases in which the Group maintains substantially the risks of ownership and the associaled assels
are recorded as property, plant and equipment. Income from operafing leasas is recognised on the
siraighl-line basis over the term of the lease.

Depraciation is calculated on the straight-ine method to write down the cost or fair value of property,
plant and equipment to residual value over the estimated useful life. Eslimated useful lives are
reviewed annuzlly and are as follows.

Asset Estimated useful life
Buildings 40 to 50 years
Furmnishings and leasehold improvements 10 years or lease lerm
Computer and office equipment 3o 10 years
Wehicles 4 1o 5 years
Leased equipment and vehicles 5106 years

Lands are not depreciated,
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2.6 Property, plant and equipment [continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which an assel's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use.

Gains or losses recognised in income on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined
by comparing the nat sale proceads to the camying valus.

.7 Intangible assets
[a) Goodwill

Goodwill (defined in note 2.2{a)) arising from an acquisition of a subsidiary or insurance business is
allocated to appropriate cash generating units which are defined by the Group's operating segments.
Goodwill arising in a reportable operating segment & allocated to that segment. Goodwill arising in a
Group entity, which is nol within a reportable operating segment, is allocated to that entity’s own
cperations, of, if that entily is managed in conjunclion with another Group enfity, to their combined
oparations.

Goodwill arising from an investment in an associate is included in the camying value of the investment.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and whenever there is an indication of impairment. Goodwill
is camied at cost less accumutated impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the camying amount of goodwill exceads its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an operating segment's (or operation's) fair value less costs to sefl and its value in use.

Cn the disposal of a subsidiary or insurance business, the associated goodwill iz de-recognised and is
included in the gain or loss on disposal. On the disposal of a subsidiary or insurance business forming
part of a reportable operating segment, the proportion of goodwill dispased is the proportion of the fair
value of the asset disposed to the tolal fair value of the operating segment.
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2.7 Intangible assets {continued)

(b) Other intangible assels

Other intangible assets identified on acquisition are recogrised only if futre economic benefits
atiributable to the asset will flow lo the Group and if the fair value of the assel can be measured
reliably. In adaition, for the purposes of recognition, the intangible asset must be separable from the
business being acquired or must arise from contractual or legal rights. Intangible assefs acquired in a
business combination are inilially recognised at their fair value.

Ciher Intangible assets, which have been acquired dinectly, are recorded initially at cost.

On acguisition, the useful life of the asset is estimated. If the estimated useful life is definite, then the
cost of the asset is amortised over its life, and is tested for impairment when there is evidence of
same. If the estimated useful life is indefinite, the assel ks tested annually for impairment. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's camying amount exceeds ifs
recoverable amount, The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use. The estimated useful lives of recognised intangible assets are as folows:

Class of intangible asset | Asset Estimated useful life
Customer relationshi 4 - 20 years
Customer related - =
Braker relationships 10 years
Syndicate capaci Indefinite
Contract based s pacity
Ligances 15 years
Tachnology based Software 2 - 10years
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2.8 Financial assets
a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets into four categories:
»  heid to maturity financial azsats;
+  avallable for sale financial assets;
+  financial assets at fair value through income;
«  [oans and receivables,
Management determines the appropriate classification of thess assets on initial recognition.

Hald to maturity financial assets am non-derivative financial instruments with fxed or detarminable
payments and fixed malurities that management has both the intent and ability ta hold to maturity.

Loans and recaivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or deferminable payments that
are not quoted in an active markel.

Financial assats in the category at fair value through income comprize designaied asseds or hedd for
{rading assels. These are set oul below,

+  Assels designated by management on acquisition form part of managed porifolios whose
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with documented investment
sirategies. They comprise investment portfolios backing deposit admenistration and unit linked
policy contracts for which the full return on the portfolics accrue to the contract-holders.

*  Held for trading securties are acquired principalty for the purpose of sefling in the short-term or if
they form part of a portfolio of financial asssts in which there is evidence of short-term profit
laking. Dervatives are also classified as held for frading unless designated as hedges.

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial instruments intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sald in respanse o liquidity nesds or changes in interest
rates, exchange rates and equity prices.
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28 Financial assets (continued)

(b} Recognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of financial investments are recognised on the trade date. Inferest income
ariging on invesiments is accrued using the effective yield method. Dividends are reconded in revenue
when due,

Held to maturity asseis, loans and receivables are caried at amortised cost less provision for
impairment,

Financial assets in the category at fair value through income are measured initially at fair value and
are subsequently re-measured at their fair value based on guoted prices or intemal valuation
techniques. Realised and unrealised gains and losses are recorded as net gaing in investment
income. Interest and dividend income are recorded under their respective heads in investment
income.

Financial assets in the available for sale category are measured initially at fair value and are
subsequently re-measured al their fair value based on quoted prices or intermal valuation technigues,
Unsealised gains and losses, net of deferred income taxes, are reported in other comprehensive
income,  Edther on fhe disposal of the asset or if the asset is determined fo be impaired, the
previously recorded unrealised gain or loss is transferred to investment income. Discounts and
premiums on available for sale securifies are amortised using the effective yield method.

(g) Fair value

Fair value amounts represent the price {or estmates thereof) that would be agreed upon in an orderly
transaction between market participants at valuation date.
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28 Financial assefs (continued)

(d) Impaired financial assets

A financial asset is considered impaired if its camying amount exceeds its estimaled recoverable
amount.

An impairment loss for assels camied at amorttsed cost s calculated as the difference between the
carmying amount and the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. The camying value of impaired financial assets is reduced by impairment
losses.

The recoverable amount for an available for sale security iz its fair value,

For an available for sale equity security or investment in an assoclaled company, an impairment loss
is recognised in income if there has been a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its
cost.  Determination of whal is significant or prolonged requires judgement which includes
consideration of the volatiity of the fair value, and the financial condition and financial viability of the
investes, |n this confext. management considers a 40% decline in fair value below cost fo be
significant. Any subsequent increase in fair value occurring after the recognition of an impairment loss

iz reported in other comprehensive income.

For an avaliable for sale security other than an equity security, If the Group assesses that there is
objective evidence that the secunly is impaired, an impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the instrument's amortised cost exceads its fair value. If in a subsequent period the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectvely to an event occurring after the impaimment
was recognised, the previously recognised impaiment loss is reversed, and the amount of the
reversal is recognisad in revenue.
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28 Financial azsats (continued)

(e} Securities purchased for re-sale

Securties purchased under agreements lo resell are recognised indially at fair value and are
subsequently sisted at amorlised cosl Securities purchased for re-sale are treated as collateralised
financing fransactions. The difference between the purchase and resale price is reated as interest
and |5 acerued over the life of the agreements using the effective yield method.

() Finance leases
The Group, as lessor, enters inio finance leases with third parties fo lease assets. Finance leases are
leases in which the Group has transferred substantiafly the risks of ownership to the lessee. The

finance lease, net of uneamed finance income, is recorded a5 a recefvable and the finance income is
recognised over the term of the lease using the effective yield method,

(g) Embedded derivatives

The Graup hoids certaln bonds and preferred equity securities that contain options to convert into
comman shares of the issuer. These options are considered embedded derivatives.

If the measurement of an embedded derfvalive can be separated from its host contract, the embedded
denvative i carred at current market value and is presented with s related host conlract. Unrealised
gains and losses ane recorded as investment income,

[f the measurement of an embedded dervative cannot be separated from its host contract, the full
contract is accounted for a3 a financial asset at fair value through income,
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2.9 Real estate developed or held for resale

Lands being made ready for resale along with the cost of infrastructural works are classified as real
estate held for resale and are stated at the lower of camying value and fair value less costs to sefl,

Real estate acquired through foreclosure is classified as real estate held for resale and is stated at the
lower of carrying value and fair value less cosls to sell.

Gains and losses realised on the sale of real estaie are included in revenue at the time of sale.

2.10 Policy contracts
{a) Classification

The Group issues policy contracts that transfer nsurance risk and / or financial risk from the
policyhalder.

The Group defines insurance risk as an insured event that could cause an insurer fo pay significant
additional benefits in & scenario that has a discernible effect on the economics of the transaction.

Insurance confracts transfer insurance risk and may also transfer financial risk. Once a confract has
been classified as an insurance confract, it remains an insurance contract for its duration, even if the
insurance risk reduces significantly over time. Investment contracts transfer financial risk and no
significant insurance risk. Financial fisk includes cradit risk, liguidity risk and market rigk.

A reinsurance coniract is an insurance contract in which an insurance enfity cedes assumed risks fo
another insurance enfity,
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210 Policy contracts (continued)

A number of insurance confracts conlain a discretionary participation feabure, A discretionary
participation feature entities the holder to receive, supplementary to the main benefit, additional
benefits or banuses:

«  that are likely io be a significant portion of the total contraciual benefits;

+  whose amount or timing is confractually at the discrefion of management; and

*  thai are confractually based on
+  the performance of a specified pool of contracts;
+  |nvestment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the insurer; or
+  the profit or loss of a fund or insurer isswing the contract,

Policy bonuses and policy dividends constitute discreionary pariicipation features which the Group
classifies as liabilijies.

Residuaf gains in the parficipsting accounts constitute discretionary paricipation features which the
Group classifies as equity (see also note 2.20),

(b} Recegnition and measurement

(il Propery amd casualty insurance confracts

Property and casualty insurance contracts are generally one year renewable contracts issued by the
insurer covering insurance risks over property, motor, accident and Bability.

Property insurance contracts provide coverage for the risk of property damage or of loss of property.
Commercial property, homeowners' property, motor and certain marine property are common fypes of
risks covered. For commercial policyholders insurance may Include coverage for loss of eamings
ariging from the inability to use properly which has been damaged or lost.

Casualty insurance conlracts provide coverage for the risk of causing physical harm or financial loss

to third parties. Personal accident, employers' liabilty, public liability, preduct liability and professional
indemnity are common types of casualty insurance.
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210 Policy contracts (continued)

Pramium revenue is recognised as eamed on a pro-rated basis over the term of the respective policy
coverage, |f alternative insurance risk exposure patierns have been established over the lerm of the
policy coverage, then premium revenus is recognised in accordance with the risk exposure. The
provision for uneamed premiums represents the partion of premiums written relating fo the unexpired
terms of coverage:

Claims and loss adjusiment expenses are recorded as incurmed. Claim reserves are established for
bath reporied and un-reported claims, Claim reserves represent esfimates of fulure payments of
claims and refated expenses less anficipated recoveries with rezpect to insured events that have
occummed up to the date of the financial statements.

The claim reserve is discounted for separate reserving classes of insurance where the expected
average interval between the dafes of incural and setilement is af least 4 years (defined as long-tail
claims). The claim reserve is nof discounted for ather reserving classes of insurance.

For each reserving class, clams data is aggregated separaiely to which particular statistical
techniques and common estimation factars are applied. For example, direct motor is divided into
sub-classes, injury and propery damage. Injury claims are discounted because they satisfy the
criteria of being long-tail claims, while property damage claims are not discounted.

An insurer may obtain reinsurance coverage for its properly and casually insurance risks. The
reinsurance ceded premium is expensed on a pro-rafa basis over the ferm of the respective policy
coverage or of the reinsurance contrac! as aporopriate. Reinsurance claim recoveries are established
at the time of the recording of the claim liability and are computed on a basis which is consistent with
the computation of the claim Bability. Profit sharing commission due io the Group is accrued as
commission income when there is reasonable certainty of eamed profit.

Commissions and premium taxes payable are recognised on the same basis as premiums earned. Al
the date of the financial statemenis, commissions, premium faxes and acquisition-related
administrative expenses alfributable to uneamed premiums are recorded as deferred palicy
acquisition costs. Profit sharing commission payable by the Group arises from contracts between an
insurer and a braker; it is accrued on an aggregate basis and it is adjusted to actual in respect of each
individual contract when due.
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210  Policy contracts (continued)

(i) Heaith insurance contracts

Health insurance contracts are generally one year renewable contracts issued by the insurer covering
insurance risks for medical expenses of insured persons.

Premium revenue is accrued when due for confracts where the premium is billed montnly. For
contracis where the premium is billed annually or semi-annually, premium revenue s recognised as
eamed on & pro-rata basis over the term of the respective policy coverage. The provision for
uneamed premiums represents the porfion of premiume written redating to the unexpired terms of
coverage,

Claims are recorded on setflement. Reserves are recorded as described in nofe 2.11.

An insurer may obtain reinsurance coverage for its health insurance risks. The reinsurance caded
premium is expensed on a pro-rala basis over the term of the respective policy coverage or of the
reinsurance contract as appropriate,

Commissions and premium taxes payable are recognisad on the same basis as pramiums eamed.

fiif) Long-ferm traditional insurance contracts

Long-term traditional insurance confracts are generally issued for fixed terms of five years or more, or
for the remaining life of the insured. Benefils are typically a death, disability or critical Blnass benefil, a
cash value on termination andfor a manthly annuity. Annuities are generally payable untd the death of
the beneficiaries with a proviso for a minimum number of payments. Some of these confracts have a
discrefionary participation feature in the form of regular bonuses or dividends, Other benefits such as
disability and waiver of preméium on disability may also be included in these contracts. Some confracts
may allow for the advance of policy loans to the policyholder and may also allow for dividend
withdrawals by the policyholder during the life of the contract,

Premium revenue is recognised when due. Typically, premiums are fixed and are required to be paid
within the due period for payment. |If premiums are unpaid, eifher the confract may terminate, an
automatic premium loan may settle the premium, or the contract may continue at a reduced value.
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210 Policy contracts (continued)

Policy benefitz are recognised on the nofification of death, disability or critical diness, on the
termination or maturily date of the contract, on the declaration of a cash bonus or dividend or on the
annuity payment date. Policy loans advanced are recorded as loans and receivables in the financial
statements and are secured by the cash values of the respective policies. Policy bonuses may be
“non-cash” and uliised to purchase addiional amounts of insurance coverage. Accumulated cash
bonuses and dividends are recorded as interest bearing policy balances.

Reserves for future policy fiabilities are recorded as described in note 2.11.

An insurer may obtain reinsurance coverage for death benefit insurance risks, Typically, coverage is
obtained for individual coverage exceeding prescribed limils. The reinsurance premium is expensed
when due, which generally coincides with when the policy premium is due. Reinsurance claim
recoveries are established at the time of claim notification.

Commissions and premium taxes payable are recognised on the same basis as eamed premiums.

{iv) Long-ferm universal fife and uni finked insurance confracts

Universal ife and unit linked insurance confracts are generally fssued for fived terms or for the
remaining life of the insured. Benefitz are typically a death, disability or critical iliness benefit, a cash
valug on termination andfor @ manthly annulty. Annuiies are generafly payable unfil the death of the
beneficiaries with & proviso for 2 minimum number of payments, Benefits may include amounts for
disability or waiver of premium on disability.

Universal life and umit linked contracts have either an interest bearing investment account or unit
linked investment accounts. Either gross premiums or gross premiums net of allowances are
deposited to the invesiment accounts. Investment returns are credited to the investment accounts
and expenses, not included n the aforementioned allowances, are debited to the imvesiment
accounts. [nterest bearing invesiment accounis may include provisions for minimum guaranieed
returns or returns based on specified investment indices. Alowances and expense charges are in
respect of applicable commissions, cost of insurance, administrative expenses and premium taxes.
Fund withdrawals may be permitted.
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210 Policy contracts (continued)

Premium revenue is recognised when received and consists of all monies recewed from the
poficyholders. Typically, premiums are fixed at the inception of the confract or periodically thereafter
but additional non-recirming premiums may be paid.

Policy benefits are recognised on the notification of death, disability or critical iliness, on the receipt of
a withdrawal request, on the termination or maturity dale of the contract, or on the annuity payment
date. Reserves for future policy liabilities are recorded as described in note 2,11,

An insurer may oblain reinsurance coverage for death benefit insurance risks. Typically, coverage is
obiained for individual coverage exceeding prescribed limits. The reinsurance pramium is expensad
when due, which generally coincides with when the policy premium is due, Reinsurance claims
recoveries ane established at the time of claim notificafion.

Commissions and premium taxes payable are generally recognised cnly on settlement of premiums.

(vl Refsurance confracts assumed

Reinsurance contracis aszsumed by an insurer are accounted for in a similar manner as if the insurer
has assumed the risk direct from a policyholder.

Reinsurance confracts assumed include blocks of life and annuity policies assumed from third party
insurers. In some instances, the Group also administers these policies.

{v)l Reinsurance confracts held

As noted in sections (i) to () above, an insurer may oblain reinsurance coverage for insurance risks
undenwritten. The Group cedes insurance premiums and risk in the normal course of business in order
to limit the potential for losses arising from ils exposures. Reinsurance does nol relieve the orginating
insurer of its liabiity.
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210 Policy contracts (continued)

Reinsurance contracis held by an insurer are recognised and measuwred in a simiiar manner to the
ofiginating Insurancs conlracls and in accordance with the contract terms, Reinsurance premium
ceded and reinsurance recoveries on claims are offset against premium revenue and policy benefits in
the income statement.

The benefits to which an insurer is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as
reinsurance assefs or receivables. Reinsurance assets and receivables are assessed for impairment,
Il there is evidence that the asset or receivable is impaired, the impairment is recorded in the
statement of income. The obligations of an insurer under reinsurance contracts held are included in
accounts payable and accrued Eabilities and in actuarial liabilities,

Reinsurance balances are measured consistently with the insurance Babilifies fo which they relate.

fuiil  Deposit administrafion and other investment conlracts

Deposit adminisiration conlracts are issued by an insurer fo registered pension schemes for the
deposit of pensicn plan assets with the insurer.

Deposit administration liabilites are recognised initially al fair value and are subsequently stated at:

. amortised cost whera the insurer iz obligated to provide investment returns o the pension
scheme in the form of intesrest;

! fair value through income where the insurer is obligated to provide investment returns to the
pension scheme in direct proporfion to the investment refurns on specified biocks of assets.

Deposit administration contributions are recorded directly as liabilties. Withdrawals are deducted

directly from the Hability. The interesl or invesiment retum provided is recorded as an inferest

expense,

In addition, the Group may provide pension administration services to the pension schemes. The
Group eams fiee income for both pension adminisiration and investment senices.
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2.10 Policy contracts (continued)

Other imvestment contracts are recognised indially at fair value and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost and are accounted for in the same manner as deposit adminisfration contracis which
are similarly classiied,

(c} Embedded derivatives

Certain insurance contracis contain embedded derivatives which are options whose value may vary in
response o changes in inferes! rates or other marke! variables.

The Group does not separately measure embedded derivafives that are closely rafated to the host
insurance contract or that meet the definiion of an insurance contract Options to surrender an
insurance coniract for a fixed amount are also nof measured separately. In these cases, the entire
contract liability is measured as sef out in note 2.11,

(d) Liability adeguacy lesis

At the date of the financial statements, liability adequacy fesfs are performed by each insurer fo
ensure (he adequacy of insurance contract liabilities, using current estimates of the related expected
future cash flows. If a test indicates that the camying value of insurance confract liabilites is
inadequate, then the [iabilities are adjusted to comect the deficiency. The deficency is included in the
income statement under benefils.

211 Actuarial liabilities

{a) Life insurance and annuity contracts

The determinalion of actuarial abilities of long-term insurance contracts has been done using
Canadian accepled actuarial standards {recognizing local conditions). These liabilities consist of the
amounts that, togather with future premiums and investment income, are required to provide for future
policy benefits, expenses and laxes on insurance and annuity contracts. Canadian standards may
change from time to time, but infrequently.
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211 Actuarial liabilities (continuad)

The process of calculating life insurance and annuily actuarial fiabilifies for fulure policy benefils
necessarly involves the use of estimates concemning such factors as mortalty and morbidity rates,
future imwestment yields, future expense levels and persistency, including reasonable marging for
adverse deviations. As experience unfolds, these resulling pravisicns for adverse deviations will be
included in future income to the exient they are released whan they are no longer required to cover
adverse experience. Assumptions used to project benefils, expenses and faxes are based on insurer
and industry experience and are updated annually.

The Canadian accepled acluarial standards for the valuation of policy Sabiliies are based on an
explicit projection of cash flows using best estmate assumptions for each malerial cash fow item and
contingency. Investment returns are based on projected inveaiment income using the current asset
partfalios and projected re-investment strategies. Each assumption is adjusted by a margin for
adversa devialion.

Under this methodology, assets of each insurer are selected to back its actuarial liabilities. Changes in
the carrying value of these assels may generate corresponding changes in the carmying amount of the
associaled acluarial lishilities. These assels include available for sale securilies, whose unrealised
gains or losses in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income. The fair value reserve for
actuarial liabdities has besn established in the statement of equity for the accumulation of changes in
actuarial liabiliies which are recorded in other comprehensive income and which arise from
recognised unrealised gains or losses in fair value of available for sale securities.

Certain life insurance policies issued by the insurer confain equity linked policy side funds. The
investment returns on these unitised funds accrue directly fo the policies with the insurer assuming no
credit risk. Investmenls held in these side funds are accounted for as financial assets al fair value
through income and unit values of each fund are determined by dividing the value of the assets in the
fund at the date of the financial staterments by the number of units in the fund. The resulting liabdity is
included in actuarial liabilities.

(b} Health ingurance confracts

The actuarial liabilities of health insurance policies are estimated in respect of claims that have been
incurred but not yel reported or setlied.
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2,12 Financial liabilities

During the ordinary course of business, the Group issues investment conlracts or otherwiss assumes
financial liabiktes that expose the Group to financial risk. The recognition and measurement of the
Group's principal fypes of financial liabiities are disclosed in nofe 2.10(k) (vil) and in the following
paragraphs.

(a) Securities sold for re-purchase

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are recognised initially at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost, Securities sold for re-purchase are freated as coflaterabsed
financing transactions, The difference between the sale and re-purchase prics is frealed as interas!
and is accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective yield mathod.

{b) Deposit kabilties

Deposits are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently stated at amorfised cost using the
effective yield method.

e} Loans and other debt abligations

Loans and other debt obligations are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds, net
of fransaction costs incumed. Subsequently, obligations are sfated ai amortised cost and any
difference between ned proceeds and the redemplion value is recognised in the income stalement
over the period of the loan obligations using the effective yield method.

Obligations undertaken for the purposes of financing operations and capilal suppor are classified as
noles or loans payable and the associaled cos! is classified as finance costs. Loan obligations

undertaken for the purposes of providing funds for on-lending, leasing or portfolio investments are
classified as deposit and securily liabililies and the associated cost is included in interest expenss,

{d) Fairvalue

Fair value amounts represent the price (or estimates thereof} that would be agreed upon in an orderly
transaction between market participants at valuation date,
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2.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or consiructive obligation, as a result of past
events, if it s probable that an outflow of resources will be required to seftle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

2.14 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are financlal instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as
equifies, bonds, inferest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities or ofher indices.
Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or alfer exposure fo credit or market risk, The Group
transacts derivatives for three primary purposes: o create risk management solutions for customers,
for proprietary trading purposes, and to manage its own exposure to credit and market risk,

Derivative financial instrumanis are initially recognised af fair vaiue on the date a defivaiive contract is
entered info, and subsequently are re-measured at their fair value at each financial statement date.
The method of recognising the resuliing gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated
a5 a hedging instrument, and if 5o, the nature of the fem being hedged. Fair values are abtained from
quated market prices, discounted cash flow models and option pricing models as appropriate.

The Group documenis at the inception of the fransaction the relafionship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking
various hedging fransactions. The Group alse documents ifs assessmenis, both at hedge inception
and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives thal are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetling changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

For cash flow hedges, gains and losses relating to the effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives are iniially recognised m ofher comprehensive income, and are transferred lo the
statement of income when the forecast cash flows affect income. The gain or loss relating to the
insffectve portion is recognised immediately in the siatement of income.

(Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are included in net investmeant income ar inlerest expenss,
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2.15 Offsetting financial ingtruments

Financial assets and liabilllies are offset and the net amount is reported in the stalement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to seftie on a net
basis or ta realise the asset and settie the liabiity simulianeously.

2.16 Presentation of current and non-current assets and liabilities
In note 41.2, the maturity profiles of financial and insurance assefs and liabilities are identified. For

ather assets and liabilities, balances presented in notes 5 to B, 10 1o 12, 14, 18, 19, 31 and 33 are
non-curment uniess otherwise stated in those noles.
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217 Employee benefits
(a) Pension benefits

Group companies have various pension schemes in place for their employees, Some schemes are
defined benefit plans and others are defined contribution plans.

The liabilty in respect of defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at
December 31 less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is computed using the
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit cbligation iz determined by the
esfimated future cash outflows using appropriale inlerest rates on government bonds for the maturity
dates and currency of the related fiability.

Actuarial gains and losses ansing from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumplions
are charged or credited to the other comprehensive income and retained eamings or minority interest
in the period in which they arise. Past service costs are charged to income in the peried in which they
arige.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to the pension schemes on 2 mandatory
or contraciual basis. Once paid, the Group has no further payment obligations. Contributions are
recognised in income n the period in which they are due.

(0) Other retiremeant benefits

Certain Group subsidiaries provide supplementary health and life insurance benefils to qualifying
employees upon refirement. The entitlement o these benefits is usually based on the employee
remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of & minimum service perod. The
expected cosis of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an accounting
methodalogy similar to that for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to the other
comprehansive income and retained eamings or minority interest in the period in which they arisa.
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247 Employee benefits (continued)

(€) Profit sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a Eability and an expense for bonuses and profit sharing, based on vanious
profit and other objectives of the Group as a whole or of individual subsidiares. An accrual is
recognised where there are confractual obligations or where past praclice has created a constructive

abligation,

{d) Equily compensation benefits

The Group has a number of share-based compensation plans in place for adminisirative, sales and
managerial staff.

il Equily-setfled share-based ransactions with staff

The services received in an equity-seftled transaction with staff are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted. The fair value of those equily insirumenis is measured al grant date.

If the: equity instruments granied vest immediately and the individual s nof required to complete a
further period of service before becoming enfilled o those inslruments, the senvices received are
recognised in full on grant date in the income staterment for the period, with a comespanding increase

in equity,

Where the aguity instruments do not vest untid the individual has completed a further period of service,
the services received are expensed in the income statement during the vesting period, with a
correspanding increase in the reserve for equily compensalion benefits of in minorily interest.

Man-market vesting conditions are included in assumplions about the number of instruments that are
expacted to vesl. Al each reporting financial statement dale, the Group revises its estimales of the
number of instruments that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions and
adjusis the expense accordingly.

Amounts held in the reserve for equily compensation benefits are transferred to share capital or
minarity interes either on the distribution of shara grants or on the exercise of share opfiens,
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217 Employee benefits (continued)

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to employees of Group subsidianies is treated as a
capital contribution in the financial statements of the subsidiary. The full expense relating to the grant

iz recorded in the subsidiary's income statement.

(i) Cash-setfled share-based transactions with stalf

The services received in a cash-setfled transaction with staff and the liability to pay for those senvices,
are recognised at fakr value as the individual renders services. Unlil the liabdity is setled, the fair value
of the liability ks re-measured al the date of the financial stalements and at the date of setflement, with
any changes in fair value recognised in income during that pericd,

(i) Measurement of the fair value of eguity instruments grantsd

The equily instruments granied consist either of grants of, or oplions lo purchase, common shares of
listed entities within the Group. For commen shares granted, the listed price prevailing on the grant
date determines the fair value, For options granted, the fair value is determined by reference fo the
Black-Scholes valuation model, which incorporales factors and assumpbons that knowledgeable,
willing market participants would consider in selting the price of the equity instruments,

(e} Termination bensfits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employes's employment is terminated before the
normal reliremenl dale or whenever an employee accepls voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises fermination benefits when it is demonstrably commitied to
gither terminate the employment of cument employees according to a detailed formal plan without the
possibility of withdrawa! or 1o provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made lo encourage
veluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than twelve months after the date of the financial
statements are discounted fo prasent value.

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

218 Taxes

(a) Premium taxes

Insurers are subject to tax on premium revenues generated in certain jurisdictions. The principal rales
of tax are summarised in the following table.

Life insurance and Health Property and
Premium tax rates non-registered casualty
Insurance

annuities insurance
Barbados I -6% 4% 3% - 5%
Jamaica 3% il il
Trinidad and Tobago 15% 25% 25%
United States of America 0.75% - 3.5% il Ml

{b) Assef tax

During 2012, the Government of Jamaica introduced an asset tax, For insurance, securifies dealers
and deposit taking institutions, the tax is 0.14% of adjusted assets held at the end of the year,

{c}  Income faxes
The Group is subject 1o taxes on income in the jurisdictions in which business operabions are

conducted. Rates of taxalion in the principal jurisdictions for the current year are set out in the next
table.

2013 Annual Report 101



Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

218 Taxes (continued)

Wiemmnichand | Other lines of
Income tax rates non-registered
. annuities business
annuities
5% of gross : 25% of
Barbad : q il :
Arbados imvestment income I net income
e 15% of i 15% - 33.33%
investment income of net income
; 15% - 25% of ; 25%
Hiriag.and Tabag investment income Al of nel income
35% 35% 5%
United States of Ameri
" i el of nel income of el income of nel income

{il  Current income laxes

Current lax & the expecied lax payable on the laxable income for the year, using the lax rates in effect
for the year. Adjustments fo fax payable from prior years are alzo included in current tax.

(i} Deferred income axes

Deferred income tax is recognised, using fhe liability method, on femporary differences arising
batween the lax bases of assels and lighilites and thesr carmying amaunis in the financial stalements.
Defermed income taxes are computed at tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
assaf is realised or the liability setted. Defered tax assels are only recognised when it is probable
that faxable profits will be available against which the assel may be uliised.

Defarmed income tax assefs and liabifties are offsel whan there is a legally enforceable right to do so.
Deferred 1ax, related to fair value re-measurement of available for sale invesiments and cash fiow
hedges which are recorded in other comprehensive income, ks recorded in other comprehensive
income and is subsaquently recognised in income together with the defermed gain or loss.
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219 Common and preference shares (continued)
{a) Common shares

In exchange for consideration received, the Company has issued comman shares that are classified
as equify. Incremental costs directiy atiributable to the fssue of common shares are recorded in share
capital as a deduction from the share issue proceeds,

Where a Group enfity purchases the Company's common shares, the consideration pasd, inciuding
any direclly atifbutable cost, is deducted from share capifal and is recorded as treasury shares.
Where such shares are subsequently sold to a third party, the deduction from share capital is
reversed, and any difference with net considerafion received is recorded in refained eamings.

(b} Preference shares

On July 18, 20111, the Company issued convertible redeemable preference shares thal are accounied
for as a compaound financial instrument. The shares are conlractually redeemable on July 18, 2018 if
the shareholder has not opted fo convert the shares prior to this date,  Dividends may be declared
semi-annually by the Company's direciors,

The redempticn value iz recognised as a confractual liabdity, and iz measured inifially at its discounted
fair vakue, The discount rate reflects as of July 18, 2011: (i) the rate of interest applicable to 2 simiar
liability with & contractual dividend rate, and (i) the inlerest premium required by the shareholder for
an insfrument with a non-contractual dividend. The liab#ity companent is disclosed in note 16,

The preference shareholders' rights to receive dividends is recognised within shareholders' equity,
and is measured initially as the residual fair value of the preference shares in their totality after
deducting the Rability for the redemptive value, The equity component is inftislly recorded as a
preference share resefve in note 22.

Incremental costs directly atiributable to the issue of the preference shares are allocated between the
[iability for the redemption value and the equity reserve in proportion o their initial carmying amounts.
After initial recognition, the liabilty component is accreted to its ulimate redemption value using the
effective interest yield method, with the accretion being recorded as a finance cost in the statement of
income. After initial recognition, the preference share reserve s fransferred to retained samings pro-
rala to the dividends declared over the period to redemaotion.
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219 Commoen and preference shares (continued)

On the initial recognition of the preference shares, the conversion feature of the instrument was
deemed 1o have no value. Subsequently, when a number of preference shares are converted to
common shares, the associated liability for redemption will be extinguished and consequently will be
transferred lo the share capital account for comman shares. Additionally al conversion, the proportion
of the preference share resesve atfributable to the converted number of preference shares will also be
transferred to the share capital account for common shares. In summary, the fofal transfer to the
share capital account for common shanes will approximate the arginal consideration for the converted
number of preference shares less atfributable issue costs.

(6] Dividends

On the declarafion by the Company’s directors of comman or preference share dividends payable, fhe
lotal value of the dividend is recorded as an appropriation of relained eamings.

2.20 Participating accounts

(a) “Closed” participating account

For paricipating policies of Sagicor Life Inc in force al de-mutuafisation, Sagicor Life Inc established a
closed participating account in order to protect the guaranieed benefits and future policy dividends,
bonuses and ofher non-guaranteed benefits of the afore-mentioned palicles, The rules of this account
require that premiums, benefils, actuarial reserve movements, investment relumns, expenses and laxes,
aftributable to the said policies, are recorded in a closed parficipating fund. Policy dividends and
bonuses of the said poficies are paid from the participating fund on a basis substantially the same as
prios to de-mutualisation.

Distributable profits of the closed pariicipating account are distribuled to the parficipating policies in

the form of declared bonusas and dividends. Undistributed profits remain in the paricipaling account
for the benefit of participating policyholders.
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2.20 Participating accounts (continued)

The participating account also includes an ancillary fund comprising the required provisions for
adverse deviations as determined in the computation of actuanal liabiities of the said policies.
Changes in the anciflary fund are not recorded in the parficipating account, but are bome by the
general operations of Sagicor Life Inc.

{b) "Open” patticipating account

Sagicor Life Inc also established an open participating account for participating policies it issues after
de-mutualisation. The rules of this account require thal premiums, benefits, actuaral reserve
movements, investment redurns, expenses and laxes, alirbutable lo the said policies are recorded in
an open participating account.

The apen paricipating account was eslablished at de-muluzlisation, On February 1, 2005, Sagicor
Life Inc amalgamated with Life of Barbados Limited, and participating policies of the latier were
transferred to the open paricipating account, Accordingly, the liabilities of these paricipating policies
and matching assets were transferred to the open parlicipating account. The liabilities transferred
included an anciltary fund comprising the provisions for adverse deviations on the transferred policies.
Changes in the anciflary fund are nof recorded in the paricipafing account, but are borne by the
general operations of Sagicor Life Inc.

Additional assels to support the profit distribution to shareholders (see below) were also transferred to
the account.

Distributable profits of the open parficipating account are shared between participating poficies and
shareholders in a ralio of 90:10. Profils are dislibuted to the paricipating policies in the form of
declared bonuses and dividends. Profits which are distributed to shareholders are included m the
allocation of Group net income to shaneholders. Undistributed profits | (losses) remain in the
participating account in equity.
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220 Participating accounts (continued)

{e] Financial statement presentation

The assets and liabilities of the pariicipaiing accounts are included but not presented separately in the
financial statements, The revenues, bensfits and expenses of the paricipaiing accounts are also
included but not presented separately in the financial stalements. However, the overall surpius of
assels held in the participating funds over the associaled liabilities is presented in equity as the
participating accounts. The overall net income and other comprehensive income that are attributable
1o the participating funds are disclosed as allocations.

The initial allocation of additional assels to the participating funds is recognised in equity as a fransfer
from refained earnings fo the parlicipating accounts. Retuns of additional assets from the
participating funds are accounted for similarty,

221 Statutory reserves

Statulory reserves are established when regulatory accounting requirements result in lower
distributable profits or when an appropristion of retained eamings is required or permitted by law to
protect policyholders, insurance beneficiaries or depositors.

222 Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income statement for all inferest bearing
instruments on an accrual basis using the effective vield method based on the initial transaction price.
Interest includes coupon interest and accrued discount and premium on financial instruments.
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2.23 Fees and other revenue

Fees and non-insurance commission income are recognised on an accrual basis when the service
has been provided. Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or pariicipating in the negaotiation
of & transaction for a third party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio
and other management advisory and service fees are recognised bazed on the applicable service
contracts, usually on a time-apportienate basis. Assel management fees related fo investment funds
are recognised raleably over the period In which the service is provided. Performance linked fees or
fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled. Other revenue is
recognised on an accrual basis when the related service has been provided,

2.24 Cash Flows
The following ciassifications apply to the cash flow statement.

Cash flows from operating activities consist of cash flows ansing from revenues, benefits,
expenses, taxes, operating assefs and operating iabilities. Cash flows from investing activities
consist of cash flows arising from long-term tangible and intangible assets to be ufiised in the
business and in respect of changes in subsidiary holdings, insurance businesses, and associated
company and joint venture investments. Cash flows from financing activities consist of cash flows
anising from the issue, redemption and exchange of equily instruments and noles and loans
payable and from equity dividends payable fo holders of such instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
»  cash balances,
«  call deposits,

«  other liquid balances with maturifies of three manths or less from the acquisition dale,

*  less bank overdrafis which are repayable on demand,

» less other bomowings from financial insfitutions made for the purpose of meeting cash
commitments and which have maturities of three months or less from origination.

Cash equivalants are subject to an insignificant risk of change in vaue.
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2.25 Future accounting developments and reporting changes

Certain new standards and amendmenis to existing standards have bean issued but are not effective
for the periods covered by these financial staterments. The changes in standards and inlerpretations
which may have a significant effect on future presentation, measurement or disclosure of the Group's
financial stalements are summarised in the following tables.

IFRS (Effective Date) | Subject/Comments
IFRS T - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabdities

Financial Instrumenis:

Disclosures These amendments clarify the presentation of certain offsetting
IAS 32 - Financial requirementz and amend the disclosure fo include nformation on the

Instruments Presentation | effect of netting arangemeants.
{January 1, 2014)

IFRS 9 - Classification and measurement of financial instruments
Financial Instruments
(January 1, 2018) IFRS 9 uses a single approach o determine whether a financial asssat
is measured at amortised cost or fair value. The delermination is
based cn how an enlity manages its financial instruments and the

coniraclual cash fiow characteristics of the financial asssts.

[FRS 9 has amended the freatment, appcable fo financial liabiites
designated al fair value, of changes in own credil risk. Such changes
are to be recorded in other comprehensive income unless part of a
hedging relationship.

Amendments have been made to hedge accounting with the most
significant improvements applying to the hedging of non-financial risk.

New requirements for the impairment of financial assefs are to be
finalised. In addiion, limited amendmenis fo the classification and
measurement requirements are o be incorporated.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The development of estimates and the exercise of judgment in applying accounting policies may have
a material impact on the Group's reported assets, liabilities, income and other comprehensive income.
The items which may have the most effect on the Group's financial statements are set out below,

31 Impairment of financial assets

An available for sale debt securily, a lean or & receivable is considered impaired when management
determines that it is probable that all amounts due sccording o the original confract terms will not be
coflecied. This determination is made afier considering the payment history of the bomower, the
discounted value of collateral and guarantees, and the financial condition and financial viability of the
barrower.

The determination of impairment may either ba considered by indwvidual assef or by a grouping of
assats with similar relevant characteristics.

12 Recognition and measurement of intangible assets

The recagnifion and measurement of intangible assets, other than geodwill, in a business combination
imvolve the ufilisation of valuation lechnigues which may be very sensifive to the underying
assumptions ulilised. These intangibles may be marketing related, cusiomer related, contract based
or technology baszed,

For significant amounts of intangibles arising from a business combination, the Group utiises

indepandant professional advisors fo assist management in determining the recognition and
measurement of these assets.,
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3.3 Impairment of intangible assets

fa) Goodwil

The assessment of goodwdl impairment invalves the determination of the fair value of the cash
generating business units fo which the goodwill has been allocated, Defermination of fair value
imvolves the estimation of fulure cash flows or of income after tax of these business units and the
expected returns o providers of capital o the business units and / or to the Group as & whole.

The Group updates its business unit financial projections annually and applies discounted cash flow or
eamnings multiple models o these projections lo determine if there is any impaiment of goodwill. The
assassmant of whether goodwill is impaired can be highly sensitive to the inputs of cash flows, incoma
after tax, discount rate, growth rate or capital multiple, which are used in the computation. Further
detais of the inputs used are sef out in note 8.2,

(B) Other intangible assets

The assessment of impairment of other intangible assets invalves the determination of the intangible's
fair value or value in use. In the absence of an active market for an intangible, its fair value may need
io be estimaled. In determining an infangible’s value in use, estimates are required of fulure cash
flows generated as a result of holding the asset.

34 Valuation of actuarial liabilities

{a) Canadian Actuarial Standards (recognizing local conditions)

The objective of the valuation of policy liabilites is fo determine the amount of the insurer's assets
that, in the apinion of the Appointed Actuary (AA) and taking into account the ather pertinent items in
the financial statements, will be sufficient without being excessive to provide for the policy labiities
over their respective ferms, The amounts set aside for fufure benefits are dependent on the timing of
future asset and flability cash flows,
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34 Valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued)

The actuarial liabilities are determined as the present value of liabifty cash flows discounted at
effective interest rates resulting in a value equivalent to the marked value of assels supporting these
policy liabiities under an adverse economic scenanio.

The AA identifies a conservalive economic scenario forecast, and logether with the existing
imvesiment portfolio as at the dale of the actuanial valuation and assumed reinvestment of net asset
and palicy liability cash flows, calculates the actuanial liabilities required at the date of valuation fo
ensure thal sufficient monies are available o meel the liabilities as they become due in fulure years.

The methodology produces the fotal reserve reguiremant for each policy group fund. In general, the
methodology is used to determine the net overall actuarial abilities required by the insurer. Actuarial
lisbiities are computed by major group of policies and are used lo determine the amount of
reinsurance balances in the reserve, the distibution of the total reserve by country (for statutory
reporting), and the distribution of the reserve by poficy, and ather individual companents in the
actuarial iabilities.

(5] Beslestimate reserve assumptions & provisions for adverse devialions

Actuarial liabilities include two major components; a best estimate reserve and a provision for adverse
deviations, The lalter provision is established in recognition of the uncertainty in computing best
estimate reserves, to allow for possible deterioration in experience and to prowvide greater comfort that
reserves are adequate to pay fulure banefits,

For the respective reserve assumplions for mortality and morbidity, lapse, future investment yiedds,
operaiing expenses and taxes, best estimate reserve assumptions are determined where appropriate,
The assumption for operating expenses and Laxes is in some instancas split by participaling, non-
participating and universal life | unit inked business,

Provisions for adverse deviations are established in accordance wilh the: risk profites of the business,

and are, as far as is praclicable, standardised across geographical areas. Provisions are determined
within a specific range established by the Canadian Standands of Practice.
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34 Valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued)

The principal assumplions and marging used in the determination of actuarial liabilities are
summarised in nofe 13.3, However, the liabifty resulting from the applicafion of these assumpiions
can never be definitive as to the ullimate timing or the amount of benefils payable and is therefore
subject to fulure re-assessment,

3.5 Property and casually insurance contracts

The property and casualty insurance confracts issued by Sagicor af Lioyd's insurance syndicate 1206
(the principal business of the discentinued operation) up to and including the 2013 undenwriting year
of account contain material accounting judgements which may affect the Group's results untl the
close of the run-off perod confracted with the purchaser of the discontinued operafion. The significant
judgements are summarised in the following sections.

(a) Policy banefits payable

The estmation of the ulimate Hability ansing from claims incurred under property and casualty
insurance confracts is subject to several socurces of uncerainty that need to be considered in
determining the amount thal Ihe insurer will ulimately pay for such claims. Reserving for claims
payable, involves the use of statistical techniques of estimation. These technigues generally involve
projecting from past experience, the development of claims over fime fo form a view of the likely
uitimate claims o be experienced, having regard 1o variations in business writien and the underlying
terms and conditions,

Claim liabdities are based on estimales due o the fact thal the ullimate disposition of claims incurred
prioe to the date of the financial statements, whelher reported or not, is subject to the oulcome of
evenis that may nof yet have occurred, Significant delays are experienced in the nofificalion and
seltlement of certain types of claims, particularly in respect of casually conlracts. Events which may
affect the u'tmate outcome of claims include inter alia, jury decisions, court interpretations, legislative
changes and changes in the medical condition of claimants

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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3.5 Property and casualty contracts (continued)

Any estimate of fufure losses is sublect to the inherant uncertainties in predicting the course of future
gvents. The two most critical assumgptions made 1o defermine claim fabilities are that the past is a
reasonable predictor of the likely level of claims development and thal the siatistical estmation
models used are fair reflections of the likety level of ultimate claims to be incurred, Gonsequently, the
amounts recorded in respect of unpaid losses may change significantly in the shorl fem.

A variety of standard acfuarial reserving methods are utilised to estimaie claim Eabilities | including
claims development, expecled claims ratio, Bomhustler-Ferguson and  frequency-severily
methodologies. An independent actuary is engaged to confirm the claim liabiktbes recognised by the
syndicate as of the date of the financial statements. The ultimate liabifty arising from claims incumed
under properly and casually insurance conlracls may be miligated by recovery arsing from
reinsurance contracts held.

(b} Premium income

The syndicate wriles a significant proporfion of its premium by delegated authority fo insurance
intermediaries. Due to delays in the nolification of compéele and accurate premium income writlen,
the premium income eammed and the associated reinsurance, claims expense and commission
balances may have to be estimaied. Accordingly, premium income written has to be re-assessed for
the underwriting years up 1o and including the 2013 underwriling year of account untl the end of the
run=off period and adjustments made to the ulimate results of this business,

(e} Carrying value of the assels and liabiliies of the discontinued operation

As of Decembar 31, 2013, the liabdity of the discontinued cperafion is fhe estimated residual liability
due to the purchaser arising from the estimated resulls of the syndicate for the underwriting years of
account up to and inclueding 2013 until the end of the run-off period. The reported liability i also
impacted by movements in various foreign exchange rates as the insured risks are denominated in a
number different cumeancies.

As of December 31, 2012, the assessment of fair value less cosfs to sell of the disconfinued cperafion
was determined an the basis of the terms of sale offered and from the outstanding bids received.
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4 SEGMENTS

The management structure of Sagicor consists of the parent company Board of Directors, the Group
Chief Executive Officer (CED), subsidiary company Boards of Direciors and subsidiary company
CECs. For the parent company and principal subsidiaries, there are execufive management
committess made up of senior management who advise the respective CEOs. The principal
subsidiaries have a full management govemnance structure, a consequence of their being regulated
insurance and financial services entities and of the range and diversity of their products and services.

The Group CEO serves as Board Chairman or as a Board Member of the pincipal subsidiaries and is
the Group's Chief Operating decision maker. Through subsidiary company reporting, the Group CEO
obtains details of company performance and of resource allocation needs. Summarisation of planning
and results and prionfisation of resource allocation is done at the parent company level where
strateqic decisions are taken,

In accordance with the relevant financial reporting standard, the Group has determined that there are
three principal subsidiary Groups within continuing operations which represent the reportable
operating segments of Sagicor. These segments and other Group companies are set out in the
following sections. Details of the discontinued operating segment are set out in note 348.

(a) Sagicor Life

These comprise Group subsidiares conducting life, health and annuilty insurance business, and
pension administration services in (i) Barbados, Eastern Carnibbean, Dutch Caribbean, Bahamas and
Central America and {Il} Trinldad and Tobago. As these two segments are broadly similar in products,
services, distribution, administrative and regulatory environment, they are presented on an aggregated
basis in these financial statements. The companies are sef out in the following two tables.
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Effective
Sagicor Life Co f
i Principal Activities umiry of | charehoiders’
Segment Companies Incorporation
Interest
Life and health insuranca,
Sagicor Life Inc annuities and pension Barbados 100%
administration services
St Chpl L rotimnce: || T 2o Imallh ekengca:
Com Limited annuities and pension Barbados 100%
pany adminisiration services
Life and health Insurance,
Sagicor Life Aruba NV annuities and pension Aruba 100%
adminisiration services
Capital Life Insurance Company | |
Bahamas Limé Life insurance The Bahamas 100%
Sagicor Panama, SA Life and heaith insurance Panama 100%
Natiomwide Insurance Company Trinidad &
Life insurance 100%
Limited Tobago
Associates
RGM Limited Property ownership and Trinidad & 330,
management Tobago
FamGuard Corparation Limited Investmeant halding company Bahamas 0%
Pm’f'wl * _almg it Life and health insurance and
Family Guardian Insurance P Bahamas 20%
Company Limited
Prima Holding Limited Properly investment Barbados 38%
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4 SEGMENTS (continued) 4 SEGMENTS (continued)
{b) Sagicor Jamaica Sagicor Jamaica el Effective
Segment Companies Principal Activities i rih Shareholders’
This segment comprses Group subsidiaries conducting life, health, annuity, property and casualty [continued) gy Interest
insurance business, and pension administration services and ﬁr?am:ial senvicas in Jmica and Sagicor Properly Services . |
Cayman lsiands. In December 2013, the sagmenl was reorganised under a newly incorparaled Lirted Property management Jamaica 51% 0
publicly listed holding company, Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited. The reorganization has no -
: ; g 3 i : Sagicor Investments - y
immediate effect an the effective shareholders’ interest. The companies comprising this segment are T Invesiment banking Jamaica 445 B
Jamaica Limited
as follows.
Sagicor Bank Jamaica
: gm Commercial banking Jamaica 44%, @
Effecti Limited
Sagicor Jamaica Country of Gark .
1 gicor Costa Rica SCR, =
SegnentCompaniss | | TOP Acivibes ncompontion. | O ronewery ok Life insurance Costa Rica 25,50 ()
Interest E
E:;::r Group Jamaica Group holding company s 51% LOJ Holdings Limited Insurance hoding company Jamaica 100%
Financial services hoidi
Sagicor Life Jamaica Life and health insurance and v Sagicor St Lucia Limited + St Lucia 51%
: - Jamaica 51%W company
Limited annuities
1 51% prior to July 13, 2012, Through majority
Sagicor Life of th The Cayman : : : Z
ik S Lifes insurance sl 51% 1 (1 59% prior to July 13, 2012. ownership of Sagicor Life Jamaica, the Group
Cayman Islands Limited |slands : i
exercises control over these subsidiaries.
Sagicor Pocled ; : : T ; 7 E P
i Pension fund management Jamaica 51% 131 Jaint venture company which cbtained regulatory appraval fo conduct insurance business in
Investment Funds Limited
February 2013,
Employea Benefits Pansion administration i
4 548 1)
Adminisirator Limited services ks 2
Sagicor Re Insurance Property and casualty The Cayman
§1% i1
Limited insurance |slands
Sagicor Insurance £
m
B intted Insurance brokerage Jamaica 51%
Sagicor International Group insurance
; e o Jamaica 51%
Administrators Limited administration
Sagicor Insurance Captive insurance The Cayman 513, 1)
Managers Limited management services |slands
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4 SEGMENTS (continued) 4 SEGMENTS (continued)

{c) Sagicor Life USA (d) Head office function and other operating companies

This segment comprises Sagicor's life insurance operations in the USA and comprises the folowing, These comprise the following:
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Effective Effective
Sagicor Life USA c of c of
;“:: IR Principal Activities = """";" S o | Shareholders’ Other Group Companies| Principal Activities i “""T' ! oy | Shareholders’
s i il Interest il Interest
, , Sagicar Financial
Sagicor Life Insurance Life insurance and annuities USA - Texas 1008 e Group parent campany Barbados 100%
Campany
Sagicor General Property and casualty Herbadon 5%
: Loan and lease financing, and :
Sa Finance | St Lucia Fi
R deposit taking i
Sagicor Asset
Management (T&T) Investment management Trinidad & Tobagao 100%
Limited
Sagicor Asset
Mesingarrent. e Investment management Barbados 100%
Barbados Farms Limited AT SR IB R Barbados %
development
Sagicor Funds '
In Mutual fund holding company Barbados 100%
Loan and lease financing, and
Globe Finance Inc Barbados 51%
deposit taking
The Mutual Financial Financial services holding Aarbados 73%
Sarvices Inc company
The Cayman
Sagicor Finance Limited Group financing vehicla lslar: 100%
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Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

4.1 Statement of Income by segment

s Sagicor Life  Sagicor Jamaica  Sagicor Life USA H::: m: Adjustments Total
Met premium revenus 257,892 292 959 87,850 18,527 2 657,028
Interest income 70,612 118,386 43,609 10,204 5 248,811
Other invesiment income 2,532 7,705 20,661 (187) (172) 30,539
Fees and other revenues 7,714 43,575 27178 24 556 &2 103,105
(Gain arising on business combinafions, acquisiions or divestiures 118 - - (119} - -
Inter-segment revenues 11,960 1,416 - 11,831 (25,207) -
350,829 464,041 185,098 64,812 (25,297) 1,039,483
Net policy benefits 171,950 157,930 88,486 7,049 . 425415
Met change in actuarial labilities 10,452 74,851 24,361 - - 109, 764
Inferes! axpansa 12.574 39,599 1,541 3.887 - 57611
Adminisirafive expenses £1,999 73,017 31,163 36,702 1.078 203,959
Commissions and premaum and ass2i (axes 36,075 #2630 24,865 8,238 - 111,808
Finance costs - - 58 [243) 17,328 17,143
Depreciation and amortisation 5,388 4,654 1,266 3,822 - 15,230
Infer-segment expenses 349 1,065 865 13,472 (15,741) -
298, 78T 393,836 172,605 T3,038 2 BE5 940,931
Segment income / (loss) before taxes 52,042 70,205 12,493 (8,226) (27,962) 98,552
Income taxes {7.049) 15,631) (4,372) (1,872 - (18,924)
Net income / (loss) from continuing operations 44993 64,574 8,121 {10,098) (27,962) 79,628
r::éﬁ;ﬁ;;fhmhh b 39,988 32,143 g 121 {30,479) {10,635) 39,138
Jo sonpislen e Wonalioes) WEDUALR b 40,251 (1,130} @ (28,620) (10,639) (545)

shareheiders from continuing operations

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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4.1 Statement of income by segment (continued)

S SagicorLife  SagicorJamaica  SagicorLieUSA  °a0 “ﬁ: Adjustments Total
Net premium revenus 239,444 259,630 147 435 18,494 - 665,003
Interest incomea 69,022 132,095 44 654 8,807 - 254,578
Otner investment income 12,851 20,581 7,353 (313) (24) 40,448
Fees and other revanues 11.116 M 1T 36,009 22,852 (31) 104,253
Inter-segment revenues 7.344 1,267 - 23472 (31,783) -
339,777 447,690 236,541 73,112 (31,838) 1,064,282
Net palicy benefits 155,863 148,032 80,457 8,025 : 392,377
Net change in actuarial liabiliies 41519 52,872 84,150 : . 178,541
Interest expensa 13,610 46,363 5,182 3,304 - 68 465
Adminisirative expensas 60,923 T3.987 24647 30,776 G086 190,748
Commissions and premium faxes 37,298 &2.454 12429 8,361 - 100,582
Finance cosis . . : (243) 18,140 17,897
Depreciation and amortisation 5,081 5,475 1,544 3,801 : 15,901
Inter-segment expenses 5 17 756 8,809 (10.680) =
314,639 369,609 209,165 62,833 8,266 964,512
Segment income [ (losz) before taes 25138 78,081 26,376 10,272 (40,104) 89,770
Income taxes 4,716) (9,670) (8.420) (1,644) . (24,450)
Net income | (loss) from continuing operations 20422 66,411 17,956 8,635 (40,104) 75,320
:ﬂ"; liiwngmm OIS 100 32,947 36,020 17,956 (11,876) (21,946) 53,101
Tosot sompreienaiie noomloss ova0R 33178 26,723 16,489 (14,487) (22,001) 39,902

shareholders fram continuing aperations
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4.1 Statement of income by segment (continued)

The principal minority interests in the Group are In respect of Sagicor Group Jamalca Limited (Sagicor
Jamaica).

Out of the iolal net income afiributable to minorly interests of $35485 (2012 - $34,744), Sagicor
Jamaica confributed $32 431 (2012 - $32,381),

4.2 Varlations in segment income

Variations in segment income may anse from pon-recurring or ather significant faciors, The most
comman factors coniributing to variations in segment income are as follows.

{il Invesiment gaing

Fair value investment gains are recognisad on:
- the revaluation of investment property;
- the revaluation of deb? and equity securifies classified as at fair value through income;
- the disposal of debt and equity securifies classified as avaiiable for sale or loans and
receivables.
Therefore, significant gains and losses may be friggered by changes in market prices and [ or by
decisions to dispose of invesimenis.

(il Allowances for impaiment of financial investments

Significant impairment losses may be triggered by changes in marke! prices and economic conditions.

(i) Gain on recapture of reinsurance contract held

Insurers within the Group may cede certain insurance risks and supporting assets o reinsurers. On
the recaplure of the risks ceded under & reinsurance contract, the associated assets and liabilities
recaplured are measured In accordance with the Group's accounting policles and any difference
ariging is recorded in income. The resufting gain or loss can be significant,

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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4.2 Variations in segment income (continued)

fiv) Foreign exchange gains and losses

Meviements in foreign exchange rates may generate significant exchange gains or losses when the
foreign currency denominated monetary assels and liabilities are re-lranslaled al the date of the
financial statements.

(] Movements in actuarsl lzbillies arsing from changes in assumplions

The change in actuaral liabilites for the year includes the effects arising fram changes in
assumplions. The principal assumplions in computing the acluaral labillies on life and annuity
contracis relate to mortality and morhidity, lapse, investment yields, asset default and operating
expenses and faxes, Because the process of changes in assumplions i5 applied to all affected
insurance confracts, changes in assumptions may have a significant effect in the period in which they
are recorded,
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4.2 Variations in segment income (continued)

The table below summarises by segment the individusl line ilems within income from continuing operations which are impacted by the foregoing factors

2013 2012
Sagicor  Sagicor Life  Head Office Sagicor Sagicor Life  Head Office
Variations in i t Sagicor Life Total Sagicor Life Total
SIS MR By B e Jamaica USA  and Other g Jamaica USA  and Other
Investment gains / {losses) 7,559 8,249 20,649 87 36,544 6112 20,118 8421 (145) 34,506
Impairment of financial investments (11,276) (450) (246) (590) (12,562) (184) (381) (1,162) (337) (2,084)
Recaplure of reinsurance coniract held - - - - - - - 32,155 - 32,155
Fareign exchange gains / (losses) 1,288 10,376 - (280) 11,382 (228) 6940 . (34) 6,678
Gains on acquisitions/divestitures 119 - - (113) - . - - . -
7 S
SHYee ) (a1 ¥ena 14,009 15,080 29,365 : 68,454 £,535 2,377 (15,224) : (6,312)

fabilities from changes in assumplions
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4.3 Other comprehensive income

Variafions in ofher comprehensive income may arise also from non-recurring or other significant factors. The most commen are as follows,

{il Unrealised investment gains

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Amounts expressed in US Sooo

Fair value investment gains are recognised on the revaluation of debt and equity securities classified as available for sale. Therefore, significant gains and losses may be triggered by changes in market prices.

{i) Changes in acfuanal fabiliies

Changes n unrealised investment gains identified in (I} above may also generate significant changes in actuarial Eabilties as a result of the use of assel liability matching in the Bability estimation process,

(iii} Foreign exchange gains and losses

Maovements in foreign exchange rales may generate significant exchange gains or losses on the re-Iranslation of the financial statemeants of forelgn currency reporting units.

The table below summarizes by segment the individual line items within other comprehensive income frem continuing operations which are impacted by the faregeing factors.

2013

Unrealised investment (losses)

Changes in actuarial liabilities

Retransiation of foreign curency operations
Gainslosses) on defined benefit plans

2012

Unrealised investment gains

Changes in actuarial liabllities

Retransiation of foreign cumency cperations
{Losses) on defined benefit plans

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Variations in other comprehensive income by segment

Sagicor Life Head Office
Sagicor Life Sagicor Jamaica USA T Adjustments Total

(8,273} (B.712) {30,155 (302) - 147 442)
5567 - 24 878 - - 30,445
(819) {35,606) . (12) 4) (36,441)

1,191 {12,801) 2 2,235 - (8,475
6,833 9574 21,414 142 = 38,023
(1,788) : {20,492) : : (22,278)

84 (18,438) x 8 (55) (18,402)

(2.823) (1,738) : (3,405) - (7,967)
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44 Statement of financial position by segment

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Amounts expressed in US Sooo

Sagicor  Sagicor Life Head office Sagicor

St et ABA amdeher E?mpe i o
2M3
Financial investments 1,187,903 1,687 893 1,182 892 133,078 - - 4,191, 766
Other external assets 392 282 183 066 300,721 229,917 - - 1,105,985
Inter-segment assets 126,211 9,324 151 49,649 : (185,335)
Total assats 1,708,395 1,880,283 1,483,764 412 644 - (185,335) 5,297 752
Policy Eabilifies 1,170,526 H0E 883 1,061,588 54,757 - - 2 Bas5 754
Other external liabilities 86,789 08,187 203,498 435 314 - - 1,631,788
Liabilties of discontinued operation - . - 55,024 - : 55,024
Inter-segment liabilities 23479 5,846 40,581 145,429 : (185,335) s
Total liabilities 1,280,794 1,520,916 1,295,667 660,524 - (185,335) 4 572 568
Net assats 425,602 359,367 188,007 (247 880) . : 725,186
2012 restated
Financial investments 1,149,739 1631,7H 1,139,525 120,331 - - 4041326
Other external aszeis 323 387 23087 73,982 168,603 - - B01,909
Assets of disconfinued operation - . - 46,348 658.784 - 705,732
Inter-segmaent assets 136,586 20,588 433 147,545 - (314,160) -
Total assets 1,608,712 1,602,354 1,218,240 483 427 658, T84 (314, 160) 5,589,057
Policy Babilities 1,119,326 566,860 834,241 53875 - - 2574302
Other external liabilities 82,730 836,314 166,541 354,659 . - 1,540,644
Liabilities of discontinued operation - - - - 630,877 - 630,977
Inter-segment liabilites 27025 10,930 29,847 136,989 108,368 (314, 160) -
Tatal liabilities 1,229,081 1,514,104 1,031,029 545 523 740,348 (314, 160) 4,745 923
Met asseis 380,631 378,250 187,911 (62,096) (81,562) - 803,134
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44 Statement of financial position by segment {continued) 4.7 Geographical areas

The principal minorsty interests in the Group are in respect of Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited (Sagicor
Jamaica)., Oul of the total minorty interests in the stalement of financial position of §218,751 (2012 -
$226,433), Sagicor Jamaica contributed $178,920 (2012 - $189,104),

The Group operates in certain geographical areas which are delermined by the location of the
subsidiary or branch initiating the business,

Group operations in geographica! areas include certain non-clirent assels comprising invesiment

45 Additions to non-current assets by segment 4 3 z ; 7 !
propery, property, plant and equipment, invesiment in associated companies and intangible assels,

Segment operalions Include certaln non-current assels comprising investment property, property.
plant and equipment, Investment in associated companies and intangible asssts. Additions to these Total external revenues and non-curment assets by geographical area are summarised in the following

categaries for the year are as follows: table.
2013 2042 External revenue Non-current assets
2013 2012 2013 202
Sagicor Life 5,984 8,153
Sagicor Jamaica 3,946 12442 Barbados 148 801 138,593 195,204 180,765
Sagicor Life USA 1,124 1,258 Jamaica 426,141 405 988 ROET2 87 589
Head office and other 11,548 7,398 Trinidad & Tobago 140,704 132,967 78,167 72471
22604 30,252 Other Caribbean 138,514 150,092 29,963 20,132
) LSA 185223 235642 2977 3130
46 Products and services
1,034 483 1,064,282 66,003 383 087

Todad external revenues relating to the Group's products and services are summarised as follows:

203 202
.L|ra., .haaﬂh and annuity insurance contracts issued lo 501,698 653497
individuals
Life, health and annuity insurance and pension administraton
. o gholips 259,497 257 631
Propery and casualty insurance 33,956 32,380
Banking, invesfmant managemant and ather financial services 94,530 101,368
Farming and unaflocated revenues 19,802 19,344

1,039.483 1,064,282
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5 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 6 ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE
The movement in investment property for the year is as follows: The movements in the investment in associates and jaint ventures during the year and the aggregate
balances and results of asseciates and joint venture companies are summarised in the following table.
2013 2012
2013 2012 restated
Balance, beginning of year 115,224 122,185
Additions at cost 1424 356 Movement during the year:
Transfer from  (to) dty, plant and equipment 88¢ 1,500) Investment, beginning of year as restated 42 433 33 688
Di 8 (18,040) (1,630) Additions 266 6,280
- Disposzals and diveslitures
Change in fair values 982 {2.536) % F:u: - ] ;:i:'l A
ividends recei ’ ;
Effects of exchang rate changes (2,105) (1,651) T A (1,005)
re of;
Balance, end of year 98,369 115,224
Income before taxes 3519 3,686
Investment property includes §15,223 (2012 - $27,159) which represents the Group's proportionate Amortisation of intanglble assets identified on acquisition (181) L)
interest in joint operations summarised in the folowing table. Income lases (364) (2T1)
Other comprehensive income 923 412
Country Description of propaty Parcantage ownership Effects of exchange rate changes (1,018) (178)
fierbiados FROhoR Jonc 0% Investment, end of year 44,202 42,433
Freehold office buildings 10% - 50%
Trinidad & Tobago Freehold office buiiding B0 Aggregate balances and results:
Tolal assals 532,852 485026
Pengion Funds managed by the Group cwn the remaining 50% interests of freehcld fands in Tolal liabilllies 974 794 935 540
Barbados, and a 33% interest in a freehold office butlding in Barbados. ' '
Total revenue 139,858 135,126
Met income for the year 14413 13,823

During the year the Group adopted refroactively the equity basis of accounting for it joint venture
investment in Sagicor Costa Rica SCR. S.A. (note £8).
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7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2013 012
Owner-occupied property Office QOperating Owner-occupied properties Office Operating
furnishings, lease furnishings, lease
Total Total
Lands Land & equipment &  vehicles & Land Land & equipment & wvehicles &
buildings  \opicles  equipment bulldings  opicles  equipment
Met book value, beginning of year 38,428 65,124 31,978 10,288 145,818 38,504 62,886 26,268 9,358 137,017
Additions al cost - 1418 11,717 6,704 19,699 - 2,440 14677 4T3 21,853
Transfer (to) / from investment property - (Ba4) - - (684) - 1,500 - - 1,600
Transfer io intangible assets (note &) - - (1,801) - i1,801) - - (504) - 1504)
Oier fransfers - 256 228 - 524 E : 19 - 19
Transfers o real estate developed or held
for sale . . ‘ : ‘ ) ‘ - ) (2}
Disposals - {963) (1,045) {1,381) 13,389 - - (207) (1,396) (1,603
Change in fair values - 3451 - - 3451 - {196) - - (196)
Depreciafion charge - (8049) (6,126) (2.694) (9,629) - (891) (7.174) (2413) (10,478
Effects of exchange rate changes - {1,352) {1,118} - (2470) - (615) (557) 2 (1,170)
Transfer lo assels of discontinued
: - - - - - : : (544) = (544)
operation
Met book value, end of year 38,428 66,281 33,893 12,937 151,539 38,428 65,124 31,978 10,288 145,818
Represented by
Cost or valuation 38428 67,253 89 453 18,188 223322 38,428 66,327 86,9681 15,607 217,343
Accumutated depreciation - {872) [65,560) {5,251) {71,783) - (1,203) (65,003) (5,319) {71,525
38,428 66,281 33,893 12,837 151,539 38,424 65,124 31878 10,288 145,818

Owner-occupied lands are largefy utilised for farming operations.
Owner-occupled fand and buildings consist largsly of commercial office bulldings.
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B INTANGIELE ASSETS

8.1 Analysis of intangible assets and changes for the year

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

2013 2012
Customer & Customer & Syndicate
Goodwill broker Software Total Goodwill broker capacity & Software Total

relationships relationships licences
Met book value, beginning of year 50,338 20,801 B.473 79,612 57,743 29,203 20,034 13,807 120,767
Additions at cost - - 1015 1015 - - - 3,584 3,584
;,ET;T fram property, plant and equipment : 1 801 1,801 ) i : 504 504
Amortisation - (2,004) (3,3286) {5.420) (3,040 (46) (3,610} (6,896)
Disposals and divestitures - - = = (1473) - - {33) {1,508)
Effects of exchange rate changes {2,390 (2.487) (238) (5,115) {1,502) {1,392 96 89 {1,883)
Transfer to assels of discontinued operation - - - {4.430) (3,970 {20,904) (5,668 (34,872)
Met book value, end of year 47 948 16,220 7,725 71,893 50,338 20,801 - 8473 19612
Represented by:
Cost or valustion 49 761 32517 33,288 115,626 52,151 72 - 33,685 123,073
Accumulated depreciation and impainnents (1,613) (16,357) {25,563) (43,733 (1.813) (16,436) - (25,212} {43,461)

47,948 16,220 7,725 71,883 50,338 20,801 - 8,473 79,612
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B.2 Impairment of intangible assets

Goodwill arises from past acguisitions and 15 allocated to cash generating units (CGUs). Goodwil is
tested annualty for Impairment. The recoverable amount of 2 CGU |s determined as the higher of its
value In use or its fair value less costs to sell.  Annuglly, the management of each operating segment
ar olher operaling company prepares financial projections for the next three years.

Far thase CGL's which the fair value |ess costs to sell methodology is used, the financial projectons
are used as inputs fo determine maintainable eamings aver time to which is appbed an appropriate
eamings multiple. For those CGU's which the value in use methodology is used, cash flows are
exiracted from the financial projections 1o which are apphed approprate discount factors and residual
growth rates, or afternatively, the cash fiows from the financial projections are extended fo 50 years
using an actuarial appraisal value lschnique which incorporates appropriate discount rates and
solvency capital requiremants,

The Group obtaing independent professional advice in order to selact the relevant discount factors,
residual growth rates and earings muftiples.

The camying values of goodwill and the impairment test factors used are considered in the following
sections.

{a} Sagicor Life operating segment

2013 2012

27.031 2r120

Carnying value of goodwil

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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8.2 Impairment of intangible assets (continued)

{il Yesrended December 31, 2013

An actuarial appraisal value technigue was adopted fo fest goodwill impairment. The principal
assumplions inciuded the following:
«  Discount rate of 8% for individual life and annuity Inforce business,
«  New individual life and annuity business was included for the ten year perod 2014 to 2023,
«  Annual growth rale for new individual life and annuity business varying betwesn 7.5% and
10.0% from 2014 to 2018, and 2.0% from 2019 to 2023,
«  Discount rate of 13% for new indwidual ffe and annuity business,
*  Required Minimum Confinuing Capitaf and Surplus Ratio (MCCSR) of 200%.

p—

The excess of the appraisal value over carrying value of the operating segment was also iesied by
varying the discount rates and capital ratios. The results are set out in the following fables. Negative
amounts illustrate the extent of passible impairmeant.

Barbados, Eastern Caribbean, Dutch

Carlbbean, Bahamas and Central America it
Low Mid High
Discount rate Inforce New business 175% 200% 225%
Low 7% 1% 267 682 268,003 288,328
Mid 9% 13% 147,260 143,777 140,256
High 1% 15% 55,107 49,250 43,331
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8.2 Impairment of intangible assets (continued)

Trinidad and Tobago MCCSR target ratio
Low Mid High
Discount rate Inforce New business 175% 200% 225%
Low T 11% BE,823 85,931 83,007
Mid 9% 13% 25633 20,909 16,134
High 1% 16% (10,089) (10,089} {10,089)

(i} ‘Yearended December 31, 2012

The fair value less cost to sell methodology was adopted to test goodwill impairment. The after tax
multiple used for the segment comprising Barbados, Eastern Caribbean, Dutch Caribbean, Bahamas
and Central America was 10,7 which was derived from a pre-tax factor of 891 using an iterative
method. The afler fax multiple used for the segment comprising Trinidad and Tobago was 17.3 which
was derived from a pre-tax factor of 14,05 using an ferative method,

{h} Sagicor Jamaica operating segment

2013 2012

Carrying value of goodwill 16,048 18,349

The fair value less cost fo sell methodology was adopted to test goodwill impairment in both years.
The after tax multiple used for the segment was 7.1 (2012 - 7.40) which was derived from a pre-lax
factor of 6.36 (2012 - 6.28) using an iterative method.
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8.2 Impairment of intangible assets (continued)
Sensitivity

The possible impaiment of goodwill is sensitive to changes in eamings multiples and after fax
eamings. This is ilustrated in the following table.

2013 test
After tax eamnings multiples T 6.4 56
Reduction in forecast eamings nia 10% 10%
Excess of recoverable amount (of 51% interest) a2 268 Wil nia
Impairment (of 51% interest) il il (16,048)

() Other operafing companies

2013 2012

Carrying value of goodwill 4 889 4,869

The Group recognised goodwill on the acquisition of its interests in Sagicor General Insurance nc and
Globe Finance Inc. The value in use methodology has been used to test goodwill impairment in both
years. For 2013, lhe afler tax discount factors were 14.0% and 13.1% respectively and the residual
growih rates were 3.8% and 2.1% respectively. For 2012, the comespending after tax discount factars
were 13.5% and 11.3% respectively and the residual growth rates were 4.9% and 4.2% respectively.

Sagicor Financial Corporation



MNotes to the Financial Statements Sagicor Financial Corporation

Year ended December 31, 2013 Amounts expressed in US Sooo
9 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 91 Analysis of financial investments (continued)
9.1 Analysis of financial investments 213 2mz
2013 202 Non-derivative financial assets at falr value through
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair income comprise:
value value value value Assets designated at fair value upon inifial recognition 288,491 242,523
Held to maturity securities:
Debt securities 20,200 20,4668 20,004 21,835 Debt securities comprise:
Available for sale securities: Government and gavernmeni-guaranteed debi securities 1.609.133 1,622,960
Debi securities 2074114 2074114 2,020,084 2,020,084 Collateralised morigage obligations 195,858 196,103
Equity securities 92,375 842,375 80,351 80,361 Corporate debt securities 1,289,061 1,237 510
2166469 2166483 2100445 2,100,445 Other securities a7 724 67,349
Financial aseetz at fair value through income: 3,191,718 3123022
Debt securities 148,306 148,306 116,341 116,941
Equity securities 103,185 103,185 85,183 85,193
Derlvative financial instruments (nofe 41.6) 45215 45215 52,081 52,081 92 Pledged assets
Niirigage foay i A T Debt and equity securifies include $213,703 (2012 - $100,261) as collaieral for loans payable and
Securifies purchased for re-sale 162 162 177 1T olher funding instruments.
333,708 333,706 294 604 254 604
Uit td reckiabies: Collateral fﬂr 1ha obligation to the FEd'Ef?| Home Luan Elank_nf F!alas {FHLE) j:mich is incuded in
other fundirg instruments (nate 17), consists of an equity holding in the FHLE with a marke! value of
HPE Socite bl b e e §7,143 (2012 - $6,353), and mortgages and mortgage backed securities having a total market value of
Mortgage loans 20769 221427 224140 224873 $160,250 (2012 - $146,733).
Palicy loans 134,236 141,464 125,297 137,324
Finaiice [ane and fusnce ledses 165,050 161,631 154,708 163.270 Debt securities are pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements with customers and other
Secutie pchased or -l o gl s R e et it ok S48 2 12 ST, O
Deposits 161447 161447 135878 135,878 these assets pledged as security, §30,934 (2012 — $42,551) represents collateral for securities sold
1671371 1,708,168 1626273 1,676,588 under agreemenis to repurchase in instances when the transferse has the right by confract or by
Total financial investments 4191766 4,228,820 4041326 4003473 custom to sell or re-pledge the collateral
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8.3 Returns accruing to the benefit of contract-holders

Financial investments include the following amounts for which the full income and capital refurns
accrue to the holders of unit linked policy and deposil administration contracts.

2013 2012
Debt securities 93,864 T2414
Equity securifies 87,255 T7.045
Mortgage loans 36,638 40212
Securiies purchased for re-sale 162 177

228,119 189,848

8.4 Reclassification of financial investments

In 2008, the Group reclassified certain securities from the available for sale classification to the loans
and receivables classification. The assets reclassified were primarily:
«  Govemnment of Jamaica debt securities with a maturity date of 2018 and after, which are
held to back long-term insurance liabilities; and
*  Non-agency collateralised mortgage obligations in the USA,

The reclassifications were made because the markels for these securites were considered by
management o have become inactive,
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8.4 Reclassification of financial investments [continued)

The following disclosures ane in respect of these reclassified assels,

2013 2012
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value

Go t debt securities maluring afte
vemmen securities maluring after 51342 49,344 53033 53p42

Seplember 2018

Other debt securities 3458 4,045 6,357 6,898
54,800 53,439 59390  B0.540

03 2012

Cumulative net fair value loss, beginning of year (4,783) (11,449)

Net fair value (losses) / gains subsequent to restatement {2.716) 6,984

Disposals - (42)

Effect of exchange rate changes 177 {278)

Cumulative net fair value loss, end of year (7322 (4,783)

The net fair value gain or loss subsequent to restatement approximates the fair value gain or loss that
would have been recorded in fotal comprehensive income had the reclassification not been made.
The disposal amounl represents the net loss that would heve been reclassified from other
comprehensive income bo income on disposal.
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16 RENAURANCE ASSETS 12 MISCELLANEQUS ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES
Reinsurers’ share of: Net defined benefit assets (note 31) 495 576
Provision for uneamed ﬁmﬂl'um I{mﬂ 14.3} 20,153 20323 Pramiums receivable 3,318 35712
Other items 2,693 600 Other assets and accounts recelvable 81,024 31,067
336427 102 686 148,151 99,957

The provision for uneamed premiums and other items are expected to mature within one year of

thaBrarickal siaterranis das: Other accounts receivable ncludes:

(i $50,104 (2012 - nil) representing the liquidation of collateral for a banker's letter of cradit
faclity (s=e note 36); and
i) $4,636 (2012 - §9,315) due from managed funds.

Real estate developed for resale includes 36,699 (2012 - $06.418) which is expected fo be
realized within one year of the financial statements date.

11 INCOME TAX ASSETS

2M3 2012

Deferred income fax assets (note 33) 4,808 1,674
Income and withivolding taxes recoverable 24,207 31,399
23,035 33073

Income and withholding taxes recoverable are expected to be recovered within cne year of the
financial statements date.
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13 ACTUARIAL LIABILITIES

13.1 Analysis of actuarial liabilitles

Gross liability Reinsurers' share
2013 2012 2013 amz2
Contracts issued to individuals:
Life insurance - paricipating policies 319,075 319,266 106 a7
“r:;"::ﬁ:z:: Iﬂ:‘:z 1424285 1182192 260,031 30,237
Health insurance 7115 2,345 517 626
Unit linked funds 133,882 132,798 - -
Reinsurance contracis held 23,037 20,365 - -
1,907,394 1,656,066 260,654 30,800
Contracts issued to groups:
Life insurance 38 575 42 524 1,448 1,518
Annuities 343,291 306,020 22,981 24,169
Health insurance 35,059 35 3497 167 T8
416,925 383,841 24,596 25,783
Total actuarial liabilifies 2324319 2,040,807 285,250 56,683

The following notes are in respect of the foregoing table:
+  Life insurance includes coverage for disabllity and critical liness.
+  Actuarial Eabiliies include $101,731(2012 - $109,344) in assumed reinsurance,
+  The liabdlity for reinsurance contracts held occurs because the reinsurance premium costs

exceed the mortality costs assumed in determining the gross liability of 2 policy contract.
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13.2 Movement in actuarial liabilities

Gross liability Reinsurers’' share
2013 2012 2013 2012
Balance, beginning of year 2 040,807 1,876,477 56,683 169,159
Amounts assumed on business and
33410 2,360 - -
portfolio acquisitions (note 13.2(a)) f )
Changeas in actuarial iabilites:
Recorded in income 33833 171,803 228 567 (9,984)
Recorded in olher comprehensive
: : P (43B40) 33313 1 ;
income
Recapture of reingurance contract held
- - - 101,105
{note 13.2(b)) Slii]
Other movements (B8E) (9,907 - -
Effect of exchange rate changes {44,103) (24,023) (1) 59
Transfers to disconlinued operalion - (7,396} - (1,446)
Balance, end of year 2324318 2,040,807 285,250 56,683

Analyss of changes in actuarial liabilities

Arising from increments and

decrements of inforce policies and 403,700 197,670 228,600 (9,984)
from the issuance of new policies

Arising from changes in assumptions

for mortality, lapse, expenses, (68 454) 6,312 {41) -
investment yields and asset default
Oiher changes:

Other items (34 827 {6,131) - -
Total 294 491 205,116 228,568 (2,964)
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13.2 Movement in actuarial labilities (continued)
{a) Acquisition of insurance portfolio

During the vear, Sagicor Life Inc acquired the British American Insurance Company Limited (BAICO)
Eastern Caribbean insurance portfolio. This was accounted for as a porffolio acguisifion. The
insurance portfolio acquired by Sagicor was made up of group pensions and fraditional life policies
issued by BAICO in the Eastern Caribbean. The cbligation to pay cerain unpaid amounts o
policyhalders under these policies (being claims, malurities, surmenders and bonuses) has been
assumed by Sagicor with the transfer of the insurance porfolio, and the Eastemn Carlbbean
Governments funded the payment of these in accordance with the terms of the policies. The payment
of ciaims will be subject to the claimant meeting the requirements of the palicy terms, and signing an
appeopriate release,

The effects of this transaction in the financial statements are set out below,

Fair Value
Net assets acquired:
Financial investments 5,588
Miscellaneous assets and receivables a4
Cash resolrces 36,290
Actuarial lisbilites {33,910)
Other insurance liabilifies (7,185)
Total net assels 1,396
Purchase consideration and refated costs 5 600
Loss ansing on net assets acquired 4,204
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13.2 Movement in actuarial liabilities (continued)
(b} Recapiure of reinsurance coniract held

During 2012, Sagicor Life Insurance Company (SLIC) recaptured the 62.5% share of a block of life
insurance and annuify confracts if had previously ceded fo ScottishRe Life Corporation. In return for
the recapiure of insurance liabilities, SLIC received assels which included financial investments held
in trust under the terms of the reinsurance contract. The effects of this transaction in the financial
staternents are set out below.

2012
Assets acquired on recapture of reinsurance contrack:
Cash and cash equivalents 3,826
Financial investments 04 231
08,057
Adjusiments to net insurance assets on recognition of the recapture:
Reinsurers' share of actuarial liabilities (101,105)
Amounts due to reinsurers 38,226
Other liabiities (3,023)
(65,902)
Gain on recapture of reinsurance contract {note 26) 32,155
Income tax expense (11,254)
(Zain on recapture of reinsurance confract, nel of income tax 20,901

The gain on recapture reflects the difference in the pricing of the reinsurance contract on a USA
statutory insuranca basis and the measurement of reinsured liabiliies in accordance with note 2.1,
As a result, the assets ransferred on the recaplure exceeded carrying valug of the reinsured liabilities.
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13.3 Assumptions - life insurance and annuity contracts

{a) Process used fo set actuanal assumptions and margins for adverse deviations

At each date for valuation of actuarial liabilities, the Appointed Actuary (AA) of each Insurer reviews
the assumptions made at the last valuation date. The AA tests the validity of each assumption by
reference to curent data, and where appropriate, changes the assumptions for the current valuation.
& similar process of review and assessment is conducted in the determination of margins for adverse
deviations.

Any recent changes in actuarial standards and practice ara also incorporated in the curment valuation.

(B  Assumptions for mortatity and marbidity

Mortality rates are related to the incidence of death in the insured popuiation. Morbidity rales are
related to the incidence of sickness and disability in the insured population,

Annually, insurers updale siudies of recent mortalify esperience. The resuling experience is
compared to external mortality sfudies including the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (CIA) 1957 - 2004
fables. Appropriafe modification faclors are selecfed and applied to underwritien and non-
underwritten business respeciively. Annuitant mortality is determined by reference to CIA tables or fo
ofher established scales,

Assumptions for morbidity are determined after taking into account inswrer and industry experence
and established guidelines from Actuarial Instiules.

{c)  Assumptions for lapse

Paolicyholders may allow their policies o lapse prior to the maturity date either by choosing not lo pay
premiums or by surrendesing their policy for its cash value. Lapse studies are updated annually by
insurers to determine the persistency of the most recent perod, Assumptions for lapse experience
are generally based on five-year averages.
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13.3 Assumptions - life insurance and annuity contracts

(d) Assumplions for investmant yields

Returns on existing variable rate securilies, shares, investment property and policy loans are linked to
the cument economic scenario. Yields on reinvested assets are also fied to the curment economic
scenario. Retums are however assumed to decrease and it is assumed that al the end of hwenty years
from the valuation date, all investments, except poicy loans, are reinvested in long-term, default free
govamment bonds.

The ultimate rate of return s the assumed rate that will ultimately be eamed on long-term government
bonds. |t is established for each geographic area and is summarised in the foflowing table,

Ultimate rate of return 2013 2012
Barbados 6.0% 5.25%
Jamaica 5.0% 5.0%
Trinidad & Tobago 4.25% 5.0%
Other Canbbean 4.5% - 6.0% 4.5% - 5.5%
USA 1.75% - 3.96% 2.85%

(e} Assumplions for operaling expenses and laxes

Policy acquisiion and poficy maintenance expense costs for the long-ferm business of each insurer
are measured and manitored using internal expense sfudies. Policy maintenance expense costs ane
reflected in the actuanal valuation after adjusting for expected inflation. Costs are updated annually
and are applied on a per poficy basis.

Taxes reflect assumptions for future premium faxes and income taxes levied directly on investment

income (see note 32). For income faxes levied on net income, acfuarial hiabilities are adjusted for
policy related recognised deferred tax assets and liabiities.
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13.3 Assumptions = life insurance and annuity contracts (continued) 14 OTHER INSURAMNCE LIABILITIES
{f)  Asset defaulls 141  Analysis of other insurance liabilities
The A& of each insurer includes a provision for assel default in the modefing of the cash flows. The 2043 2012
proviseon is based on industry and Group experience and includes specific margins, where
appropriate, for assels backing the acluanal liabilites, e.q. for invesiment property, equity securifies, Dividends on depost and other poficy balances 70,036 70,032
debt securities, mortgage loans and deposils. Policy banefits payabls 90834 83,814
{g) Margins for adverse deviations Provision for uneamed pramiums 33,564 33,353
194 434 187,199
Margins for adverse deviations are determined for the assumptions in the actuarial valuations. The
application of these marging resulted in provisions for adverse deviations being included in the
acluarial llabflities as sel outl in the following lable. 14.2 Policy benefits payable
Provisions for adverse deviations 2013 2012 Gross liability Reinsurers’ share
Mortality and morbidiy 81,199 79,456 i Shis b i
Lapse 64 469 55994 Analysis of policy benefits payable:
Investment yields and asset default 45851 76,613 Life insurance and annuity benefits 64,498 58,450 12400 9,744
Operaling expenses and taxes 19777 19,005 Healih claims 2687 2632 2,759 3257
Olher 2 B4E 3472 Property and casually claims 23649 22,732 13,166 12,079
214,142 234,540 90,834 83,814 28,325 25,080

13.4 Assumptions - health insurance contracts

The outstanding liabdities for health insurance claims incurmed but not yet reported and for claims
reporied but nol yet paid are determined by slafistical methods using expecied loss ralios which have
been derived from recent historical data. Mo material claim seftlements are anficipated after one year
from the date of the financial siatements.
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14.2 Paolicy benefits payable (continued) 14.3 Provision for unearned premiums (continued)
Gross liability Reinsurers' share Gross liability Reinsurers' share
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 M2 2013 2012
Movement for the year: Movement for the year:
Balance, beginning of year 83,814 494 158 25,080 115,801 Balance, beginning of year 33,353 224 756 20,323 41,608
Palicy benefits assumed on business 7185 39 i : Pramiums written 71,875 7T 410 47 814 105,014
and portiohc acyuisitions Premium revenue (71661)  (421261)  (48086)  (10B,176)
Palicy benefits incurred 457,010 654,443 33,991 68,063 Effect of exchange rale changes {3 7,907 Z 809
Palicy benefits paid (454,975 (629,362) (30,576) (64,140) Tranmtirs o dnctritinind spation ) (155.459) i (18,032)
H » i - - -
AEHRe ol T e Ek o TR B82)  otance, end of year 33,564 33,353 20,153 20,323
Effect of exchange rate changes (2,200 5448 (178) 2473
Transfers to discontinued operation - (440,852} - (96,175)
Balance, end of year 90,834 83,814 28,325 25,080 15 INVESTMENT CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2013 2012
14.3 Provision for unearmned premiums Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
Gross liability Reinsurers’ share
At amortised cost:
2M3 2012 2013 2012 i o i
Depaosit administration liabilities 119,512 119,512 119,588 119,588
Analysis of the provision:

Iy p Other investment conlracts 133115 135,876 122,523 128,079
Property and casualty insurance 32410 32378 20,153 20,323 252627 255,338 242112 247 868
Health insurance 1,154 975 - At fair value through income:

33,564 33,353 20,153 20,323 Urit linked deposit administrati
I.a':“.l:j" b 114,374 114374 104084 104,084
The provision for uneamed premiums is expected to mature within a year of the financial ikt
statements’ date. 367,001 369,762 345,196 351,752
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16 NOTES AND LOANS PAYABLE

2013 2012
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
7.5% senior notes due 2016 145178 156,524 145,865 156,245
6.5% convertible redeemable
100 417 115,338 93,636 09 606
preference shares due 2016
4.6% nofes dus 2015 43174 43,174 - -
Finance lease payabls 1,391 1,391 2,065 2055

290,160 316,828 241,556 257 996

The Group issued ten year $150,000 senfor notes which are repayable in 2016, The noles camy a
7.5% annual rate of interest fixed for the period and interest is payable semi-annually. The notes are
fraded and are listed on the Luxembourg Euwro MTF Market. Financial coverants in respect of these
noles are summarised in note 46.3(a).

Details of the §.5% converible redeemable preference shares due 2016 are set oul in note 21,2, The
initial fair value of the subscriplion proceeds was determined by discounting the ullimate redemplion
value ($120,000), at a rale of 6.5% for 5 years. The subsequent finance cost recognised is the
amortisafion of the difference between the ultimate redemption value and the initial carrying value,
calculated on an effective interest mathed for the 5 years to maturily.

On December 18, 2013, the Company issued eighteen month $43, 386 notes which are repayable in
2015, The notes carry a 4.6% annual rate of interest fixed for the perod and interest is pavable semi-
annually. |ssue costs amounted fo $290. Financial covenants in respect of these noles are
summarised in nole 45.3(a).
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1T DEPOSIT AND SECURITY LIABILITIES

2013 2m2
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
At amortised cost:

Other funding instruments 313,438 36 g3z 245675 250,822
Customer deposits 219,192 235,303 198,008 210,228
Securifies sold for re-purchase 524,232 526,267 581,084 531,654
Bank overdrafts 1,933 1,933 1,954 1,954
1,058,796 1,078,225 1,036,701 1,054 658

At fair value through Inceme:
Structured products 17,371 17,371 9216 9,216

Derivative financial instruments
(nole 41.6) 29916 29916 46,512 46,512
47,287 47,287 55,728 55,728
1,108,083 1126512 1,082 429 1,110,388

Other funding instruments consist of loans from banks and other financial nstitutions and include
balances of $157 608 (2012 - §131,009) due to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas (FHLE). The
Group participates in the FHLB program in which funds received from the Bank are invested in
mortgages and mortgage backed securities.

Siructured products are offered by a banking subsidiary. A struclured product is a pre-packaged
investment strategy created to meet specific needs that cannot be met from the standardised financial
instruments available in the market. Siructured products can be used as an alternative fo a direct
investment, as parl of the assel allocation process fo reduce risk exposure of a portfolio, or fo
capitalize on current market frends.

Collateral for other funding instruments and securities sold under agreements fo resell is set out in
note 8.2,
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18 PROVISIONS

Met defined benefit liabilifies {note 31)
Other provisions

19 INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax liabilities (note 33)
Income taxes payable

2013 2012
74,767 58,378
318 245
75,083 58,621
2013 2012
22,532 26,373
6,693 7,240
29,225 33613

Income faxes payable are expected io be setfled within a year of the financial statemenis' date.

20 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Amounts due to palicyhalders
Amounts due to reinsurers

Other accounts payable and accrued labilities
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2013 2012
16,830 16,191
22,929 15,995
91,478 82,239

131,237 114,425
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21 COMMON AND PREFERENCE SHARES

The Company is authorised to issue;

«  an unlimited number of comman shares,

+  an unfimited number of preference shares, and

»  an unfimited number of convertible redesmable preference shares,
In each case the shares are withoul nominal or par value.

21.1 Common shares

2013 M2

Number Share Number Share

in 000's capital in 000's capital
Issued and fully paid:
Balance, beginning of year 303,917 301,600 3038017 301,800
Shares issued = g - &
Balance, end of year 303,917 301,600 97 301 800
Treasury shares:
Shares held for LTI and ESOP,

3,583 6,150 3,028 5,542

end of year (note 30.1) { ) ( ) : ) { )
Total 300,334 295,450 300,884 206,058

The common shares are listed on the Barbados, Trinidad & Tobago and London stock exchanges.
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21.2 Convertible redeemable preference shares

On July 18, 2011, the Company issued 120,000,000 convertible redeemable preference shares with
the following features;

+  |ssue price of US $1.00 or Barbados $2.00 per share;

+  Mnnual dividend rate of €.5%, dividends to be declared by the Company's directors’ and payable
hailf yearty on May 15 and November 15;

«  Converible into commoen shares at a ratio of 1.98 preference shares to 1.00 common shares,
conversion to be at the option of the shareholder and exercisable on May 16 or Movember 16 in
any year prior to the redemplion date;

+ Redeemable on July 18, 2076 at Issue price, if not converted before,

The preference shares are accounted for as a compound financial instrument and were inifially
recognised In the statement of financial position as & financial lability (nole 18) and also as eguity
(nate Z2). The preference shares are listed on the Barbados and Trinidad & Tobago siock exchanges.
Put opfion rights in respect of the preference shares are disclosed in nofe 46.3(b).

213 Dividends

The dividends declared paid during the year In respect of the Company's comvertible redeemable
preference shares and common shares are set out in the following table.

2013 2012
Per share Total Pershare Total
Dividends declared and paid:
Preference shares 6.50 ¢ 7,800 6.50 ¢ 7,800
Common shares 4.0 12035  40¢ 12,035
19,835 18,835

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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21.3 Dividends (continued)

The dividends declared after the date of the financial statements in respect of the Company's
convertible redeemable preference shares and comman shares are set cut in the follcwing table.

2013 2012
Per share Total Per share Total
Dividends proposed:
Preferance shares - May 15 325¢ 3900 3254 3,900
Comman shares - final for current year 204 6,018 20¢ 6,018
2918 9918

21.4 Restrictions on common share dividends

The Company's Aricles of Incorparation include the following limitations on the payment of common
share dividends.

U]

{i)

For any & month period that the comverfible redeemable preference shares are not paid,
dividends on common shares shall be suspended for that period plus the next & month period,
and the Company shall not repurchase any of ifs common shares, except when pursuant to the
LTl pan and ES0R,

The Company shall not pay any dividends on its common shares, in respect of the 2011
financial year or thereafier, or repurchase any of ils commaon shares, other than a repurchase
pursuant to the LTI plan and ESOP, if the cumulstive amount of such dividends and
repurchases after July 31, 2011 would exceed 50% of the cumulative amount of Group net
income from January 1, 2011,
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22 RESERVES

2013
Balance, beginning of year
Other comprehensive income from continuing operations allocated to reserves
Other comprehensive income from discontinued operation
Transactions with holders of equily instruments:
Allocated to reserve for equity compensation benefits
Eliminated from reserve for equity compensation benefits
Transfers lo retained eamings and other movements

Balance, end of year

w012
Balance, baginning of year
Other comprehensive income from continuing operations allocated fo reserves
Other comprehensive income from discontinued operation
Transactions with holders of equity instruments:
Allocated to resarve for equity compensation benefits
Eliminated fram resarve for equity compensation benefits
Change in ownesship of subsidiaries (note 37)
Transfers to retained samings and other movemants
Balance, end of year

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

e Fair value reserves Carocy Brsiriie other ot
s Available for ﬁll.ntunrial translation share S e
property sale assets liabilities reserves reserve

22878 50,946 {47,224} (77,864) 23,005 35,570 16,411
3,108 (51,624) 30,445 (18,343 - - (36.413)

- 476 - 18.796 - - 19,272

i i - 2 - 2189 2168
- - - - - (46) (46)
(654) i - - {6,262) 698 {6.218)
25433 8,788 {16,778 (7T 411) 16,743 38,351 {4 B25)
23419 36,389 (26,197 {72,590) 29,267 30,577 20,865
163 23,832 {21,027) (9.881) - - {6,713)

- (389) - 543 - - 144

- - - - 5,368 5,369
- - - - - (BT5) (B75)

(BOE) 124 - 3,864 (2,356) 1.028
: - . - (6.262) 2,855 {3.407)
22,978 59,946 (47,224} (77,864) 23,005 35,570 16,411

Ofher reserves comprise reserves for equity compensation benefits of $16,533 (2012 - $14,410) and statutory reserves of $21,858 (2012 - $21,160),
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23  PARTICIPATING ACCOUNTS 24 PREMIUM REVENUE
The maovements in the pariicipating accounts during the year and the amounis in the financial Gross premium Codad to Feinsurers
statements relaling to participating aceounts were as follaws
2013 2012 2013 2012
Closed participating Open participating ]
i PR Life insurance 358,876 362,563 34627 35910
2013 2042 2013 2012 Annisity 445135 187,684 271,665 361
Health insurance 146,055 140,818 5132 5,164
IEONERIONE TOC T/ eue: Property and casualty insurance 66,472 66,157 48,086 47,785
Tolal comprehensive income / (loss) (5432) {1,874) 10,345 (10.412)
Retumn of transfer fo support profit
T - - 242 248
digtribution to shareholders e (248)
Balance, end of year (3,150) 2,273 (2508)  (12,608)
Financial statement amounts:
Assels 95,096 101,164 229,543 241,414
Liabiities 98,255 88 891 232,045 254 020
Revenues 8110 13,263 23,441 31,343
Benefis 11,938 13,180 5549 36,005
Expenses 1447 1,766 6873 5,288
Income taxes 159 258 580 634

The Group has the abilify to reduce future policy bonuses and dividends in order o eliminate a deficit in
a participating account.
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25 NET INVESTMENT INCOME

2013 2012
Investment income:
Interest income: 248 811 254,578
Dividend income 2,235 2,297
Rental income from investment property 3723 5437
Net investment gains 36,544 34,508
Share of operating income of associates and joint venture 3,519 3,686
Qther investment income 250 128

295,082 300,832

Investment expenses:
Allowances for iImpairment losses 12,562 2,084
Direct operating expenses of investment property 1,284 1607
Other direct investment expenses 1,888 1,935

16,732 5,606
Nat investment incoma 279,350 295,028

The Group operates across both aclive and inaclive financial markets. The financial investments
placed in both types of market support the insurance and operating financial Eabilities of the Group.
Because the type of financial marke! is incidental and nat by choice, the Group manages s financial
investments by the type of financial instrument (e, debt securities, equity securifies, mortgage loans
elc). Therefore, the income from financial instruments is presented consistently with management
practice, rather than by accounting classification,

The capital and income returns of most invesiments designated at fair value through income accrue fo

the holders of unit linked policy and deposit adminisiration contracts which do not affect net income of
the Group.
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25 NET INVESTMENT INCOME {continued)
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Amounts expressed in US Sooo

Further details of interest income and investment gains ane set out in the following table.

Interest income:

Debt securities

Morlgage loans

Policy loans

Finance loans and finance leases
Securifies purchasad for re-sale
Deposits

Other balances

Met investment gains / (losses):

Dabt securities

Eaquity securities
Invesiment property

Ofther financial instruments

2013 2012
201,982 206,502
18,926 19,611
8,951 8,878
15,270 15,145
1,084 ™
2623 3,670
(35) 3
248 811 254,578
7,685 29471
16,741 5871
1,195 {2.489)
10,923 1,653
36,544 34,506
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26 FEES AND OTHER REVENUE 28 INTEREST EXPENSE
2013 2012 2013 2012

Fee income - assets under administration 19,300 14,5490 Insurance confracts 2912 2810
Fee incoms = deposit administration and policy funds 1,033 1,080 Investment contracts 14 697 17,092
Commission income on insurance and reinsurance coniracts 40,424 14,086 Other funding instruments £038 6513
Gain on recapture of reinsurance confract held (note 13.2(B)) - 32,155 Customer deposits 7310 7997
Other fees and commission income 15,150 15813 Securities sold for re-purchase 26,218 31774
Foreign exchange gains 11,382 6.678 Other items 436 2079
Other operaling ard miscellaneous income 20,020 17472 57611 68,455
Loss arising on acquisifion of Insurance portfolio (note 13.2 (a)) {4,204} -
Gain arising on acquisition of insurance business (note 37) : 2,369 The Group manages its interest-bearing obligafions by the type of obligafion (i.e. investment coniracts,

108,105 104,753 securilies etc). Therefore, the inlerest expenss is presented consistently with management practice,

rather than by accounting classification,

27 POLICY BENEFITS AND CHANGE IN ACTUARIAL LIABILITIES The capital and incoms returns of most financial liabilites designated at fair value through incoms

accrue directly from the capéal and income retums of financial assels designated at fair value through
income, Therefore, the related interest expense does not affect the net income of the Group,

Gross benefit Ceded to reinsurers

2013 2012 2013 2012
Life insurance henefits 198,420 180,560 12,208 17717
Annuity benefits 126,698 124,207 & ag7 8,363
Health insurance claims 117 480 104,740 3,937 3076
Property and casualty clalms 15,614 16,218 8,765 8192
Tatal policy benefits 459 412 430,725 33,097 38,348
Change in actuarial liabdities 338,31 168,033 228 567 {9,508)
Tatal policy benefits and change in 797743 599.758 262,564 26,840

actuarial liabilites
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29 EMPLOYEE COSTS 30.1 The Company (continued)

The movement in restricted share grants during the year is as follows:

Included in administrative expenses, commissions and related compensation are the following:

2013 2012 2013 2012

Number of  Weighted  Numberof  Weighted
Adminkstrative staff salaries, directors’ fees and shart-tarm benefits 85,666 80,568 grants  average grants  Average

Social security and defined coniribution retirement costs 6,635 6,653 000 price ‘000 price

Equity-sefiled compensalion benefits (nate 30.1 to 30,3} 3,494 5,783

Defined benefit expense {note 31 (b) 12.483 9.047 Balance, beginning of year 2,618 Us§1.25 1413 US51.44
108,293 102,051 Grants ssued 2183  US$H1.03 1,521 Us$1.09
Grants vesled (1.229)  US$1AT (316) US$1.27

Grants lapsedfforfeited {48) USS1.30 - -
Balance, end of year 3,524 USE1.14 2618 Us§1.2s

30 EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS

30.1 The Company

Effective December 31, 2005 Ihe Company introduced a Long Term Incentive (LTI) plan for

Grants issued may be salisfied out of new shares Issued by the Company or by shares acquired in the:

market. The shares acquired in the market and distributed during the year were as follows:

designated execulives of the Sagicor Group and an Employes Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) for 2013 202
permanent administrative employees and sales agents of the Group. A folal of 26,555,274 common Numbser Numbar
shares of the Company (or 10% of shares then in issue) have besn set aside for the purposes of the in 000's $000 in 000's i
LTI plan and the ESOP,
Balznce, begnning of year 112 92 16 24

(&) LTI plan — restricted share grants Shares acquired 561 622 100 249
Restricted share granis have been granted to designated key management of the Group, Share Sharee distributed = g {204) {181)
grants may vest over a four year period beginning at the grant dafe. The vesfing of share grants is Balznce, end of year 673 T4 112 92

conditional upon the relative profitability of the Group as compared lo a number of pesr companies.
Relative profitabdity i= measured with reference lo the financial year preceding the vesting date.
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304 The Company (continued)

(b} LTI plan - share oplions

Share options have been granted to designated key management of the Group during the year. Up to
2008, opbons were granted &t the fair market price of the Company shares al the time thal the option
iz granted. From 2009, options are granted at the fair market price of the Company shares prevailing
one year before the opfion is granted. Options vest over four years, 25% each on the first four
anniversaries of the grant date. Oplions are exercsable up to 10 years from the grant date.

The movement in share options for the year and detaits of the share options and assumptions used in
determining their pricing are as follows:

2013 2012
Number of v::ig't“: bt
ions options 9
mw exercise Iﬂlm exercise
price price
Balance, beginning of year 11,255 Ls$1.86 9,889 Us §1.92
Optians granted 2,269 Us$1.15 1.538 Us §1.53
Options lapsed/forfelted (234)  US$1.68 (182)  USS194
Balance, end of year 13,290 US$1.75 11,255 US §1.86
Exercisable at the end of the year B.228 Us$1.99 6419 Us $2.06
Shara price at grant date US$1.15-250 US 5148250
Fair value of options at grant daie US$0.28 - 0.69 LS 50,29 - 0,69
Expecled volatility 19.3% — 35.8% 19.3% - 35.8%
Expected life 7.0 years T.0 years
Expected dividend yield 26%-35% 26%-3.1%
Risk-free interest rate 4.8%-6.8% 4.8% -6.8%

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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30.1 The Company (continued)

The expectad volatiily of options is based on slatistical analysis of monthly share prices over the 7
years pror to grant date.

() ESQP

From 2006, the Company approved awards under the ESOP in respect of permanent admindstrative
employees and sales agents of the Company and cerlain subsidiaries, The ESOP is administered by
Trustees under a discretionary frust. The amount awarded is used by the Trustees fo acquire
company shases. Administrative employees and sales agents are required to serve a qualfying period
of five years from the award date in order to gualify as a beneficiary, Shares are distributed fo
beneficiaries upon their retirement or termination of employment During 2012, the rules were
amended so that vesting will take place in four equal annual instalments commencing one year after
the award. The change came into effect during 2013. The shares acquired by the Trustees during the
year were a3 follows:

2013 012
Number Number
in 000's i in 000's i
Balance, beginning of year 2918 5,450 2850 5,528
Shares acquired - - - -
Shares disinbuted (&) (14} (34) (T8)
Balance, end of year 2,910 5436 28186 5,450

30.2  Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited
{a) Long-term incentive plan
Effective May 1, 2003, Sagicor Life Jamaica inslituled a share based long-term incenfive plan for

senior executives. 150,000,000 ordinary shares (or 5% of the authorised share capilal at thal dale)
have been set aside for the plan.
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30.2 Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited {continued)

Sagicor Life Jamaica introduced a new Long Term Incentive (LT} plan effective January 2007, which
replaced the previous Stock Option plan. Under the LTI plan, stock options are granied each year
following the measurement year.

Stock options vest in 4 equal instalments beginning the first December 31 following the grant date
and for the next three December 31 dates thereaffer (25% per year). Options are nof exercisable after
the expiration of 7 years from the date of grant. The number of stock opfions in each stock option
award is calculated based on the LTI opportunity via stock oplions (percentage of applicable salary)
divided by the Black-Scholes value of a steck oplion on Sagicor Life Jamaica stock on March 31 of the
measurement year. The exercise price of the options is the closing bid price on March 31 of the
measurement year,

Under the previous Stock Option plan, options were granted on December 31 of each year. The sirike
price wag the closing bid price on the grant date. The number of stock options in each stock option
award was calculated based on a percentage of applicable salary divided by the strike price, Cotions
were exercisable beginning one year from the dale of grant and had a contractual term of six years
from the date of grant.

Detals of the share options outstanding are set out in the following table. J§ represents Jamaica §.

2013 2012
Weighted Weighted
Number of mﬂm' Naiaeat: T
options aptions
000 mtclia 200 exercise
price price
Balance, beginning of year 44 580 J56.39 48,122 J§6.18
Options granied 30,918 J$10.58 7,968 J§7.52
Options exercised (1,524) 8482 (8,165) J§5.98
Options lapsedfiorfeited (1,836) J$6.50 (3,335) J§6.99
Balance, end of year 72,148 J58.22 44 580 J36.39
Exercisable at the end of the year 55,885 JS7.82 25,821 J§6.48
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30.2 Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited {continued)

Further detaitz of share options and the assumptions used in determining their pricing are as follows:

2013 2012
Fair value of options outstanding JE72 148,000 J344 500,000
Share price at grant date J35.97 -11.14 J34.20 -7.82
Exercize price J$5.97 - 11.14 J3420-792
Standard deviation of expecied share price retums 25.0% 25.0%
Remaining confractual term 0.25 - 7 years 1 -6 years
Risk-frea interest rate 8.04% 7.65%

The expected volatility is based on satistical analysis of daily share prices over three years.

{b) Employee share purchase plan

Sagicor Life Jamaica has in place a share purchase plan which enables iis adminisirative and sales
staff to purchase shares at a discount. The proceeds from shares issued under this plan totalled 5285
(2012 — §748).

30.3 Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited

In December 2013, the Sagicer Group of companies in Jamaica decided lo harmonize compensation
plans across the group and; considenng the pending delisting of the subsidiary Sagicor Investments
Jamaica Limited (SLL), all outstanding options in SLL as af December 2013 were converted o
corresponding Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited (SGJ) options with equivalent monetary value. From
December 2013 all Exacutives of ihe Group participate in the SGJ LTI plan.
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31 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group maintains a number of defined contribution and defined benefit refirement benefit plans for
eligible szles agents and administralive employees. The plans for sales agents and some
administrative employess provide defined contribution benefits. The plans for administrative
employees in Barbados, Jamaica, Trinidad, Eastern Caribbean and certain other Caribbean countries
provide defined benefits based on final salary and number of years active senice Also, in these
countries, retired employees may be eligible for medical and [fe insurance benefits which are partially
ar whally funded by the Group. The principal defined benefit retirement plans are as follaws:

Funded Plans Unfunded Plans
icor Life Barbados & Eastern Carlbbean
Sag . I Sagicor Life Trinidad Pension
Pension
: Sagicor Life {Heritage Life of Barbados -
jcor Life Jamaica Pension
4 Barbados & Eastern Caribbean) Pension
Sagicor Investments Jamaica Pension Group medical and life plans

The above plans also ncorporate employees of the Company and ofher subsidiaries, whose
attributabbe abligations and alfributable assets are separalely ideniified for solvency, contribution rate
and reporiing purposes.

The assets of the Sagicor Life Trinidad and Sagicor Life (Heritage Life of Barbados) pension plans are
held under deposit administration coniracts with Sagicor Life Inc and because these assets form part
of the Group's assets, these plans are presented as unfunded in accordance with AS 13 (revised).

The above pension plans are registered with the relevant requlatory authorities in the Caribbean and
are governed by Trust Deeds which conform with the relevant laws. The plans are managed by the
Group under the direction of appointed Trustees,

The group medical and life obligations arise from employee benefit insurance plans where benefils are
extended to refirees,

All disclosures in following sections of this note relate only to defined retirement benefit plans.
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3 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

(a) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

2013 2012 restated

Present value of funded pension obiigations 162,772 148,194
Fair value of retirement plan assets (136,084} (131.476)
26 688 16,718
Present value of unfunded pension obligations 32,164 30,679
Present value of unfunded medical and life benefits 15,420 10,403
Met liabilty 74,272 57,800
Represented by:
Amaunts held on deposit by the Group as deposit
administrafion contracts 42143 9972
Other recognised liabifities 32624 18,404
Total recognised liabdities (nofe 18) 74,767 58,378
Recognised assets (note 12) (445) (5786)
Met liabilty 74,272 57,800

Pension plans have purchased annuities from insurers in the Group to pay benefils to plan retiress,
These obligations are incleded in actuarial lisbilties in the statement of financial position and are
exciuded from the table above,
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31 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Movemenls in balances

2013 2012 restated

Retirement Retirement plan Total Ratirement Retirement plan Total

obligations assets obligations assels
Net liability / (asset), beginning of year 189,278 (131.476) 57,800 174,977 (132,3B6) 42,591
Current senvice cost 7067 - T.067 5687 - 5687
Interest expense | (income) 14,021 (11,490 251 12,889 {11,182) 1,707
Past service cost and gains | losses on seltlements 2885 2,895 1,653 - 1,653
Net expense recognised in income 23,083 (11,4900 12,493 202248 (11,182) 8,047
{Gains) / losses from changes in assumptions 16,634 {1,805) 14,829 (381) % (T85)
(Gaing) | losses from changes in experience (6,923) 1,567 {5,356) 6,435 1,254 7,650
Retun on plan assels excluding interest income = 1,330 1,330 - 1,062 1,062
Net losses recognised in other comprehensive income 9,711 1,092 10,803 5,565 2412 7.967
Confributions made by the Group 184 {5.088) (4,904) 187 {5,255) (5,068)
Contributions made by employess and retirees 5308 {4,177) 1,131 5,515 (4,068) 1427
Benefits paid {8,860 7,292 (1,568) (7,757} 6,508 {1,151)
Other items 3840 {2.8497) 943 [418) 4 062 3,646
Effect of exchange rate movements (13,086) 10,660 {2.426) (3,014} £,355 (6:59)
Other movements (12,614} 5.790 (6,824) {11,485) 9530 {1,805)
Net liability / (asset), end of year 210,356 (136,0:84) 74272 189,276 (131,476) 57,800
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31 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

{c) Retrement pian assats

Equity unit linked pension funds under Group managament;

Sagicor Equity Fund (Barbados)
Sagicar Bonds Fund (Barbados)
Sagicor Pooled Investment Funds (Jamaical:
Equity Funds
Mortgage & Real Estate Fund
Fixed Income Fund
Foreign Currency Funds
Meney Market Fund
Other Funds

Other assets
Total plan assets

The equity unit finked pension funds are funds domiciled in Barbados and Jamaica, Annual reports of

these funds are avallable fo the public.

Sagicor Financial Corporation

2013 2012
(27,821 (25,825)
(17,955) (17.261)
(15,768) (18,044)
{12,730) (10,122)
(12,894) (12,279)
{12,043) {11,135)

(9,433) (14,031)
(5,220) (3.627)

(113,964) (112.324)
(22,120) (19,152)

(136,084) (131,476)

31 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

(d) Sianificant actuarial assumplions

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

The significant actuaral assumptions for the principal gecgraphic areas as of December 31, 2013

were as follows:

Barbados &
Pension plans Eastern Jamaica Trinidad
Caribbean
Digcount rate - local currency benefilts 7.75% 9.50% 4.50%
Déscount rale - USS indexed bensfils na f.50% n'a
Expected return on plan asseis 7.75% 8.50% 4.50%
Future promotional salary increases 2.50% 0.00% 0.0%
Future inflationary salary increases 3.00% B.00% 3.50%
Futura pengion increasas 3.00% 2.00% 0.00%
Future increases in National
3 0.
Insurance Scheme Ceilings g L2 0%
UPMWE  caniopiwins oW
Maortadty table projeciion scale : projection scale
year improvement
AA AA
Jtuptoage 30, 10%uptoage30, 3% up toage 30,
: reducing to 1% at  reducing to 5% at  reducing o 1% at
Termination of active members
Heie age 50, 0% at age age 50, 0% at age  age 50, 0% al age
51 51 51
100% at the nfa 100%, at the
eariest possible earliest possible
Early retirement 2ge receive ange recelve
unreduced unreduced
benefiis benefits
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31 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued) 31 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Group medical and life plans Jamaica () Amount, timing and unceriainty of future cash fiows

In addifion fo the annual actuarial valuations prepared for the purpose of annual financial stalement
reparting, full actuarial valuations of pension plans are conducted every 3 years, These full vaiualions
contain recommendaions for Group and employee contrioufion levels which are implemented by the
Group as the recommendations are mada.

Lang term increass in health costs B.00%

(&) Sensifivity of actuarial assumpbons

The sensitivity of the pension retirement benafit obligations to indnidual changes in achsanial For the 2014 financial year, the total Group confributions fo its defined benefit plans pension plans are
assumplicns is summarised below: estmated at 57,820
Barbados &
Eastern Jamaica Trinidad
Caribbean
Base pension cbligation 69,621 £9,184 10,258
Change in absolute assumption Increase | (decrease) in pension cbligations
Decrease discount rate by 1.0% 10,885 12.226 1,641
Increase discount rate by 1.0% 18,320) (9,357) (1,194)
Decrease salary growth rate by 0.5% {2,253) (3,207) (374)
Increase salary growth rate by 0.5% 3,600 3,778 442
Increase average Bfe expectancy by 1 year &0 814 12
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32 INCOME TAXES 32 INCOME TAXES (continued)

Group companies operating in Caribbean countries are largely taxed according fo the taxation rules of Income tax on the total income subject to taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise

the country where the operafions are camied out. The principal rates of taxation are summarised in is as folows:
note 2.18{c). The income tax expense and the income subject to takation in the statemant of income
are set out in the following table. 2013 2012
2013 2012 Total (loss) / income subject to taxation {3,658 179,641
Income tax expense: Taxation at the applicable rates on incoms subject to lax (7,348) 38428
Ciarrent bt 16,315 16,049 Adjustments to current tax for items not subject to | allowed for lax 11,228 (21,399)
Diefarred tax 2945 8,130 Dther curent tax adjustments (21) {255)
Chore i b o aebiabos 64 271 Adjustments for curment tax of prior periods 7T (275)
18,924 24 450 Maovement in unrecognised deferred tax asset 11,792 5,464
Deferrad tax relating to the ongination of temporary differences (91) (18]
Sources of income subject to tax: Defermed tax relating to changes in tax rates or new taxes 8 (15)
Invastment income subject o direct taxation 105,638 106,764 Deferred ax that arises fram the write down / {reversal of a write “ b
Met (loss) / income subject to direct faation {109,256) T2.877 down) of a tax asset
Tolal (loss) { income subject to laxation (3,658} 179,641 Other laxes 4,108 2,795
18,924 24,450

In addition io the above, the income tax on items in other comprehensive income is set out in nole 35.
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33 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 33 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (continued)
2013 2012 Analysis of deferred income tax liabilities 013 202

Analysis of deferred income tax assets: )

Accelerated fax depreciation 1,773 2370
Defined benefit liabilities 3 4490
Mrkeabacd Fohacs o T el inestrronts (1,525) : Paolicy Habllities taxable in the future 40,577 28,923
Uriiaed tat Msasas 1,586 1453 Defined benefit assets ® 13
Of setable tax Rabilies in respect ofpolicy fiabity iming s i Accrued inlau:-st | 902 1,203
differences and other ilems Unrealised gains on financial investments 2175 23,558
Other ilems 2429 a4 Dﬂ-se-luahle tax assels in respect of unused tax losses and 23524) (31.130)
Total deferred income tax assets (note 11) 4,808 1674 other items
Defierred income tax assels to be recovered within one year 2,083 1473 Other items 590 1,326

Total {note 19) 22532 26,373
Unrecognised tax balances:
Tax loszes 204,404 169,366 Deferred income lax liabdities to be setfled within one year 7124 49,978
Potential defermed income tax assets 51,050 43174

Expiry peried for unrecognised tax losses:

2013 - 2601
2014 9160 4181
2015 14,337 14,370
06 18,795 18,807
2017 21,063 21,078
2018 25,750 23552
After 2018 115,299 70,772
Mo specified expiry data - 9,005

204,404 163,366
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34 EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The basic earnings per common share Is computed by dividing esmings attributable to commen
sharehoiders by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, after deducting
treasury shares. Eamings atirbutable fo common shareholders recognise the impact on nel income
of the Company’s convertible redeemable preference shares {note 21.2).

The table below derives the eamings aifributable fo common sharehelders and the basic earmings per
comman share.

2013 2012 restated

Met (loss) / income atiributable to commaon shareholders (36,370) 11,087
Financa costs alifbutable to preference share subscription 6,483 6,483
Amortisation of issue expenses allocated to
preferance share resene et) R
Preference share dividends declared (7.200) {7,800}
{Loss) / earnings aftributable fo common shareholders {37,908) 9,529
Weighted average number of shares in issue in thousands 301,591 301,640
Baslc (loss) [ earnings per common share (12.6)¢ 3.2¢
Atributable fo;
Continuing operafions 125¢ g
Discontinued operation (25.1) (13.9) ¢

The computation of diluted eamings per comman share recognises the dilutive impact of LTI share
grants and share oplions (note 30.1), ESOP shares grants {note 30.1), and the convertible
redeemable preference shares. In computing diluted eamings per share, the income atirbutable to
common shareholders is adjusted by the dilutive impact of the convertible preference shares and the
weighted average number of common shares is adjusted by the dilutive impacts of the aforementioned
share grants, options and preferance shares,

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Amounts expressed in US Sooo

34 EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE (continued)

The {able below derives the adjusted eamings atiibutable to common shareholders, the adjusted
weighted average number of common shareg, and the fully diluted eamings per common share.

Eamings atfributable fo commen shareholders

Weighted average number of shares in issue in thousands
LTI restricted share grants
ESOP shares
Adjusted weighted average number of shares in issue

Fully diluted (loss) | eamings per common share

Aftributable fo:
Confinuing operations
Discontinued operation

2013 2012 restated
(37,908) 9,520
301,591 301,690

3,024 1625

2,535 2,328
307,150 305,643
(12.6)¢ 3¢
12.2¢ 162¢
(24.8) ¢ (13.1) ¢
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35 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (OCl)

Schedule to OCI from continuing operations

2013 2012 restated
After tax OCl is attributable to After tax OCl is atiributable to
it Participati Minori b Participati Minority
articipating inority SADANSE cipating inari
expense  Shareholders palicyholders _ iniaresta Total pu Shareholders policyhoiders  interests Tatal
[terns that may be reclassified subsaquently to
income;
Available for sale assels:
Gains | (losses) arising on revalualion 19,218 {43.215) (15 (4,212 (47 442 (9, 596) 32919 1,251 3,853 38,023
(Gains) ! losses transfermad to income: 1643 {B.404) - (6,360 {14,769) 3,247 {8,087} - {4.041) {13,128}

Net change in actuarial liabilities {13,396) 30.445 - - 30,445 11,035 {21,027 {1,251} - (22,278)
Retranslation of foreign cumrency operations - {18,343 i (18,021) (36.441) - (9,681) 23 (6,960) {18,402
Ofther items - - E E : {%9) (19) C C (19)

7465 (38,522) 192 (28,593) (BB 207) £ BBT {6, &85) 238 {9,148) {15,804)
[tems that will not be reclassified subsequently
{o income:
Gainz / (losses) arizing on revaluation of cwner-
Sosipled (32) 3,108 Tod 3813 41 163 {319) (156)
Defined bensfit gains / (losses) 1,328 {3.240) - {6,235 {9.475) - {6,467) - {1,500) (7,967)

1,296 (131) - (5,531) {5,662) 41 {6,304} {1,819) (8,123)
Total OCl movements & 761 (39,653 {92 (34,124) (73,863) 4708 (13,199) 239 (10,967} {23,927)
Allocated to equity reserves (36.413) (6,713)
Aliocated to refained eamings {3.240) (6,486)

(39,653) (13,189)
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36 CASHFLOWS

361 Operating activities

Adjustments for non-cash items, interest and dividends:

Interest and dividend income

Met investment gains

Wet increasa in actuanal liabilities

Gain on recapture of insurance partfolio
Interest expense and finance cosls
Degpreciation and amortisation

Increase in provision for unearned premiums
Other items

Net increase in investments and operating assets:

Investment property

Dbt securites

Equity securities

Mortgage loans

Palicy oans

Finance leans and finance leases
Sacurifies purchased for re-sale
Deposits

Other assels and receivables

Sagicor Financial Corporation

2013 2012
(251,046} (256, 875)
(36,544) (34,506)
109,764 178,541
{32,155)

74,754 86,362
15,230 15,301
380 212
11,711 {4,227
(75,741) (46,747)
16,616 1,274
(270,725} (142,401)
{23,158) {50,219)
2,785 5,995
(3,332) (913)
(24,504) 2,893
(24,547) (3.413)
{24 426) (5.51%)
(115) (2,260)
{351,404) (193 557)

36.1 Operating activities (continued)

Investment property:
Disbursements

Disposal proceads

Debt securities:
Disbursernents
Disposal procesds

Equity securities:
Disburssments
Disposal procesds

Met increase in operating liabilities:

Insurance liabllities
Investment contraci liabiities
Cther funding instruments
Deposits

Securifies sold for re-purchase
Oiher liabilities and payables

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Amounts expressed in US Sooo

The gross changes in investment property, debt securities and equity securities are as follows.

2013 2012
(1,424) (356)
18,040 1,630
16,616 1274

(1,115,332) (915,967)
844 607 773,568
{270,725) (142 401)
(80,978) (116,964)

67,820 66,745
(23,156) (50,219)

2,007 4251
38,667 37,631
57,330 (13,581)
47,636 15,528
(24.712) (27,019)
62451 (2.818)
163,379 13,084
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362 Investing activities 37 SUBSIDIARY ACQUISITION AND OWNERSHIP CHANGES
2013 2012
: On July 13, 2012, the Group sold an interest in Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited tofaling 8% o the major
Property, plant and equipment. minority shareholder, 0.2% to the Sagicor Life Jamaica LTI plan and an insignificant amaunt of shares
Purchases (19,893} {21,591) to the market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange. The net proceeds on sale totalled $35,416 representing
; cash consideration, and gave rise io a net gain to shareholders of 54,862 which was booked o
Disposal proceeds 1615 1,748 ¥ 7
i retained eamings, and net movements in sharehalders' equily reserves of $1,028,
(18,284) {19,843)
On September 28, 2012, Sagicor Life Insurance Company (SLIC) completed is acquisition of PEMCO
Life Insurance Company (PEMCO Life), a life insurance company based in the State of Washingion,
363 Financing activities USA. Detais of the acquisifion are =&t out below,
2013 2012
Other notes and loans payable; Fair Value Acquiree's
carnying value
Proceeds 43,098 2,055
Repayments (6ed) - Net assets acquired:
42432 2,085 Financial investments 8,004 8,325
Miscellaneous assats and recehvables 122 2,405
364 Cash and cash equivalents Casl s i yea
2013 2012 Policy liabiliies 231 {5, 724)
Cash resaurces 226,370 183,096 Incorrie Eax habiibss (1.868) :
Call deposits and other liquid balances 67,998 44,382 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (108) (114)
Bank overdrafts (1,933) (1,954) Total net asseis 10,230 6,161
Other shorl-term borowings {33,835) [31,827) Share of net assets acquired 10.230
Cash and cash equivalents of discontnued operation (nofe 38) - 19,067 Purchase consideration and rafated costs (7.861)
258,600 213,564 Gain arising on acquisition (nofe 26) 2,369

The gain on acquisition reflects the pricing of the fransaction which valued the insurance liabilities on a
LISA statutary insurance basis. The fair value of the insurance liabibies acquired, were determined
consistently with the Company's accounting policies as set out in nofe 2.12. PEMCO Life was merged
with SLIC effective December 31, 2012
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38 DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On July 29, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement to sell Sagicor Europe and its subsidiaries
fo AmTrust Financial Services, Inc. (AmTrust), subject to regulatory approvals. Final regulatory
appeovals were obtained on December 23, 2013, on which date the sale was compleled.

The operations of the Sagicor Europe operating seament are presented as discontinued operations in
thesa financial stalements, This segmenl comprised the following companies,

Sagicor Europe Country of
Segment Companies il Incorporation
The Cayma
Sagicor Eurape Limited Insurance holding company f
|slands
! Managing agent of Lloyd's of Landan UK - England
5 £ LI Limited
gcor Ly 5 Ly insurance syndicates & Wales
UK= England
Sagicor Corporate Capital Limited ' | Properiy and casualy insurance &w:?m
Sagicor Cayman Reinsurance i The Cayman
Company Linited Property and casualty reinsurance telands
Sagicor Corporate Capital Two i UK England
ifig insL
Limited & HS R & Wales
: : . . Property and casually insurance Ui~ England
Sagicor Syndicate Servicas Limited hins & Weles
: Property and casualty insurance U¥- England
Sagicor Underwriting Limited ey & Walss
; : 3 i : UK- England
Sa Syndicate Holdings Limited | S
gicor Sy n ings Lim BIVICE Company & Wales
Sagicor Claims Property and casually insurance USA -
Management Inc claims management California
U} Liayd's of Londan corparate undanariting member paricipating in Syndicate 1206
12 Lloyd's of London corporate underwriting member parficipating in Syndicate 44

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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38 Discontinued operation (continued)

The Group's effective shareholder's interest in these companies prior to divestment was 100% and the
effective legal interest was 33%.

The consideration for the sale was 55,178,000 (391,313), represanting the assumption by AmTrust
of indebiedness of Sagicor Europe and its subsidiaries to Sagicor.

The f2rmz of the sale required the Company to take certain actions and provide certain commitments
which inciuded:
+  The purchase prior to the sale by Sagicor of the legal 7% shareholding interest held by the
minority shareholders;
+  Future price adjustments to the consideration, representing adjusted profils or losses from
January 1, 2013 in the run-off of the 2011, 2012 and 2013 underwriing years of account of
syndicates 1206 and 44, the tolal price adjustments subject to a imit.

Immediztely prior to the sale, Sagicor purchased the minority shareholdings for $1,157. The minority
sharehoiders were parficipating employess whao had subscribed in cash for shares of Sagicor Europe,
Each parficipating employes had contracted with Sagicor Europe and the Company under & share
subscription agreement. Under the provisions of these agreements, parficipating empioyees could
exercise a put option to the Company to acquire their shares at the prevailing falr value, The first
franches of put options vested in 2012 and 2013 representing 7% of the total shareholding and were
exercised for cash consideration of $1,305. The put oplions were accounted for as cash setiled share
based payment arangements,

As of December 31, 2013, the price adjustments have bean estimated at £33,268,000 (355024)
which has been recorded as a liability to AmTrust. The anficipated settiement dates are as follows:

March 31,  March 31,  March 3,

2014 2016 2019 s

Payable [ (recovery) 34,262 33,758 {12,356) 55,024

The price adjustments have a limit of a further £41 223,000 ($68,137) which is the Group's maximum
possible contingent liability for future price adjustments.
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38 Discontinued operation (continued)

The price adjustments are subject to insurance risk (a5 indicated in note 3.5) and lo invesiment and
fareign currency risk as the results of run-off of the undenwriting years up to 2013 could vary if there
are future deviations in projected underwriting returns, invesiment retums and foreign exchange rates.

After accounting for its status as a discontinued cperation and for the details of the sale, the net loss
recognised in the statement of income and the statement of comprehensive income is as follows.

Period to
Statement of income December 23, 2012
2013
Loss from operations (33,247) {31,790
Write-down of carrylng value of investment in Sagicor Eurape (21,123) (10,244)
Expensas incurred on sale {2,800) -
Available for sale asset falr value loss realised on sale (B23) -
Currency translation loss realised on zale (17,615) -
Met loss {75,508) (42,034)
Other comprehensive income:
[tems thal may be reclassified subsequently fo income:
Fair value reserve for available for sale assels:
Net fair value movements prior fo sale (147) (395)
Cumulative loss transferred to income on sale 623 -
Met currency translafion movements prior to sale 1,181 543
Currency translafion |oss transferred to income on sale 17,615 -
Other comprehensive loss 18,272 144
Total comprehensive loss {56,236) (41,890)
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38 Discontinued operation (continued)

Details of the loss from aperations were as follows.

Revenue
Premium revenue

Reinsurance premium expense

Mat investmeant income

Fees and other revenue

Benefits and expenses
Policy benefits and change in actuanial iabdities
Policy benefits and change in actuarial liabdities reinsured

Administrative expenses, deprecialion and amortisation
Brokerage commissions

Loss before taxes and undernoted items
Incomae ta

Finance costs for Funds at Lloyd's

Foreign exchange and cash-settled compenzation
Loss from operations

Sagicor Financial Corporation

Amounts expressed in US Sooo

Period to
December 23, 2012
203

313,537 372 382
{47 559) (60,253)
265978 311,423
4,330 8227
{4,139) 3,810
266,169 323460

212 648 230,353
(31,216) (29,896)
181,432 200,457
41,951 39,105
77,455 99,520
300,838 338,091
{34,660) {15,631)
10,366 (4,484)
{11,548) (3,717)
2,604 (1,958)
(33,247) (31,790)
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38 Discontinued operation (continued)

Included in premium revenue and rensurance premium expense are property and casualty insurance

lines as follows:;
Gross premium Ceded to reinsurers

2013 2012 2013 2012

Direct property 134,072 96,065 24,719 21,159
Direct motor (6, 269) 51,483 {5) 4 853
Direct accident and liabdity 133,406 141,321 15,813 20,378
Reinsurance assumed 749,762 61,671 6,084 14,001
290,971 351,440 45611 0,392

Included in policy benefils and change in actuarial Nabilities (reinsured) are property and casualty

insurance claims as follows;

Gross banefil Ceded to reinsurers
2013 2012 2013 2012
Direct property 87,801 45,938 30,908 13,528
Direct molor (2.789) 36,214 (5, 148) (4,507}
Direct accident and ability 83,268 112,495 2,068 16,230
Reinsurance assumed 29,206 29,550 3250 4 466
207 574 295 237 31,078 20715
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38 Discontinued cperation (continued)

Met cash flows from the discontinued operation were as follows:

Periodto  Year ended

Dacember 23, December 31,

213 2012

Operating activities (20,653) (50,668)

Investing activities (167) (1.821)
Financing activities 1,150 -
Cash on disposal (61,069} -
Effects of axchange rate changas 1,857 451

(78,882) (52,008)

The assets and liabilities held for sale of the discontinued operation as of Decemnber 31, 2012 are sat

cut in the following tables,

Assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assels

Financial investments 1

Reinsurance assels ™

Income tax assels

Miscellaneous assels and receivables

Cash resources

2013 Annual Report 133

2012

544
24727
346,735
116,653
12,097
186,319
18,717
705,732



Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

38 Discontinued operation (continued)

w2

Liabilities

Insurance liabilities ™ 603,807

Provisions 3,271

Accounts payable and accrued liabiities 23890
630,877

1 Financial investments included $48 918 in deposils which were pledged as collateral for the leter
of credit facility (note 39). Financial investments included debt securities fotaling $188,425 which
were carred ai fair value and classified as Level 1 financial instruments (ses note 41.5).

¥ Included in insurance liabilities were property and casually benefits payable of $440.952 and
provisian for Unearmed property and casualty premium of $155,459. The cormesponding reinsurers'
share of property and casualty policy benefits payable totalling 396,175 and reinsurers' share of
uneamed properly and casualty premium fotaling $19,032 were both included in refnsurance
assels,

Under the terms of sale, the banker's letter of credit facility and the reinsuranca financing facility werne
cancelled. The bankers letter of credil was secured by 550,104 which was retumned to Sagleor in
January 2014, These funds are included in olher receivables (note 12). As a result of the sale,
Sagicor hag no Funds at Lioyd's in respect of the 2013 and prior underwriting years of account,

The banker's letter of credit facility had financial covenants with respect to tangible net warth, interest
coverage ratio, financial strengih and permitted liens. These covenants were safisfied except for the
interest coverage rabo for the year ended December 31, 2012 and for the financial strength coverage
from February 2013 until the cancellation of the letter of credit in December 2013. During this tatter
pericd, the Bank issued a waiver of the financial strength obligation.
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39 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantee and financial facifibes at the date of the financial statements for which no provision has
been made in these financial statements include the following:

2013 2012

Customer guarantees and |etiers of credst 1 12,372 8,933
Letier of credit facdity (note 38) = &4.236
12,372 93229

) There are equal and offsetting claims against customers in the event of a call on the above
commitments for customer guarantees and letiers of credit,

(a) Legal proceedings

During the normal course of business, the Group i5 subject to legal actions which may affect the
reported amounts of liabifities, benefits and expenses, Management considers that any liability from
these acfions, for which provisicn has not been already made, will not be material,

() Tax assessments

The Group is also subject to tax assessmenls during the normal course of business, Adeguate
provision has been made for all assessments received to date and for fax liabilfies accruing in
accordance with management's understanding of fax regulations. Polential fax assessments may be
received by the Group which are in addibon to accrued tax Babilities. Mo provisions have been made
in these financial statements for such potential tax assessments.
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40 FAIR VALUE OF PROPERTY

Investment and owner-occupéed property are cared at fair value as determined by independent
valuations using internationally recognised valuation lechnigues, Direcl sales comparisons, when such
dala is available, and income capitafisation methods, when appeopriate, are included in the
assessment of fair values. The highest and best use of a property may also be considered in
determining its far value.

Some fracts of land are currently used for farming operations or are un-developed or ane leased fo
third parties. In determining the fair value of all lands, their potential for development within a
reasonable perod Is assessed, and If such potential exists, the falr value reflects thal potential. These
lands are mostly in Barbados and the Group has adopted a policy of ordery development and
fransformafion fo realise their full potential over time.

The fair value hierarchy has been applied to the valuations of the Group's property. The different
|evels of the hierarchy are as follows;
»  Leval 1 - fair value is determined by quoted un-adjusted prices in active markets for
identical assets;
«  Level 2 - fair value is determined by inputs other than quated prices in active markets that
are obsenvable for the asset either directly or indirectly;
= Level 3 - fair value is determined from inputs that are not based on cbservable market
data,

The results of applying the fair value hierarchy to the Group's property as of December 31, 2013 are
as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Investment property - - 98,369 98,389
Owner-occupied lands - - 38428 38428
Owner-occupied land and buidings - - 66,281 66,281

: - 203078 203078
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40 Fair value of property (continued)

For Leve 3 investment property, reasonable changes in fair value would affect net income.  For Level
3 owner occupied property, reasonable changes in fair value would affect other comprehensive
income. The following table represents the movements in Level 3 property for the current year.

Owner-occupied
Investment — TP oy
property Lands o i
buildings
Balance, beginning of year 115,224 38 428 65,124 218776
Additions 1,340 . 1,408 2748
Transfers in { (out) 875 . (616) 259
Fair value changes recorded in net
investment income 0 i (31) e
Fair value changes recorded in other
comprehensive income B i L Bohil
Disposals and divestilures {16,978} - {1,581) (18,559)
Effect of exchange rate changes {3.072) - {1,351) (4,423)
Balance, end of year 96,369 8428 66,281 203,078

2013 Annual Report 135



Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

41 FINANCIAL RISK

The Group's activities of issuing Insurance coniracts, of accepting funds from depositors, of investing
insurance premium and deposit receipts in a variety of financial and other assets, banking and desling
in securities, exposes the Group to various insurance and financial risks. Financial risks include cradit
default, Bquidity and market risks. Market risks arise from changes in interest rates, equity prices,
currency exchange rates or other market factors. The principal insurance risks are identified in notes
42 and 43.

The overriding objective of the Group's risk management framework is ta enhance its capital base
through compefitive earnings growth and to protect capital against inherent business risks, This
means that the Group accepts cerain levels of risk in order lo generate retums, and the Group
manages the levels of risk assumed through enterprise wide risk management policies and
proceduras. ldentified risks are assessed as to their potential financial impact and as to their likelihood
af neourrance.

The amounts disclosed in this note and in notes 42 and 43, exclude amounts in the statemeant of
financial position classified as assels of discontinued operation and as fabiliies of discontinued
operafion.
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41.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the exposure that the counterparty to a financial instrumenl is unable to meet an
obfigation, thereby causing a financial loss to the Group. Credit risks are primarily associated with
financial imvestments and reinsurance confracts held.

Credit risk from financial investments is minimiged through holding a diversified portfolio of
imvesiments, purchasing secunties and advancing lsans only after careful assessment of the
borrower, oblaining collateral before advancing loans, and placing deposits with financial instituions
with a sfrong capital base. Limits may be placed on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one
borrower.

The Group has developed an intermal credit rating standard. The internal rafing is & 10 point scate
which allows for distinctions in risk characteristics and is referenced fo the rafing scales of
international credit raling agencies. The scale is set oul in the following table.

Sagicor
Category Riek Classification 5&Pp Moody's Fitch AM Best
Rating
1 Mimimal risk AAA, AY Aga Aa | AAA AA | aaa a3
ikl 2 | Lowrisk A A A a
grade
3 Moderate risk BEB Baa BEB bbb
= | Non- 4 Acceptable risk EB Ba BB bb
& | investment
E grade 5 Average risk B B B b
=
i Higher risk COC,CC | Caa Ca | CCC.CC | coc,co
Watch
7 Special mention G C c c
g Substandard DoD
Default 9 Dioubiful D C DD d
10 Loss B
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#1.1 Credit risk ([continued)

The Group applies this raiing scale to three categories of exposures;

* Investment portfolios, comprising debt securities, deposits, securities purchased for re-sale, and
cash balances;

+ Lending portfolios, comprising mortgage, policy and finance loans and finance leases,

* Reinsurance exposures, comprising remsurance assefs for ife, annuity and health insurance (see
note 43.3) or realistic disaster scenarios for property and casualty insurance (see note 42.3).

The 3 defaull grades are used for lending portfolics while investment portfolios and reinsurance
exposunes use one default grade: 8.

Thie maximum exposures of the Group to credit sk without taking into account any coltateral or any
credit enhancements are set out in the following table.

2013 202

$000 % 000 %
Investmeant portfalios 3620468 TRT 3.463,330 B1.7
Lending portfolios 5h6883 118 544 35T 12.8
Reinsurance assets 316,274 6.7 82,363 14
Oiher financial asssts 162,557 34 118,860 28
Total financial statement exposures 4,656,192 086 4,208,910 99.2
Loan commitments 40,728 0.9 21073 0.5
Customer guarantees and letters of credit 12,372 0.2 §,893 0.3
Other 13,626 0.3 . -
Total off financial statement exposures 66,726 14 30,066 0.8
Total 4722918  100.0% 4238876 100.0%

The amounts in respect of customer guarantees and letters of cradit represent potential claims against
cusiomers in the event of a call on cuslomer guarantees and letters of credit issued by the Group.
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41.1 Credit risk (continued)

The Group's largest exposures o individual counterparty credit risks as of December 31, 2013 and
2012 are set out below. The individual rafings reflect the rating of the counterparty Bsted below, while
the amounts include exposures with subsidiaries of the counterparty.

Sagicor Sagicor
Risk 2013 Rizk 2012
Rating Rating
Investment portfolios:
Government of Jamaica 5 BE9.609 & 964,133
Government of Trinidad and Tobago 2 148 897 2 135,768
Government of Barbadoz 4 301,385 4 281,570
The Bank of Nova Scolia 1 T4 866 1 67,213
Government of 5t Lucia 5 70,370 4 48 205
The Federal National Morigage Association 1 88,020 1 86,054
ederal Homa
The Fi : Loan Morigage 1 66,444 1 64,689
Corporation
Lending portfolios:
Value Assets International 5.A, and Egref
4 8.4 4 548
Limited 59,452 52,
Reinsurance assets:
Guggenheim Pariners {1 5 229,433 nia nia

i The reinsurance asset held in the name of Guggenheim Partners are secured by assels held in
trust totalling $230,255 (2012 - Snil).
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411 Credit risk (continued) 411 Credit risk (continued)

(a) Invesiment portfolios {b} Lending porifolios

The results of the risk rating of investment portfolios are as follows: The resuits of the risk rating of lending portfolios are as follows:

Investment portfolios Lending portfolios
2013 2012 2013 2012
RI:::Q Classification Exposure  Exposure | Exposure Exposure RT::H Classification Exposure  Exposure | Exposure Exposure
$000 %o $000 % §000 % 000 %
1 Minimal risk 484 677 13% 472,923 14% 1 Minimal risk 134,565 24% 125,296 23%
2 Low risk 677,896 19% 640,588 18% 2 Low risk 101,367 18% 127,126 23%
3 Moderate risk 792690 22% 688,242 20% 3 Maderata risk 122,481 22% 125,575 23%
4 Acceptable risk 432679 12% 450,758 13% 4 Acceptable risk 37,076 [k 13,480 2%
5 Average risk 1,182,436 33% 1,136.269 33% 5 Average risk 54,500 10% 51,103 b
& Higher risk 15,849 0% 38,772 1% (i Higher risk 13,250 2% 10,459 2%
7 Special mention 6,461 v 3,103 0% T Special mention 904 0% 3720 1%
8 Substandard 535 0% 4,247 0% B Substandard 10,877 2% 13474 2%
TOTAL RATED EXPOSURES 3,602 223 9% 3,435903 9% g Dioubtful 2381 0% 3,325 1%
UN-RATED EXPOSLURES 18,245 1% 27427 1% 10 | Loss 2469 0% 4.271 1%
TOTAL 3,620 468 100% 3463330 100% TOTAL RATED EXPOSURES 479,970 #5% 477,838 B7%
UN-RATED EXPOSURES 76,923 15% 66,518 13%
Investment Porﬂ_:lh:- assels are rrmﬂy unsacured except for securiies pun:!lawd under agreement to TOTAL 556,893 100% 544 357 100%
resell for which title to the securities is fransferred to the Group for the durabion of each agreement.
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£1.1 Credit risk (continued)

Exposure lo credil risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and guaraniees for lending
portfolios, For mortgage loans, the collateral is real estate property, and the approved |oan fimit is 75%
to 100% of collateral value, For finance loans and finance leases, the coliateral often comprises a
vehicle or other form of securily and the approved loan | lease limit is 80% to 90% of the collateral
value. Unsecured finance loans and finance leases are only granted when the initial amount iz tess
than §15.

Policy loans are advanced on the security of the underlying insurance policy cash values. Cash loans
arer advanced o a maximem of B2% to 100% of the cash surmender value, Automatic premium loans
may be advanced to the extent of available cash surmender value.

Exposure fo the lending portfolios by geographic area is as follows.

2013 2012

Barbados 206,762 200,061
Jamaica 123,276 122,865
Trinidad & Tabaga 78,364 85,679
Other Cariobean 91,217 75,043
usA 57,274 60,709
556,893 544,357

(c) Pastdue and impaired financial assets

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed fo make payment whaen confractually due.
The Group is most expased to the risk of past due assats with respect lo its debt sscurities, mortgage
loans, finance loans and finance leases,

Debt securities are assessed for impairment when amounis are past due, when the borrower is
experiencing cash flow difficuities, or when the borrower's credit rating has been downgraded.

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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#1.1 Credit risk (continued)

Morlgage loans less tham 80 to 180 days past due and finance loans and finance leases less than 80
days past due are nof assessed for impairment unless other information is available fo indicate the
contrary,

The assessment for impairment includes a review of the coltateral. If the past due pericd is less than
the trigger for impairment review, the collaleral is not normally reviewed and re-assessed,
Accumulated allowances for impairment reflect the Group's assessment of total individually impaired
assets at the date of the financial statements. The following tables set out the camying values of debt
securities, morgage [oans, finance loans and finance leases, analysed by past due or impakrment
status.

Debt  Mortgage T:":‘:
securities loans leases
2013
Meither past due nor impained 3,175,087 167 522 143,809
Past due up to 3 manths, but nol impaired 6,087 55,945 16,937
Past due up to 12 months, but not impaired 250 11.444 183
Past due up to 5 years, bul not impaired - 4,034 -
Past due over 5 years, bul nol impaired - 6.881 -
Total past due but nof impaired 6,837 78,304 17.130
Impaired assets 8472 1,781 4 011
Tolal carrying value 3,181,776 257 607 165,050
Accumulated allowances on impaired assets 9759 3034 2682
Accrued interest on impaired assets 4,096 318 132
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411 Credit risk (continued)

Debt  Mortgage f;’:‘:':
sacurities loans e
202
Meither past due nor impaired 3107172 173,080 116,082
Past due up to 3 months, but not impaired 11,827 56 458 33,820
Past due up to 12 months, bul not impaired 250 4,516 104
Past due up to 5 years, but not impaired 174 5,763 -
Past due over 5 years, but not impaired 3 6,731 -
Total past due but nof impaired 12,380 78 468 33,924
Impaired assets 4,360 12.824 4,702
Total camying value Ilnax 264 352 154,708
Accumulzted allowances on impaired assets 2452 2,704 3,143
Accrued inierest an impaired assais 20 358 a0

The Group is also exposed to impaired premiums receivable, Propery and casualty insurers
frequently provide settement terms to customers and ntermediaries which extend up to 3 months.
However, under the terms of insurance contracts, insurers can usually lapse an insurance policy for
non-payment of premium, or if there is a claim, recover any unpaid premiums from the claim
procesds.

(d) Repossessed assets

The Group may foreclose on overdue mortgage loans and finance lsans and finance leases by
repossessing the pledged asset. The pledged assel may consist of real esfate, equipment or vehicles
which the Group will seek to dispose of by sale. In some instances, the Group may provide re-
financing to a new purchaser on customary terms.
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411 Credit rigk {continued)
(e) Reneqgofisied assets

The Group may renegotiate the terms of any financial investment fo faciitate borowers in financial
difficulty. Arrangements to waive, adjust or postpone scheduled amounts due may be eniered into.
The Group classifies these amounts as past due, unless the original agreement is formally revised,
miodified or subsftituted,

412 Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the exposure that the Group may encounter difficuly in meeting obigations associated
with financial or insurance liabifities that are setlled by cash or by another financial asset. Liquidity risk
also arises when excess funds accumulate resulting in the loss of opporiunity to increase investment
redums.

Aszet Rability matching s a tool used by the Group to mitigate liguidity risks parficutary in operations
with signficant maturing short-term liabifities. For long-lerm insurance contracts, the Group has
adopted a policy of investing in assets with cash flow characteristics that closely match the cash flow
characieristics of its policy liabilies. The primary purpose of this matching is to ensure that cash
fiows from these assets are synchronised with the timing and the amounts of paymenis that must be
paid to policyholders.

Group companies monitor cash inflows and outflows in each operating currency. Thraugh experience
and monitoring, the Group is able to maintain sufficient liquid resources to meet current obligations.

Ivestment property may be held to back insurance liabilities, As these assets are relatively Miguid,
the insurers hold less than 5% of their total assets in investment property.
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412 Liguidity risk (continued)

(a) Insurance liabilities

The Group's monetary insurance Eabilities mature in periods which are summarised in the folowing table. Amounts are stated at thelr camying values recognised in the financial staterments and are analysed by their
expected due periods, which have been estimated by actuarial or ofher statistical methods.

Expected discounted cash flows

within 1to5 after Total

1 year years 5 years
2013
Actuaal labilties 150,515 547,912 1,616,892 2,324 310
Cther insurance labilites 92,323 12,567 55,980 160,870
Total 251,838 560,479 1,672,872 2,485,189
2012
Actuarial liabilies 123,584 415676 1,501,647 2,040,807
Other insurance fiabilities 85,278 13,177 55,393 153,846
Total 208,860 428,853 1.557.040 2,194,753
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41.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

{b) Financial liablities and commitments

Contractual cash flow obligations of the Group in respect of its financial liabilites and commifments are summarnised in the following table. Amounts are analysed by their eariest contractual maturity dates and
consist of the confractual un-discounted cash flows. Where the interest rate of an instrument for a fuliwe period has not been determined as of the date of the financial slatements, it is assumed thal the interest
rate then prevailing continues until final maturity.

2013 - Contractual un-discounted cash flows 2012 - Contractual un-discounted cash flows
w105 A MRS A
{ye years 5 years byexr years 5 years
Financial llabilities:
Imvestment contract liabifities 301,539 61,773 10,758 374,079 292,711 34, B85 20,375 347,951
Mates and loans payable 13,868 msn - 345,539 11872 299,589 - 311,561
Deposit and security labilities:
Orther funding Instruments 263,009 33,510 8,010 325619 197,734 47,736 2,965 255,435
Customer depaosits 178,566 48,357 - 226,923 160,047 35 654 14 882 211,483
Struciured products 8,548 7823 . 17,371 2,018 8,525 - 10,543
Securiies sold for re-purchase 503,806 23,755 - 527,661 601,348 342 - £01,690
Derivative financial instruments 28,730 5,877 - 34,607 21,706 25,719 = 47425
Bank overdrafts 1,833 - . 1,933 1,954 - - 1,854
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 109,316 21,648 244 131,809 120,473 - 937 121 466
Total financial llabiktes 1,430,605 54,315 20613 1,985,533 1,410,869 452 430 455,208 1,808,508
Off financial statement commitments:
Loan commitmients 14,265 8,187 1,253 23,705 6,402 13,835 836 21,073
Mon-cancellable operating lease and rental payments 7,001 16,581 5,908 29,490 5,895 12678 6511 25,084
Guarantees, accaptances and other financial facilities 10,321 1,817 134 12,372 4,133 4 506 355 8,994
Total off financial statements commitments 31,587 26,685 7,295 65,567 16,430 31,019 7,702 56,151
Total 1462192 561,000 27,908 2,051,100 1,427,299 483,449 53911 1,964,659
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41,2 Liquidity risk (continued)

(e) Financial and insurance assels

The contractual maturity perieds of monetary financial assets and the expected maturity periods of menetary insurance assels are summansed in the following table. Amounts are siated at their camying values
recognised in the financial statements. For this disclosure, monelary insurance assels comprise pelicy loans and reinsurance assels.

2013 - Contractual or expected discounted cash flows 2012 - Contractual or expected discounted cash flows
Maturing Maturing Maturing Maturing Maturing Maturing
within 1to 5 after Total within 1105 after Total
1 year years 3 years 1 year years 3 years
Debt securities 375,653 810,560 2,005,557 319,776 304,367 894, 282 1925273 3izaen
Morigage loans 27,096 31,945 198,566 257,607 20428 34.910 207,014 264,352
Policy boans 5,387 14,851 113,998 134,238 14,753 14,219 96,319 125,297
Finance loans and finance leases 47,044 73,670 44 336 165,050 68,233 57,550 28,925 154,708
Secuniies purchased for re-sale 40,875 - - 40,875 19,497 I - 19,534
Depasits 147,406 11,434 2,607 161,447 134,423 ar 1,084 135,878
Derivative financial insiruments 40,362 4,853 - 45215 27,683 24,358 - 52,081
Reinsurance assels: share of actuarial liabililies 28,968 102,656 152,628 285250 B.422 17,327 32,934 56,683
Reinsurance assels: other 27,260 3,539 225 3,024 21614 3,830 236 25,680
Premiums receivable 36,318 = = 36,318 35712 = = 712
Other assets and accounts recelvable 79,625 534 B65 81,024 34 382 an 32 35,080
Cash resources 228,370 - - 228 370 183,996 - - 183,996
Total 1,083,368 1,054 042 2,518,782 4,656,182 B73,516 1,047,301 2,292,108 4,212 923
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413 Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks. Cash flow interest rale risk is the risk that fulure cash flows
of a financial instrumeant will fluciuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest
rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The cccurence of an adverse change in interest rates on invested assets may
result in financial loss to the Group in fulfiling the contractual retums om insurance and financial
liabilities.

The retumn on invesimenis may be varable, fixed for a term or fixed to matusity, On reinvestment of a
malured investment, the returns available on the new invesiment may be significantly different from the
retumns formerly achieved. This is known as reinvestment risk.

Guaraniesd minsmum refumns exist within cash values of long term traditional insurance contracts, long
term universal life insurance contracts, annuity options, deposit administration labilities and policy
funds on deposit, Where the refums crediled exceed the guaranteed minima, the insurer usually has
the option to adjust the retum from period to perod. For other financial liabdities, returms are usually
confractual and may only be adjusted on contract renewal or contract re-pricing.

Thie Group is therefore exposed to the effects of Muctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase or decrease as a result of
such changes. Interest rate changes may also result in losses if asset and liabifity cash flows are nof
chosely matched with respect to timing and amount.

The Group is exposed to risk under embedded derivatives contained in a host insurance contract,
These risks include exposures lo investiment relums which may produce losses to the insurer arising
from the following contract features:
+  minimum annuify rates which are guaranteed o be applied at some future date;
«  minimum guaranieed death benefits which are applicable when the performance of an
interest bearing or unit linked fund falls befow expeciations;
= minimum guaranteed retuns in respect of cash values and universal life investment
accounts.
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41.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group manages fs interest rate risk by a number of measures, including whers feasible the
selection of assets which best match the maturity of Eabilities, the offering of investment contracts
which match the maturity profile of assets, the re-pricing of interest rates on loans receivable, policy
contracis and fnancial liabiities in response to market changes. In cerfain Carbbean markets, where
availabifity of suitable investments is often & challenge, the Group holds many of its fixed rate debt
securifies to maturity and therefore mitigates the transient interest raie changes in these markets.
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413  Interest rate risk (continued)

The table following summarises the exposures fo interest rates on the Group's menetary insurance and financial liabiities (excluding aciuarial liabilites which are disclosed in note 43), i includes liabilities at camrying
amounts, categorised by the earler of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. Insurance Babilities are categonsed by ther expected matunties.

2013 2012
Exposure  Exposure  Exposure Mot Exposure  Exposure  Exposure Mot
within 1to 5 after exposed to Total within 1to § after exposed to Total
1 year yoars 5§ years interest 1 year years 5 years interest
Other insurance liabilibes 45521 5,133 55,0981 54 235 160,870 42473 4,979 55,383 51,001 153,846
Investmant contract lishilities 300,215 57817 9,169 - 367,001 202 524 33822 19,788 62 3B, 196
Notes and loans payable 683 292,813 - (3,338) 280,160 BG4 243827 - (2935) 241 556
Deposit and security abilities:
Other funding instruments 278,198 27,362 7,699 182 313439 197 426 42,236 5724 289 245 675
Customer deposits 174,979 43133 - 1,080 219,192 157 514 3,715 7.5970 409 198,008
Struciured products 8640 6,016 - 2715 17,371 - 5,708 - 3508 9216
Securifies sold for re-purchase 497 455 23,162 - 3615 224,232 585,923 318 - 5823 591,064
Derivative financial instrumenis - 26,168 - 3,748 29,916 E 43,143 y 3,369 46,212
Bank averdrafts 1,833 - - - 1,833 1,854 - - - 1,854
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,050 - - 121,187 131,237 5,408 - - 108,017 114,425
Total 1,317 672 481,404 T2.848 183,426 2,055,351 1,283,886 405,748 88,875 168,943 1,948,452
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41.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

The table folfowing summarises the exposures fo interest rate and reinvestment risks of the Group's manetary insurance and financial assets, Assets are stated at camying amounts, categorised by the earfier of
contraciual re-pricing or maturity dates. Reinsurance assets and policy loans are calegorised by their expecied maturities.

M3 2012 restated
Exposure  Exposure Exposure Hot Exposure Exposure Exposure Mot

within 1to § after exposed to Total within 1te 5 after exposed to Total

1 year years 3 years interest 1 year years 3 years interest
Debt securities 437 918 860,716 1,788189 44953 3191778 542 794 64,741 1,766,182 50,205 3123922
Equity securities 14811 - . 180,748 195,560 26,498 . - 139,056 165,554
Mortgage loans 122,658 34,703 96,436 3810 257 607 92 925 30,698 136,495 4,234 264,352
Palicy loans 4,368 14,599 110,682 4,587 13,236 13,643 13,993 93,949 3,712 125,297
Finance koans and leases 46,137 73,647 44,238 1,030 165,050 54,248 67,140 42,209 1111 154,708
Securities purchased for re-sale 40,713 - - 162 40,875 19472 - - 62 15,534
Deposits 146,554 11,529 2282 1,082 161,447 133 522 K| 759 1.226 135,878
Derivalive financial insiruments - 24,847 - 20,368 45.215 - 45,695 - 6,386 52,041
Reinsurance assets: other 1.842 . 225 28,957 31,024 - - 238 25444 25,680
Premiums recsivable 2435 - - 33,883 36,318 137 - - 35,575 35,712
Other assels and accounts receivable 1,683 207 T 78107 81.024 1177 264 - 33.039 35,080
Cash resources 163,043 - - 63,327 226,370 97,020 - - 86,976 183,996
Total 1042162 1,020,248 2042077 462015 4,566,502 982,036 912802  2,038.830 387026 4,321,794
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41.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

The table balow summarises the average interest yields on financial assets and liabilifies held during
the year in respect of continuing operations.

2013 2012
Financial assets:
Debl securities B.6% TA%
Mortgage loans 7.5% TEY%
Palicy loans 1% 8.1%
Finance loans and finance leases 10.0% 10.2%
Securities purchased for re-sale 3.7% 5.1%
Deposils 1.8% 2.4%
Financial liabilities
Investment contract liabilities 5:3% 72%
Motes and loans payable 7.2% T.9%
Other funding instruments 2.2% 2.6%
Deposits 36% 38%
Securities sold for re-purchase 4.8% 5.4%

a) Sensitivity

Sensitivity to interest rate risk Iz considered by operating subsidiaries. The effects of changes in
interest rates of assels backing acluaral liabifites are disclosed in note 43.4. The Group's property
and casualty operations are not exposed o a significant degree of interest rate risk, since the majarity
of its interest bearing instruments has short-term maturities. The sensitivity of the Group's principal
operating subsidiaries engaged in banking, investment management and other financial services are
considered in the following paragraphs.
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41.3  Interest rate risk {continued)

Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited and Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited

The following table indicates the sensitivity o a reasonable possible change in interest rales, with alf
other variables held constani, on nel ncome and total comprehensive income (TCI) of the above
conmpanies which operate in Jamalca.

The sensitivity of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on income based on
floating rate debt securibes and financial liabfilies. The sensilivity of TCI is calculaled by revaluing fived
rabe available-for-sale financial assels for the effects of the assumed changes in inlerest rales. The
correlation of & number of variables will have an impact on market risk. It should be noted that
movements in these variables are nonlinear and are assessad individually.

2013 2012
Change in Effect on Change in Effect on
interest rate net E"TE“T“ interest rate o Eﬁ;‘: o
JMD UsD income JMD USD incoma
1% -05% (2,267) 8831 | -1%  -0.5% (2,930) 5712
+25% +&n 6,174 (27.580) | +4% +2.5% 12400 (15,865)

41.4 Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed fo foreign exchange risk as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates since its
financial azsets and liabilities are denominated in a number of different currencies.

In arder to manage the risk associated with movements in curmency exchange rates, the Group seeks

to maintain investments and cash in each operating curency, which are sufficient to match Habilities
denominated in the same curmency. Exceptions are made to invest amounis in United States dollar
assels which are held to back liabilities in Caribbean curencies. Management considers that these
assats diversify the range of investments available in the Caribbean, and in the long-term ane likely fo
aither maintain capital value andlor provide satisfactory refumns.

Aszsets and liabilites by currency are summarised in the following tables.
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41.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

2013 USS 000 equivalents of balances denominated in

Barbados$  Jamaica$  Trinidad § mf:::: Us'$ cu":::: Total
ASSETS
Financial investmentg:! 485,069 566,073 294,038 122,584 2,298 468 229 978 3,006,208
Reinsurance assets 8,201 4 10617 2277 202 327 2098 316,274
Receivables ' 12,051 24730 8,761 6,365 9,885 54,550 117,342
Cash resources 25,244 12,884 24,929 7420 129,525 26,368 226,370
Total monetary assels 530,855 604,351 339,343 138,646 2,730,205 312992 4 656 192
Other assels @ M9, 384 190,941 96,006 34 280 100,589 10,360 641,560
Total assels of continuing operations 740,038 795,292 435,349 172,926 2,830,794 323,352 5,297,752
LIABILITIES
Actuarial liabiities 412,830 288,580 303,083 70,562 1,162,915 BB, 349 2,324,319
Otrer insurance liabilities!! 65,868 18,538 25,696 11,235 26,263 13,280 160,870
Investment contracts 35,787 69,879 116,304 44 852 82,551 TE18 367,001
Moles and loans payable 17.372 - - - 272, TE8 - 250,160
Deposit and security liabities 92 Te2 260,637 1,846 11,865 699,248 39,625 1,106,083
Provisions 30,339 25,088 11,780 %61 1,119 5,796 75,083
Accounts payable and accruals 29,701 30,540 16.541 6,543 42,080 5822 131,237
Total monetary Babilites 684,669 693,262 475,350 146,008 2,296,974 158,490 4,454,753
Other Rabilifies 13,765 3,738 20,378 3,151 20,216 1,541 2,789
Totad liabilities of continuing operaions 698,434 637,000 435,728 148,158 2,317,190 160,031 4,517,542
Net position 41,605 08 292 (80,379) 23,767 513,604 163,321 780,210
I't Monetary balances only

1 Non-monetary balances, income tax balances and refirement plan assels
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41.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

2012 restated USS 000 equivalents of balances denominated in

Barbados$  Jamaica$  Trinidad$ ﬂ::::: uss c“";"':; Total
ASBETS
Firanclal investmentgit 454 135 650,945 298 187 105 539 2.135,364 231,802 3875772
Reinsurance assets 6,739 1,097 10,023 1,843 59,492 3,169 82 363
Receivables (1 9,818 27,078 8084 8,290 5,851 6,758 66,779
Cash resources 11,308 12423 713 5,694 95,700 24,068 183,99
Total monetary assels £82,090 691,543 351,907 121,368 2,296, 407 265 597 4,208 910
Other assels @ 210,959 210,196 20,711 29275 82,505 10,754 634 415
Total assels of conlinuing operations 893,053 a01,739 442 618 150,641 2,378,912 276,356 4,543,325
LIABILITIES
Actuarial liabifities 406,366 316,058 286,238 43,626 205,565 83,034 2,040,807
Other insurance liabilities!! 64,951 20,080 25472 8,801 26,477 7,965 153,846
Invesiment contracts 34,969 74,214 109,957 308,525 79,848 7683 346,196
Motes and loans payable 16,199 - » % 225,357 = 241,556
Deposit and security liabilites 65,719 300,716 2174 10,261 654, 747 68,812 1,002 429
Provisions 28,994 10,900 10,887 1,145 848 5847 58 621
Accounts payable and accruals 30,288 24 581 11,522 8,271 33,786 5877 114 425
Total monetary Rabillties 647,506 746,649 446,250 111,723 1,826,628 169,218 4,047 980
Other liabilifies & 14,387 7,501 18,798 2,615 20,965 1,719 66,966
Total liabilities of confinuing operations 661,873 754,150 466,049 114,344 1,947,583 i?ﬂ.g._."r? 4,114,848
Net position 31,186 147 539 123,431} 36,297 431,319 105,419 728,379
I't Monetary balances only

1] Non-monetary balances, income tax balances and retirement plan asssts
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414 Foreign exchange risk (continued)
(a) Sensitivity

The Group is exposed to currency risk in its operating cumencies whose values have noticeably
fluctuated against the United States dofiar (LIS0),

The exposure to currency risk may result in three types of risk, namely:

' Currency risk relating to the fulure cash flows of monetary balances

This ocours when a monetary balance is denominated in & cumency other than the functional currency
of the reporting unit to which it belongs. In this instance, a change in curmrency exchange rates results
in the monetary balances being refranslated at the date of the financial statements and the exchange
gain or loss is taken to income (nofe 26,

. Currency risk of reported results of foreign operations

This occurs when a reporting unit's funcliona! currency depreciales or appreciates in value when
refranslated to the USD, which is the Group's presentational cumency. In this instance, the conversion
of the reporting unit's results at a different rate of exchange results in either less or maore income being
conzolidated in the Group's income statement,

; Currency risk of the Group's invesiment in foreign operations

This pccurs when a reporting unit's funclional currency depreciates or appreciates in value when
retranskated to the USD, which is the Group's presentational currency. In this instance, the conversion
of the reporting unit's assels and liabilites &l a different rate of exchangs resulls in a curency boss of
gain which is recorded in the currency translation reserve (note 22). If the reporting unit was disposed
of, either whally or in part, then the comesponding accumulated loss or gain in the currency translation
resarve would be transferred to income or retalned earnings.

The operating currency whose value noficeably fluctuate against the USD is the Jamaica daollar (JMD).
The theoretical impact of JMD currency risk on reported resuls and of the Group's Investment in
foreign operations is considered in the following section.
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414 Foreign exchange risk (continued)
JMD currency risk

The effect of 2 10% depreciation in the JMD relative to the USD arising from JMD reparting units as of
December 31, 2013 and for the year then ended are considered in the following table.

Amounts denominated in Total Effect of a 10%
JMD uso amounts depreciation
Financial position:
Assels 887 102 760,513 1,647 615 {88,710
Liabilities 704,768 557 731 1,267 500 {70,877}
Mgt position 177,333 202,782 380,115 (17,733)
Represented by:
Currency risk of the Group's investment in foreign operations {17,733
Income statement:
Revenue 459,242 41,522 500,764 (24,378)
Benefits {193,623) (6:1,015) (254,638 19,362
Expenses {110,697) {2,018) {112,816) 11,080
Income laxes {5,632) - {5.632) 563
Net income 149,080 (21,512) 127,578 B, 637
Reprasented by
Currency risk relating to the future cash flows of monetary balances 21,546
Currency risk of reported resulls of forsign operations {14,909
6,637

A 10% apprecaation in the JMD relative o the USD would have equal and opposite effects to those
disclosad above.
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is measured according to a fair value hierarchy which refiects
the significance of market inputs in the valuation. This hierarchy is described and discussed in
sections (i) o (i) below.

{il  Level 1 unadiusted quoled prces in achive markets for identical instrumeants.

A financial instrumenl is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and
regulary available from an exchange or ather independent source, and those prices represent achual
and reqularly occumng market transactions on an arm's length basis. The Group considers thal
marke! transactions should occur with sufficient frequency that s appropriate for the particular market,
when measured over a continsous period preceding the date of the financial statements. I there is
na data available fo substanfiate the frequency of market transactions of a financial instrument, then
the nstrument is nol classified 2s Level 1.

{il  Level 2 - inputs that are ohservable for the instrument, either directly or indirectly

A financial instrument is classified as Level 2 if;
*  The fair value is derived from quoted prices of similar mstruments which would be classified
as Level 1; or
»  The fair value is defermined from quofed prices that are cbservable but there is no data
available to substantiale frequent market trading of the instrument.

In estimafing the fair value of nonraded financial assets, the Group uses a variety of methods such
a3 obfaining dealer quotes and using discoimted cash flow techniques. Wherse discounted cash flow
techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are discounted at market derived rates for
govermment securities in the same country of sue as the security; for non-government securities, an
interest spread is added fo the derived rafe for a similar government security rate according fo the
perceived additional nsk of the non-govermnment security.
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41.5 Fair value of financial instrurments (continued)

In assessing the fair value of non-raded financial Fabilities, the Group uses a varely of methods
including obtaining dealer quotes for specific or simitar instruments and the use of intemally
developed pricing modeds, such as the use of discounted cash flows. f the non-fraded liabifity is
backed by a pool of assets, then its value is equivalent to the value of the underlying assels.

Ceriain of the Group's poficy liabiiities are unil linked, ie. derive their value from a poal of assets
which are carried al fair value. The Group assigns a fair vaiue hierarchy of Level 2 o the contract
liability if the liability represents the unadjusted fair value of the underlying pool of assets.

fiiy  Level3=i for the instrument that are nof based on dala.
A financial instrument is classified as Level 3 i
«  The fair value is derived from quoted prices of similar instruments that are observable and
which would be classified as Level 2 or

«  The fair value is derived from inputs that are nol based on observable market data.

Level 3 available for sale securities comprise primarily of corporate and government agancy debt
instrumants issued in the Caribbean, with significant amounts in Jamaica and Trinkdad. The fair values
of thesa instruments have been derived from December 31 market yields of government instruments
of similar durafions in the country of issue of the instruments.

Level 3 assels designated include morlgage loans and securities purchased for re-sale for which the
full income retumn and capital retuns accrue to holders of unit linked pobicy and depesit administration
canfracts. These assets are valued with inputs other than observable market data.

The techniques and methods described in the preceding section (i) for non traded financial assets
and liabilities may also used in determining the fair value of Level 3 instruments.
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

{g) Financial instruments carmed at fair value

23 212
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Laval 2 Level 3 Total
Available for sale securities:
Dbt securilies 327 742 1,734,391 11,981 2074114 204 056 1,690,840 35,188 2,020,084
Equity securities 50,808 2283 5643 92 375 39,883 3518 8082 80,361
38T BG40 1,757,225 21,624 2,166,489 333,919 1,722,356 44,170 2,100,445
Investments at fair value through income:
Debt securities 22674 57,235 68,397 148,308 23,181 83,780 - 116,941
Equity sacuribes 20,268 76,992 5,925 103,185 6,678 70,807 7608 85,193
Derivative financial instruments - 28,488 16,727 45,215 - 45,892 6,189 52,081
Morigage loans . = 36,838 36,838 " 2 40,212 40,212
Securities purchased for re-sale - - 162 162 - - 177 177
42,942 162,715 128,048 333,708 29,839 210,579 54 186 294 604
Total assets 430,582 1,919,240 149,673 2,500,195 363,758 1,932 935 98,356 2,395,043
Total assets by percentage 7% T 6% 100% 15% B1% 4% 100%
Investment contracts:
Linit linksd deposil administration labilites = - 114,374 114,374 = = 104,084 104 084
Deposit and security liabilities;
Structured products " - 17,371 17371 % - 2216 9.216
Derivative financial instruments " 23916 - 29,916 - 46,512 # 46,512
- 29916 17371 47,287 - 46,512 9216 55,728
Total liabilitles - 23916 131,745 161,661 - 46512 113,300 158,812
Total liabilities by percentage 0% 19% B1% 100% 0% 29% 71% 100%
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Balances tolalling $165 have been transferred from Level 1 to Level 2 in 2013 (2012 - $10,018). There have been no other material transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 instruments during 2013 and 2012,

For Level 3 nstruments, reasonable changes in mputs which coud be appied to the valuation of available for sale securifies would affect other comprahensive income, Reasonable changes in mputs which could
be applied to the valuations of investments designaled al fair value are largely offset in income, since the changes in fair value are borne by conlract holders. Changes in the valuations of struclured producls
refiect changes in the underlying securities and are bome by the contract holders. The following fable presents the movements in Level 3 instruments for the year.

2013 2012 2013 2012
‘;:’:' ':t'f:’:::'u': Derivative Total Total policy | Stuctured ot Total
instruments ets ets roducts liabiliti liabiliti
securities through income ot g gt liabilities b e ok
Balance, beginning of year 44 170 94 106 6,189 144 465 136,758 104,084 23.216 113,300 96,184
Agditions 3,768 7,321 8,834 43923 42 300 - - - -
Issues - - - - - 11,147 8313 20,460 15254
Transfars in - - - - 2 - - - -
Setbemenis - - - - - (5,379) - {5,379) (4,295)
Fair value ch rded within net i tment
| i value changes reco in met inves! 1288 463) 12303 13,128 6,199 . . . .
income
Fair value changes recorded within interest expense . . E . - 5,524 - 5,524 5922
Fair valua changes recorded in other comprahensive 28 " 2 28 m ; ; ; ;
income
Disposais [2,509) (18.88T) {10,599) (31,795) (37, 758) - - - -
Transfers out of Level 3 {20,599) - - (20,599) - - o o -
Effect of exchange rate changes (4,522 (455) - (5477 {3,077 (1,002) (1,158) {2,160) 235
Balance, end of year 21624 111,322 16,727 148673 144 465 114,374 17,371 131,745 113,300
Fair value changes recorded in investment income
- 118 7388 7,506 230 - - - -
for instruments held at end of year (230)
Fair value changes recorded in interest expense for . : = - - 5524 : 5,524 6922

instruments held at end of year
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

(b}

The carrying values of the Group's non-traded financial assets and financial liabifites carmried at
amortised cost approximate their fair value in notes 10, 12, and 20. The fair value hierarchy of other
financial instruments carred at amortised cost as of December 31, 2013 is set out in the following

tables.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Held to maturity securities:
Debt securfies - 20,466 - 20,466
Loans and recaivables:
Dbt sacurities - 349,140 632,346 981,486
Mortgage loans - 22302 199,125 221 427
Policy loans - - 141,464 141 454
Finance loans and finance leases = - 161,631 161 631
Securities purchased for resale = - 40,713 40,713
- 371,442 1175279 1,546,721
- 381,808 1475279 1,567,167
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments {continued)

Investment contracts:
Deposit administration liabilities
Other investment contracis

Notes and loans payable:

Canvertible redeemable preference
ghares

Motes and lease payables

Deposit and security liabilities
QOther funding instruments
Customer deposits

Securities sold for repurchase

Sagicor Financial Corporation
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Level 2 Level 3 Total
1,830 117 582 119,512

: 135,876 135,876

1,830 253,458 255 388
115,339 5 115,339
200,098 1,301 201,489
315437 1,391 316,628
- 316,632 316,632

95,261 140,132 235,393
- 825,267 225,267
85,261 952 031 1,077 2492
412628 1236880 1,649,508
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

()  Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from changes in the market values of its equity

securities. The Group mitigates this risk by establishing overall limits of equity holdings for each
investment portfolio and by maintaining diversified hoidings within each portfollo of equity securities.

Sonsifivity

The sensitivity to fair value changes in equity securities arises from those instruments classified as
available for sale. There s no significant sensitivity to those instruments classified at fair value through
incoma, since fair value changes are bome by policy confract holdars,

The effects of an across the board 20% change in equity prices of the Group's available for sale
equity securities as of December 31, 2013 on total comprehensive income before tax (TCIBT) are as
Tollows.

20% change
Available for sale equities Carrying value on TCIBT
Listed on Caribbean stock exchanges and markets 19,659 3,932
Listed on US stock exchanges and markets 65,081 13.016
Listed on other exchanges and markets 7,635 1,527
892,375 18.475

41,6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group's derivative activities give rise fo open positions in portfolios of dervatives. These
positions are managed to ensure that they remain within acceptable risk levels, with matching deals
being utilised to achieve this where necessary. When entering into derivative fransactions, the Group
employs its credit risk management procedures fo assess and approve polential credit exposures,
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41.6 Derfvative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

Derivatives are carried at fair value and presented in the financial statements as separate assets and
liabdlities. Assef values represent the cost to the Group of replacing a¥l transactions with a fair value in
the Group's favour assuming that all refevant counterparties default at the same time, and that
fransactions can be replaced instantaneously, Liabilty values represent the cost to the Group
counterparties of replacing all their transactions with the Group with a falr value in their favour if the
Group were lo defaull. Derivative assets and liabilities on different transactions are only set off if the
transactions are with the same counterparly, a legal right of sel-off exists and the cash flows are
intended 1o be selfled on a net basis. The coniract or nofional amounts of derivatives and their fair
values are set out below.

Contract / Fair value

netional

S Assels Liabilities
2013
Derivatives held for trading:
Currency forwards 2763 2683 2,763
Cross cumency swap 24,965 24 965 26,313
Equity indexed options 317,699 17,568 840

345427 45,218 29,916
2012
Derivatives held for trading:
Currency forwards 2544 2716 2644
Cross cumency swap 42643 42 643 43,304
Equity indexed options 120,040 B,663 474

165,327 52,081 46,512
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41.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities {continued)

{1 Currency forwards and swaps

Currency forwards represent commitments to buy and sell foreign cumencies on 2 gross basis at
future dafes at specified prices, The credit risk s evaluated for each coniract and is collateralised
where deemed necessary. The curency forward contracls are setiled on a gross basis. Inforce al
December 31, 2013 and 2012 is a contract to buy US dollars and sell Euros which expires in
MNovember 2014

fi) Cross cumency swap

A Group company enlered into a currency swap with an initial notional principal amount of Euro 45
million maturing in February 2015. Under the terms of this swap, the Group company pays Euro at a
rate of 5% and recefves 4.26% in US dolkars on the notional principal amount.

The Group company obtains principal and interest in Euros on a promissory nofe included in debt
securifies classified as financial assefs at fair value through income in note 9.

(i) Equity indexed options

The Group has purchased equity indexed options in respect of structured products and in respect of
fife and annuity insurance contracts.

For certain structered product confracts with customers (note 17), equity indexed opfions give the
holder the abifity to participate in the upward movement of an equity index while being protectad from
downward risk, The Group is exposed to credit risk on purchased options only, and only to the extent
of the camying amaount, which is their fair value,
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416 Derivative financial Instruments and hedging activities (continued)

For certain universal ife and annuily insurance confracts, an insurer has purchased custom call
opfians that are selected fo materially replicate the policy benefits that are associated with the equity
indexed components within the policy confract. These oplions are appropriate to reduce or minimise
the rizk of movements in specific equity markets. Credit risk that the insurer has regarding the options
is mitigated by ensuring thal the counterparty is sufficiently capitalized. Both the asssf and the
associated acluarial liability are valued at fair market value on a consistent basis, with the change in
values being reflected in the income statement The valuations combine external valuations with
internal calculations.

42 [INSURANCE RISK - PROPERTY & CASUALTY CONTRACTS

Property and casualty insurers in the Group are exposed fo insurance risks such as underwriting,
claims and avadability of reinsurance, and to credit risk in respect of reinsurancs counterparlies.

Sagicor General Insurance is the principal insurer within the Group's confinuing operations that issues
property and casually insurance confracls, It operales malnly in Barbados and Trinidad and Tobago.

The principal insurance risks affecting property and casually confracts are disclosed in the folowing
seclions.

421 Underwriting risk

Risks are priced to achieve an adequate refurn on capital on the insurer’s business as a whole. This
return is expressed as a premium farget retun. Budgeted expenses and reinsurance costs are
included in the pricing process. Varous pricing methodologies, including benchmark exposure rales
and historic experience are used and are generally applied by class of insurance. Al methods
produce a technical prce, which is comparad against the market fo establish a price marngin.

Sagicor Financial Corporation



Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

421 Underwriting risk (continued)

Annually, the overall risk appefite is reviewed and approved, The risk appeiite is defined as the
maximum loss the insurer is willing to incur from & single evenl or proximals cause. Risks ars only
undenwritten if they fall within the risk appetite. Individual risks are assessed for their contribution to
aggregate exposures by nature of risk, by geography, by comelation with other risks, before
acceptance. Underwriling a risk may include specific lests and enquiries which determine the insurer’s
assessment of the risk. Insurers may also establish deductibles, exclusions, and coverage limits which
will limit the potentfial losses incurmed.

Inaccurate pricing or inappropriate underwriting of insurance contractz, which may arise from poor
pricing or lack of underwriting conirol, can lead to either financial loss or reputational damage fo the
Insurer,

42.2 Claims risk

Incurred claims are friggered by an event and may be categorised as:

+  allritional losses, which are expected to be of reasonable frequency and are less than
established threshold amounts;

*  large losses, which are expected to be refafively infrequent, are greater than established
threshoid amaunts;

+ catasirophic losses, which are an aggregation of |csses ansing from one incident or
proximate cause, affecting one or maore classes of insurance. These losses are infrequent
and are generally very substantial,

The insurer records claims based on submissions made by claimants. The insurer may also obtain
additional information from loss adjustors, medical reports and ofher specialist sources. The initial
claim recorded may only be an estimate, which has to be refined over fime unidl final setflement
occurs. In addition, from the peicing methodology used for risks, it is assumed thal at any particular
date, there are claims Incurred but not reported (IBMNR])
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422 Claims risk [confinued)

Claims risk is the risk that incurmed claims may exceed expected losses. Claims risk may arise fram
+  invalid or fraudulent claim submissions;
»  the frequency of incurred claims;
«  the severity of incumed claims;
«  fhe development of incurred claims,

Claims risk may be concentrated in geographic locations, altering the risk profile of the insurer. The
most significant exposure for this type of risk arises where a single event could result in a large
number of claims. Concentration of risk is miligated Ihrough risk selection, line sizes, evenl limits,
quata share reinsurance and excess of loss reinsurance.

Tolal insurance coverage on Insurance policles provides a quantitative measure of absolule risk.
However, claims arising in any one year are a very small proportion in relation ta the total insurance
coverage provided, The folal amounts insured by the Group at December 31, gross and net of
reinsurance, are summarised by class of insurance.

Total insurance coverage 203 2012
Property Gross 5,899,030 5,999,415
Net 1,347,863 1,347,844
Motor Gross 346,662 346,662
Net 173,331 173,31
Accident and liability Gross 2053672 2,053,702
Net 995,697 995 697
Total Gross B,3%9,364 8,399,779
Net 2,516,891 2,516,872
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422 Claims risk (continued)

The insurer assesses its exposures by modelling realistc disaster scenanos of potential catastrophic
evenls, Claims arising from wind siorms, earthquakes and floods and events triggering mulli-coverage
corporate [iability claims are considered to be the potential sources of catastrophic losses arising from
insurance risks. A realistic disasler scenario modelled for 2013 is presented below and resulls in
estimated gross and net losses.

Gross loss Net loss

A Barbados and SL Lucla windstorm having a 200 year retum

204 483 5,000
period.

The occurrence of one or more catasirophic events in any year may have a matenal impact on the
reported mel income of the Group.

42.3 Reinsurance risk

To limit the potential loss for single policy claims and for aggregations of catasirophe claimg, the
insurer may ceds certain levels of risk fo a reinsurer. Reinsurance however does nof discharge the
insurer's liabflity. Reinsurance risk is the risk thal reinsurance s not available to mitigate the polential
Ioss on an insurance policy, The risk may arise from

+  fhe credit risk of holding a recovery from a reingurer,

+ the unavailability of reinsurance cover in the market at adeguale levels or prices,

+  the failure of a reinsurance layer upon the cocurmence of a catastrophic event.

The Group selecls reinsurers which have well established capability to meel their conlractual
obligations and which generally have a Sagicor credil risk rating of 1 or 2. Insurers also place
reinswrance coverage with various reinsurers to fimit thedr exposure to any one reinsurar.

The reinsurance programmes are negotiated annually with reinsurers for coverage generally overa 12
month period. It i5 done by class of insurance, though for some classes there is aggregation of
classes and / or subdivision of classes by the location of risk.
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42.3 Reinsurance risk (continued)

For ils properly risks, insurers use quota share and excess of loss catasfrophe reinsurance treaties fo
oblain reinsurance cover. Catastrophe reinsurance s obtamed for multiple claims arising from one
evant or occurming within a specified time period. However, treaty limits may apply and may expose
the insurer to further claim exposure, Under some treaties, when frealy limits are reached, the insurer
may be required to pay an addiional premium fo rsinstale the reinsurance coverage. Excess of loss
catastrophe reinsurance treaties typically cover up to four separate catastrophic events per year,

For other insurance risks, insurers limit their sxposure by evenl or per person by excess of loss or
guata share treaties.

Retention limits represent the level of risk retained by the insurer. Coverage in excess of these limits is
ceded to reinsurers up to the treaty Bmit. Claim amounts in excess of reinsurance treaty lmits revert fo
the insurer. Principal features of retenfion program used by Sagicor General for its property insurance
class is summarised in the following table.

Type of risk Retention by insurers - currency amounts in thousands

«  maximum retention of $5,250 for a single event;

»  maximum retention of 55,000 for a catastrophic event;

Property «  guota share retention to maximum of 30% in respect of treaty mils;

* guota share relention s further reduced fo a maximum of $750 per
event.

The effects of reinsurance ceded are disclosed in nofes 14, 24 and 27 and information on reinsurance
balances is included in notes 10, 20 and 41.

In order to assess the patential reinsurance recoveries on the occurence of a catastrophic insurance
event, the Sagicor credil risk ratings of the reinsurance recoverable are assessed using the following
realistic disaster scenario;
= Hurricane with a 250 year return period affecting Barbados and St Lucia and an earthquake
with a 250 year retum period affecting Trinidad within a 24 hour period.

Sagicor Financial Corporation




Motes to the Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2013

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

42.3 Reinsurance risk (continued)

The reinsurance recovenes derived from the foregoing are assigned internal credit ratings as fiollows:

RI:::u Classification E':;:"" E'p'“;“"

1 Minimal risk 208,430 4%

. Low risk 381,617 B2%

3 Maoderate risk 23,118 A%

4 Acceplable risk - 0%

& Bwerage risk - 0%

[} Higher risk - (%

¥ Special menticn : 0%

8 Substandard = 0%
TOTAL 613,165 100%

43 INSURANCE RISK - LIFE, ANNUITY & HEALTH CONTRACTS

Insurers are exposed to insurance risks such as product design and pricing, mortality and morbidity,
lapse, expense, reinsurance, and actuarial Sabdity estimation in respect of life, annulty and health
contracts. Disclosure of thess risks is s&l out in the following sections.

431 Contracts without investment returns

These contracts are principaily term life, critical Mness and health insurance. Individual term life and
crifical Mness products are generally long-lerm confracts while group term life and health insurance
products are generally one year renewable, The principal Insurance risks associated with these
contracts are product design and pricing and martality and marbidity,
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43.1 Contracts without investment returns (continued)

(a)  Product design and pricing risk

Product dessgn and pricing risk arises from poorly designed or inadeguately priced condracts and can
lead to both financial loss and reputational damage to the insurer.

Risks are priced to achleve an adequats return on capital on the insurer's business as a whale. In
determining the pricing of an insurance confract, the insurer considers the nature and amount of the
risk assumed, and recent experence and industry stafistics of the benefits payable. Pricing
inadequacy may arise either from the use of inadequate expenence and stafistcal data In deriving
pricing factors or from markel softening conditions,

The underwriting procass has established pricing guidelines, and may include specific medical tests
and enquiries which determine the insurer's assessment of the risk. Insurers may also establish
deductibles and coverage limits for health risks which wil imif the polential claims incurred, Term life
and criical Mness nsks have limitations of insured amounts, The prcing of a contract therafora
consisis of esiablishing appropriate premium rates, deductibles and coverage limits.

(b) Mortality and morbidity risk

Martality risk s the risk that worsening mortality rates will resuft In an increase of death claims,
Marbidity is the incidence of disease or iiness and the assocated risk is that of increased disability
and medical ctaims. Insurance claims arg triggered by the incumence of a medical claim, the
diagnosis of a critical iness or by death of the person insured.

Far contracts providing death benefits, higher morality rates would result in an increase in death
claims. The Group annually reviews its martality experience and compares it fo industry martality
tables, This review may result in fulure adjustments to the pricing or re-pricing of these confracts,

Critical #lness claims arse from the dizanosis of a specific ifness incummed by the policy beneficiary.
The Group annually reviews ils critical liness ciaims experencs and compares It to industry statistics.
This review may result in fulure adiustments (o the pricing or re-pricing of these contracts.

The concentration risks of term life and critical iliness contracts are included in the related disclosure
an other long-term contracts in note 43 2(k).
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431 Contracts without investment returns (continued)

The cost of health related claims depends on the incidence of beneficiaries becoming ill, the duration
of their Biness, and the cost of providing meaical services. An increasa in any of these three factars
will result In Increased health insurance claims. In such circunstances, the insurer may adjust the
pricing or re-pricing of these contracts.

For health Insurance confracts, the concentration of insurance nisk is Bustrated by the distribubon of
premium revenue by the location of the insured persons.

2013 Premium revenue by location of insureds Gross Ceded Net
Barbados 20811 1,087 19,824
Jamaica 77480 1,799 75,681
Trinidad & Tobago 21,629 745 20,884
Other Caribbean 25.853 1,343 24510
USA 182 158 24
Total 146,055 5132 140,923
(¢} Sensitivity of incumed claims

The sensitivity of term life and critical ilness clzims is included in the related disclosure on other long-
term confracts in nofe 43.4. The impact on gross claims of increasing the total liabilty by 5% for un-
reinsured heatth insurance clalms is llustrated in the following table.

2013 2012
5% Increase 5% increasa
Liabil Liabil
™ in abilty abillty i babiity
Actuarial liability 42,174 2,109 37,742 1,887
Claims payable 2,687 134 2632 132
44,861 2,243 40,374 2,019
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43.2 Contracts with investment returns

Life and annuity insurance contracts with investment returms generally have durations of 5 or mone
years., The contract terms provide for the policyholder to pay either a single pramium at contract
inception, or periodic premiums over the duration of the contract. From the premium recsived,
acquisifion expenses and maintenance expenses are financed. Investment refums are credited to the
policy and are avaliable to fund surmender, withdrawal and maturity palicy benefits, The principal risks
associated with these policies are in respect of product desion and pricing, mortafity and longevity,
lapse, expense and investment,

(a) Product design and pricing risk

Product design and pricing risk arises from poory designed or inadequately priced contracts and can
lead to both financial loss and reputational damage to the insurer,

Risks are priced to achieve an adequate return on capital on the insurer's business as a whole. In
determining the pricing of a confract, the insurer considers the age of the policyholder andlor
beneficiary, the expenses and taxes associated with the contract, the prospecive investment retums
to be credited to the contract, and the guaranteed values within the contract, Pricing inadequacy may
arise either from the use of inadequale experience and statistical data i deriving pricing factors or
from future changes in the economic environment,

(b) Morality and longevity risk

Martality risk is the risk that worsening mortality rates will result in an increase of death claims.
Longevity risk is the risk that improving mortafity rates will lengthen the payout period of annuities,

Far confracts providing death benefits, higher mortality rates will result in an increase in death claims
over time. For contracts providing the payout of annuities, improving mortality rates will lead to
increased annuity benefits over ime. Insurers annually review their moriality experience and compare
it o Indusstry mortality fables. This review may resull in future adjustments fo the pricing or re-pricing of
these confracts.
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432 Contracts with investment returns (continued)

Maortality risk may be concenirated in geographic locations, affecting the risk profile of the insurer. The
most significant exposure for this type of risk arises where a single event or pandemic could result in 2
larga number of claims,

Total insurance coverage on insurance policies provides a guantitative measure of absolute mortality
risk, However, claims arising in any one year are a very small proportion in relation fo the total
insurance coverage provided, The total amaunts insured by the Group at December 31, gross and
net of reinsurance, are summarised by peographic area below.

2013 mz2

Tokal I MANoG CoARTROR Individual Group Individual Group
contracts contracts contracts contracts

Barbados Gross 3443539 1,575,665 3,218,071 1,732 691
Met 3,085 268 1,508 962 2 861,245 1,561,202

Jamaica Gross 6,495,724 4,362 914 6,765,112 3,676,730
Net 6,262 554 4,349 803 6,478,833 3,676,730

Trinidad & Tobagoe  Gross 2,778,294 1,640,918 2,602 855 1,564,189
Met 2,208 915 1519513 2,037,974 1,455,987

Other Caribbean Gross 7,146 664 2532003 6,542 572 2,990,004
Met 5,833,715 1872424 5181479 1,945,312

UsA Gross 3,954 741 57,145 3,942 610 64,262
Met 1,731,024 53,809 1,709,847 58,076

Total Gross 23,818 962 10,168,735 23,001,220 10,027,876
Met 19,120,474 9304611 18,279,378 8,718,407
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432 Contracts with investment returns (continued)
(e) Lapse risk

Lapse risk is that, on average, policyholders will terminate their policies ahead of the insurer's
expactation. Early lapse may result in the following:
+  Acouisition costs are not recovered from the policyholder;
* In order to sefile banefits, invesiments are Bquidated pramaturely resuliing in a loss to the
insurer;
*  Maintenance expenses are allocated o the remaining policies, resulting in an increase in
EXpEnSa risk.

(d) Expense risk

The Group monitors palicy acquisition and policy maintenance expenses, Expenses are managed
through policy design, fees charged and expense confrol. However, there are a significant number of
inforca coniracts for which insurers have limited or no ability fo re-price for increases in expenses
caused by inflation or other factors. Therefore growth in maintenance expenses has to be funded
gither by increasing the volume of inforce policies or by productivity gains. Failure fo achieve these
qgeals will require increases in actuarial liabilfies held.

(e} Investment risk

A substantial proportion of the Group’s financial investments suppart insurer abligations under life and
annuity contracts with investment retumz. The financial risks oullined in note 41 pertaining o credit,
liguidity, interest rate, foreign exchange and equity price are considersd integral investment risks
associabed with these insurance contracls,

Asset defaults, mismatches in asset and liabilty cash flows, interest rate and equity price volatility

generally have the effect of increasing investment risk and consequential increases in actuarial
liakbilities hetd.
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41.3 Reinsurance risk

To limit its exposure of potentizl loss on an insurance policy, the insurer may cede certain levels of
risk to a reinsurer. The Group selecls reinsurers which have well established capability to meet their
coniractual obligations and for new business a Sagicor credit risk rating of 1 or 2 is usually selacted,
Reinsurance ceded does not discharge the insurer's abdity and failure by & reinsurer fo honour its
commitmenis could resull in losses to the Group.

Insurers have [imited their exposure per person by excess of loss or quola share Ireaties, Retention
limits represent the level of risk retained by the insurer. Coverage in excess of these limils is ceded to
reinsurers up to the freafy mi. The principal features of retenfion programs used by insurers are
summarised in the follawing table,

Retention by ingurers
- curmancy amaunts in thousands

Retention per individual to a maximum of $75

Type of insurance contract

Health insurance contracts with individuals

Health nsurance contracts with groups Retention per individual to a maximum of $75

Life insurance contracts with individuals Retention per individual life o a maximum of $500

Lifes insurance confracts with groups Retention per individual life fo a maximum of $330

43.4 Sensitivity arising from the valuation of actuarial liabilities

The estimation of actuanial liabdities is sensitive fo a number of assumptions, Changes in those
assumptions could have a significant effect on the valuation resufts which are discussed below,

Tha valuation of actuarial liabifities of life insurance and annuity contracts is sensifive fo;
+  the economic scenario used,
+  the investments allocated fo back the [iabfities,
*  the underlying assumpiions used (note 13.3 (p) to (f), and
*  the margins for adverse deviations (nate 133 (g)).
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434 Sensitivity arising from the valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued)

Under Canadian accepled actuarial slandards, the A& is required fo fest the actuarial Rability under
economic scenarios. The scenarios developed and tested by insurers were as follows,

Sensitivity Scenario
Sagicor Life Inc Sagicor Jamaica
Sagicor USA segment
sagment Segment 4 4
ither doubl h d
Worsening Lnlp::amt::ﬁ?: gt R0 Lapse  rates  were
rate of lapse e doubled.
Assumed increases in the
invesiment portfolio yield | Assumed increases in
e i | A 1% Increase was
High interest | rates of 0.25% per year for | the investment portfolic Bed o the in 5
rate 5 years, with the rates | yield rates of 0.5% for 10 :
s partfolio rate,
remaining constant yEars.
thereafier,
Assumed decreases in
_ investment portfolio yield .f.ssumed dacma;as_ in &A% Aereite: was
Low interest | rates of 0.25% per year for | investment portfolio yield . L
: applied to the investment
rate 5 years, with the rates | rales of 0.5% per year e
remaining constant for 10 years. g
thereafier.
! o ! il For life  insurance
Mortality and morbidity rates for insurance and crifical o 1nks oty e Ve
Worsening ilness producis were increased by 3% of the base rate 5
; assumed rates  were
mortality and per year for 5 years. ceanend annimly by
|
morbidity For annuity products, the mortality rates were 3% cumulativel U“!':r e
decreased by 3% of the base rae for 5 years. !
nent 5 years,
Higher Policy unit maintenance expense rates were increased by 5% per year for 5 years
aXpenses above those reflectad in the base scenario,
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43.4 Sensitivity arising from the valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued)

The foflowing table represents the estimated sensitivity of each of the above scenarios to net actuarial
liabilities for insurers by segment. Correlations that may exist between scenario assumptions were not
axplicitty taken into account.

Sagicer Jamaica Sagicor Life USA
segment segment

Sagicor Life segmant

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 Mz

Base net actuarial

fability 864,680 823715 458188 424308 700225 723137
Seanario increasa in liability increase in liability  increase in liability
Sisrsariag e 108,682 79214 42921 45106 24967 19077
of lapse

High interest rate (146739) (124,698)  (90058) (B1408) (42476) (41,925)
Low interest rate 206820 160513 116950 120,139 48998 48,167
Worseningmortaliy ! oc0ng 25037 25871 27030 15276 14618
marbidity

Higher expenses 30,777 26,811 17413 18,136 5478 4,812
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435 Dynamic capital adequacy testing (DCAT)

DCAT is a technique used by the Group to assess the adequacy of the insurer's financial position and
financial condiion in the light of different future economic and policy experience scenarios. DCAT
assesses the impact over the next 5 years on the insurer's financial position and financial condition
under specific scenarias,

The financial position of an insurer is reflected by the amounts of assets, liabilites and eguity in the
financial statements at a given date. The financial position therefore relies on the valuation
assumptions used for establishing the actuarial lizbilities belng adequate to measure future adverse
deviations in experience. The financial position does not offer any indication of an insurer's ability to
execute its business pian.

The financial condition of an insurer at a particular date is its prospective ability at that date to meet its
future obligations, especially obligations to pollcyholders, those to whom it owes benefits and 1o its
shareholders. The financial condition analysis examines both an insurer's ability fo execute its
business plan and to absorb adverse experence beyond that provided for when its actuaral Sabilities
are established.

The purpose of the DCAT s
*  fo develop an understanding of the sensitivity of the fotal equify of the insurer and future
financial condifion to changes in various experience factors and management policias;
»  toalert management to materal, plausible and imminent threats to the insurer's solvency;
» and fo describe possible courses of action to address these threats.

Full DCAT is conducied periodically by some insurers within the Group.
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44 FIDUCIARY RISK

The Group provides investment management and pension administration services to investment and
pension funds which involve the Group making abocation, purchase and sale decisiong in relation to a
wide range of investments. These services give rise 1o fiduciary risk that may expose the Group fo
claims for makadministration or under-performance of these funds.

I the ordinary course of business, the Group manages assets of pension funds, mutual funds and
unit trusts which are held in & fiduclary capacity and are not included in the Group's financial
statements. The invesiments and cash under administration are summarised in the following tabls.

2013 02

Pension and insurance fund assets 1,282 487 1,318,748
Mutual fund, unit trust and other investment fund assets 431,816 439,73
1,714,303 1,758,478

Fee income under adminisiration iz discussed in Note 26,
45 STATUTORY RESTRICTIONS ON ASSETS

Insurers are registered to conduct insurance business under legislation in place in each refevant
jurisdiction. This legisiation may prescribe a number of reguirements with respect to deposits,
investment of funds and solvency for the protection of policyholders. In general, these requirements
do not resirict the ability of the nsurer fo trade investments. Banking subsidiaries may also be
required to hoid deposits with Central Banks which regulate the conduct of banking operations.

To satisfy the above requirsments, invested assels and cash tolaling $1.202 220 (2012 - 1,371 B7E)
have been deposited wilh regulators o are held in inust to the order of regulalors.

In some couniries where the Group operates, there are exchange controls or other restrictions on the
remiftance of funds out of thase counires,
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46 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's objeclives when managing capital, which ks a broader concept than equily in the
statement of financial position, are:
«  To comply with capiial requirements esfablished by insurance, banking and other financial
intermediary regulatory autharities;
«  To comply with inlematicnally recognised capital requirements for insurance, where local
regulations do not meet these international standards;
+  To safeguard itz abifty as a geing concem to continue fo provide benefitz and refurns to
podicyholders, depositars, note-holders and shareholders;
*  To provide adequate refurns fo shareholders;
*  Tomaintain a strong capital base to support the future development of Group operations,

46.1 Capital resources

The principal capital resources of the Group are as follows:

M3 2012
Shareholders' equity 512,097 587034
Minarity intsrest 218,751 226,433
Modes and loans payabée 290,180 241,556
Total financial statement capital resources 1,022,008 1,065,023
Letter of cradit facilities, net of collateral assets - 35,318
Tolal off financial slatement resources - 35,318
Total capital resources 1,022,008 1,090,341

The Group deploys its capilal resources through its operating activities. These operating activities are
camied oul by subsidiary companies which are either insurance enfities or provide other financial
services. The capital is deployed in such & manner as to ensure that subsidiaries have adequate and
sufficient capital resources to carmy out thelr sctivities and to meet regulatory requirements.
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46.2 Capital adequacy
The capifal adequacy of the principal operafing subsidianes is discussad in this section,
(a) Life insurers

Capital adequacy is managed at the operating company level. It is calculated by the Appointed
Actuary and reviewed by executive management, the audit committee and the board of directors. In
addition, the Group sesks to mainiain internal capital adequacy at levels higher than the regulatony or
internationally recognised requirements.

To assist in evaiuating the current business and strategy opporiunities, 8 rsk-based capital approach
is & core measure of financial pedformance. The risk-based assessment measure which has been
adopted is the Canadian Minimum Condinuing Capital and Sumpluz Requirement (MCCSR) standard.
The minimwm standard recommended by the Canadian reguiators for companies 5 an MCCSR of
150%. A number of jurisdictions in the Carbbean region have no internaticnally recognised capital
adequacy reguirements, and in accordance with its objectives for managing capital, the Group has
adopted the Canadian MCCSR standard, Jamaica and the LUSA have recognised capilal adequacy
standards.

The consolidated MCCSR for the Sagicor Group as of December 31 has been eslimated as 2559%
(2012 = 250%). This is the principal standard of capital adequacy used to assess the overall strength
of the Sagicor Group. However, because of the varations in capital adequacy standards across
Jurisdictions, the consolidated resull should be regarded as applicable to the Group as a whole and
not necessarily applicable to each individual segment, insurance subsidiary or insurance subsidiary
branch,
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462 Capital adeguacy {continued)

(i} Sagicor Life Jamaica

Sagicor Life Jamaica is govemnad by the Jamaican MCCSR regime which requires an insurer fo
maintain & minimum ratio of 150%. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, this ratio was
180% and 163% respectively.

(i) Sagicor Life Insurance Company (USA)

A rigk-based capital (RBC) formula and model were adopled by the National Associafion of Insurance
Commissioners (MAIC) of the United Slates. RBC is designed lo assess méinimum capital
requrements and raise the leve! of protection thal siatutory surplus provides for policyholder
obligations. The RBC formula for [ife insurance companies measures four major areas of rsk (i)
underwriling, which encompasses the risk of adverse loss developments and property and casualty
insurance product mix; (i) declines in asset values arising from credit risk; (i} dechines in asset values
ariging from invesimenl risks, including concentrations; and (iv) off-balance sheet risk arising from
adverse experience from non-controlled assels such as reinsurance guarantees for afiliates or other
contingent liabiities and reserve and premium growth. If an insurer's statutory surplus is lower than
required by the REC calculation, it will be subject to varying degrees of reguiatary action, depending
on the level of capital inadequacy.

The RBC methodology provides for four levels of regulalory action. The extent of regulatary
intervention and action increases as ihe ratio of surplus to RBC falls. The least severe reguiatory
action is the "Company Action Level” (as defined by the NAIC) which requires an instrer to submit a
plan of corrective actions to the regulator if surplus falls below 200% of the RBC amounL.

Sagicor Life Insurance Company loaks 1o maintain at least 300% of the Company Action Level, and
has maintained these ratios as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 respectively.
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46.2 Capital adequacy (continued)

(b} Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited and Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited

Capital adequacy and the use of reguialory capital are monitared monthly by management employing
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Financial Services Commission (FSC), the Bank
of Jamaica (BQJ), Bagel |1 and the Risk Managemeni and Compliance Unit. The reguired information
is filed with the respective Regulatory Authorities al slipulated intervals. The BOJ and the FSC require
each regulated entity to hold the minimum leve! of regulatory capital, and to maintain a minimum ratio
of fotal regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets.

The risk-weighted assefs are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified
according to the nature of each assel and counterparty, taking inte account any eligible coateral or
guaraniees. A similar trealmenl is adopted for off financial stalements exposurs, wilh some
adjusiments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table below summarises the capilal adequacy ralios. During 2013 and 2012, all applicable
extemally imposed capital requirements were compbed with.

Sagicor
Investments AR Sul
Jamaica
Jamaica
2013 2012 203 2012
Actual capital base to sk weighted assets 15% 1% 1% 1%
Required capital base to risk weighted assets 10% 10% 10% 10%

186 2013 Annual Report

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US Sooo

46.3 Financial covenants

(a) 7.5% senior notes due 2016 and 4.6% notes due 2015

Under an indenture and & trust deed entered into by the Group on the ssue of the senior noles and
notes respectively {zee note 16), the Group has to comply with permitted lien covenants, which wil
nat allow the Company nor any of its subsidiaries o directly or indinectly, incur or parmil o exist any
lien to s2cure any indebledness or any guarantee of indebledniess, other than permitied liens, without
effectively providing that the senior notes and nofes are secured equitably and rateably with {or, if the
obligation o be secured by the fien is subordinated in right of payment to the senior noles and nates,
prios 1o} Ihe cbligations so secured for so long as such obligations are so secured.

Permitied liens are liens existing on the dates of issue of the senior notes and notes respectively,
cerlain liens which would arise in the course of normal business, and ofher liens whose outstanding
principa! amounis in aggregate outstanding principal amount do not exceed 10% of the consolidated
net tangible assels (as ks defined in the indenfure and trust deed). As of December 31, 2013 and
2012, the Group sallsfied these requirements.
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46.3 Financial covenants (continued)

(b} International Finance Corparation {IFC)

On March 31, 2011, the Company entered into subscription and policy agreements with IFC,
regarding the latler's participation in the issue of new common and converible redeemable
prefarance shares. Pursuant fo the aforementioned agreements, on July 18, 2011, 12,269,938
commaon shares and 78,339 530 conviertible redeemable preference shares were issued to IFC. The
financial covenants included in these agreements are summarised as follows.

{ii  Price profection rights

IFC has been granted price protection rights to in relation to the common shares held. |f within a 2
year pefiod of the subscripion date, the Company issues of sells any shares, excepl as pursuant to
any employee stock incentive plan, at a price less than Barbados $3.26 per share, the Company shall
compensaie IFC by the issue o IFC of additionally fully-paid fnue-up shares fo place IFC in the
pasition as if it had subscribed at the lower price.

{ill  Put opiion

IFC has been granted the right to require the Company o purchase |FC's holding of converlible
redeamable preference shares in the event that the Company is in breach of any of the policy
reporting or IFC palicy covenants. The Company may nominate a third party 1o purchase the shares.
The purchase must take place within 10 and 60 days of the date of nofice. If the Company either fails
to purchagze or does not amange a third party purchase, IFC may sell the shares to a thind parfy and
the: Campany is required to pay a late payment charge of B.5% per anaum,
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4T RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed in notes 5 12, 26, 30 and 44, there are no material related party fransactions
except as disclossd balow,

Key management transactions and balances

Key management comprises directors and senfor management of the Company and of Group
subsidiaries, Key management includes those persons at or above the level of Vice President or its
equivaent. Compensation of and loans io these individuals are summarised in the following tables:

Compensation 2013 mz
Salaries, directors’ fees and other shori-term bensfits 21,027 19,044
Equity-setiled compensation benefits 4,359 4,247
Fansion and other retirement banefits 737 2 6B8

26,123 25919
H“T‘:gr: Other loans Total loans

Balance, beginning of year 4,974 420 5,394
Advances 1,345 10,770 12,115
Repayments (BTT) (10,763) (11,640)
Effects of exchange rale changes (1) (32) (33)
Balance, end of year 5,441 395 5.836

Interest rates prevailing during the year §% - 8.25% §% - 17.7%
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48 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 48 Change in accounting pelicy (continued)
The restatements of the prior pericd financial statements arising from the change in accounting policy As Effect of
summarised in note 2(a) are set out in the following tables. Year ended December 31, 2012 previously " As restated
stated
a8 Effect of
Statement of financial position previously - Asrestated Statement of incoms
stated Defined benefit expense (note 31) {10,589) 1,542 (8,047)
December 31, 2012 Net investment income {nofe 25) 295,148 (122) 295,026
Net defined benefit assets (note 12) 2,615 (2,038) 576 A i (181542) (160) (181.702)
Associates and joint ventures (note &) 3,559 5,874 42433 Impact i net income from continuing operations 74,060 1,260 75,320
Miscellaneous assets and receivables (nate 12) 102,714 (4.133) 88,581 Impact to net income attributable to common
- , 52,408 693 33,101
Impact to total assets 5,549,355 {208) 5,545,057 sharehalders fram continuing operations
Basic eamings per comman share fram 16.8¢ 0.3¢ 1714
Wed defined benefit Babdites (nole 18) 43168 15,208 58,376 continuing operations in cents ' : ’
Fully diluted eamnings per common share from
Impact o fofal liabifies 4730715 15208 474592 ontinuiag operalions i tank: e 0.8)¢ 2
Impact o total equity §18.640 {15,5086) 803,134 Statement comprehensive income
Defined benefit losses(nota 35) - (7.96T) (7.96T)
January 1, 2012
Net defined benefit assets (note 12) 3,356 (164) 3,182 Other comprehensive income from continuing (15,679) (8.248) (23.927)
oparations : : "
Impact to total assels 5,364,073 (164) 5,363,909
Tofal comprehensive income attrbutable to
commaon ghareholders from continui 45 676 5,774 38,802
Net defined benefit Rabdilies (note 18) 37420 8,354 45,783 i A : (5774 ;
operations
Impact to total liabiities 4,566,340 8,354 4,574,804
Impact to total equity 797 533 8.518) 789,015
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48 Change in accounting policy (continued)

Total
Retained Minaority Total
Statement of changes in equ Shareholders’
O Ay Earnings : Interests Equity
Equity
Year ended December 31, 2012
Balance, beginning of year as previously reported 200,222 607,135 184,197 797,533
Effect of change In accounting poficy (8,797) {8,747) 279 (8518)
Balance, beginning of year as restated 281425 598,338 188 476 TES.015
Net income from continuing opérations, as previously reported 52 408 52.408 A7 T4,060
Effect of change in accounting poficy 693 693 5ET 1,260
Wet incame from continuing operations, as restated 53,104 53,101 3 T4 75,320
Total comprehensive income from continuing operations, as previously reported (13) (B,732) (9,186) {15,679)
Effect of change in accounting poficy (6,467) (6,467) {1,781) (8,248)
Tota! comprehensive income from continuing operations, as restated (6, 486) (13,199) (10,967} {23,927)
Balance, end of year, as previously reported ZB3.138 801,605 22T 368 818 640
Effect of change in accounting policy {14,571) (14,571) (935) (15,508)
Balance, end of year, as restated 274 565 587,034 226,433 803,134

As there has been no change in share capital, reserves, parficipating accounts, results of discontinued operations and fransactions with holders of eguity instruments, these items have been excluded from the
foregoing tables.
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49 EVENTS AFTER DECEMBER 31, 2013

Acquisition of RBC Jamaica

On January 29, 2014, Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited signed an agreement fo acquire all of the
isswed shares of RBC Royal Bank (Jamaica) Limited and RBTT Securties Jamaica Limited
(codlectivety *RBC Jamaica™) from Royal Bank of Canada. The acquisiion is subject fo regulatory
approvals. As of December 2013, RBC Jamalca had total assels of approximately $509,000.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of US 2 cents per common share, approved for the half-year ended June 30, 2013, was paid on November 15, 2013 to the
holders of common shares, including depositary interest holders, whose names were registered on the books of the Company at the close of
business on Cctober 15, 2013, A final common dividend of US 2 cents per commaon share, payable on May 15, 2014, was approved for the financial
year ended December 31, 2013 to the holders of common shares, including depositary interest holders, whose names were registered on the books
of the Company at the close of business on April 15, 2014. The total dividend on common shares for the 2013 financial year amounted to US 4 cents
per share.

An interim dividend of US 3.25 cents per convertible redeemable preference share was paid on November 15, 2013 to the holders of convertible
redeemable preference shares, whose names were registered on the books of the Company at the close of business on October 15, 2013, A final
dividend of US 3.25 cents per convertible redeemable preference share, payable on May 15, 2014, was approved for the financial year ended
December 31, 2013 to the holders of convertible redeemable preference shares, whose names were registered on the books of the Company at the
close of business on April 15, 2014. The total corvertible redeemable preference dividend for the 2013 financial year amounted to US 6.50 cents per
share.

SHARES

The following Shareholders own more than 5% of the common shares and 3% of the convertible redeemable preference shares respectively in the
Company as at December 31, 2013:

Ciinon Shai Convertible Redeemable
Preference Shares
MNumber of Shares Percentage Mumber of Shares Percentage
International Finance Corporation: 12,269,938 4.04 78,339,530 65.28
Mational Insurance Board, Barbados: 18,950,000 6.24 10,000,000 8.33
Republic Bank Limited —1162: 5,799,496 2.90 4,000,000 3.33

The total number of issued shares as at December 31, 2013 and as at December 31, 2012 is set out below. Mo new shares were issued in 2013,

Common Shares Corwvertible Redeemable Preference Shares

oy

25

m
i
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As at As at As at As at
31-Dec-13 31-Dec-12 31-Dec-13 31-Dec-12
303,917,020 303,917,020 120,000,000 120,000,000




LONC TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (LTI)

The Tables below show grants of restricted stock and stock options as at December 31, 2013 under the LTI for Executives.

Restricted Stock
As of December 31, 2013
Vested in
Award Year Value attributable to Stock Grant Awarfds Wadiard Vested Mot Vested 2013
in Effect
2006-2008 | US$ 1.98,2.01, 2.50 hat4,920 1,314,920 0 0
2009 Us% 1.58, 2.50 1,094 845 1,086,651 8194 22,466
2010 5% 1.60 1,039,089 775125 263,964 133,578
201 LI5S 1.48 1,130,448 07,767 622,681 225,843
2012 5% 1.53 1,486,080 483,081 1,002,999 338,497
2013 5% 1.15 2,134,933 508,995 1,625,988 508,995
8,200,365 4,676,539 3,523,826 1,229,379
Allocated for settlement of tax (385,776)
Total converted to shares 843,603
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Stock Options

Exercise Price

As of December 31, 2013

AuardYear Stuckuofptign t::lr?: E:fii: Vested Exerdsed Mot Exercised Mot Vested | Vested in 2013
2006 st 1.98 771,037 771,037 120,443 650,594 0 0
2007 uss 2.0 1,757,294 1,757,294 72,839 1,684,455 0 0
2008 Us% 2.50 1,224,471 1,224,471 0 1,224,471 0 0
2009 Us% 2.50 1,493,607 1,460,863 0 1,460,863 32,744 340,657
2010 Us% 1.60 2176442 1,584,136 0 1,584,136 592,306 495913
20M LUS% 1.48 2,605,003 1,272,626 0 1,272,626 1,332,377 621,370
2012 Us% 1.53 1,420,462 350,664 0 350,664 1,069,798 350,664
2013 Us% 1.53 2,034,295 0 0 0 2,034,295 0

13,432,611 8,421,001 193,282 8,227,809 5,061,520 1,808,604




ANALYSIS OF COMMON SHAREHOLDING

Common Sharehol ders by Size of Holding

MNumber of Common Shareholders by Size of Holding as at December 31, 2013 [with 2012 Comparison)

Size of Holding Sf:;r;nhbni:i:ir:s ZE::;”;;EEE:‘_); Total Shares Held Percentaff: |:f s
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2002
1-1,000 6,348 6,383 17.37 17.28 31,840,582 | 3,871,773 1.26 1.27
1,001 - 2,500 15,132 15,285 41.40 41.39 25,107,553 | 25,365,443 8.26 8.35
2,501 - 5,000 7,103 7,161 19.44 19.39 24 665,252 | 25,863,373 812 8.18
5,001 - 10,000 4,077 4148 11.14 1123 | 29,070,007 | 29,640,145 9.57 9.75
10,001 - 25,000 2,958 2,997 8.00 812 47 605,565 | 43,181,562 14.02 14.21
25,001 - 100,000 687 707 1.88 1.91 32,945,906 | 33,569,614 10.84 11.05
100,001 - 1,000,000 2325 225 0.62 0.61 66,180,202 | 63,776,716 21.78 20.98
1,000,001 & above 23 22 0.06 0.06 | 79,408,863 | 79,648 394 26.16 26.21
Total 36,547 36,023 100.00 100.00 |303,917,020 (303,917,020 100.00 100.00
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Common Shareholders by Country of Residence

Mumber of Common Shareholders by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2013

Directors, Management,

Country Staff. Advisors Companies Individuals Total
Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders E
Trinidad and Tobago 108 0.30 &78 1.86 15224 41.66 16010 43.21
Barbados 179 0.49 272 0.74 11,507 11.49 11,958 3L 72
Eastern Caribbean 25 0.07 35 0.10 7,082 19.38 7,142 19.54
Other Caribbean 12 0.03 33 0.09 163 046 213 0.58
Other 21 0.06 5 0.0 1,198 1.28 1,224 3.35
Total 345 0.94 1,023 2.30 35179 96.26 316,547 100.00
MNumber of Common Shareholders by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2012
Country Direc;?;;é E;;:E‘:;ﬂ&nt' Companies Individuals Total
Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders E
Trinidad and Tobago 109 0.30 713 1.93 15,31 41.52 16,153 43.74
Barbados 189 0.51 276 0.75 11,675 31.62 12,140 32.87
Eastern Caribbean 25 0.07 35 0.09 7,150 19.36 7,210 19.52
Other Caribbean 14 0.04 43 0.12 167 0.45 224 0.61
Other 21 0.06 8 0.02 1,172 317 1,201 3.25
Total 358 0.97 1,075 2.91 35,495 0612 36,928 100.00




Common Shares held by Country of Residence

Mumber of Common Shares Held by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2013
Country Direc;:;{s% I:;;:Evf:ﬂent, Companies Individuals Total
Shares % Shares % Shares % Shares %
Trinidad and Tobago 2,082179 0.69 73,203,852 24.09 81,510,125 26.82 | 156,796,156 51.59
Barbados 8,014,737 264 | 37050547 | 1249 | 55180005 | 1816 | 101145379 | 13328
Eastern Caribbean 67,021 0.02 1,377,215 0.45 20,003,577 6.58 21,447 813 7.06
Cther Caribbean 629,908 0.21 3,673,086 1.21 1,334,900 0.44 5,637,894 1.26
Cther 1,512,244 0.50 12,705,009 4.18 4,672,525 1.54 18,889,778 6.22
Total 12,306,089 4.05 | 128,909,709 4247 | 162,701,222 53.53 | 303,917,020 | 100.00
MNumber of Common Shares Held by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2012
Country Direclors, Mar'lragement, Companies Individuals Total
Staff, Advisors
Shares % Shares % Shares % Shares %
Trinidad and Tobago 2,037,682 0.67 72878227 23.98 78,514,045 25.83 | 153,429,960 50.48
Barbados 9,141,668 3.01 | 40818555 | 13.43 | 55506507 | 18.26 | 105466730 | 34.70
Eastern Caribbean 64,528 0.02 487,215 0.1e 20,196,355 6.65 20,748,098 6.83
Cther Caribbean 1,530,253 0.50 3,899 762 1.28 508,245 0.20 6,028,260 1.98
Other 576,286 | 0.9 | 12066494 | 427 4701702 | 155 | 18243972 |  6.00
Total 13,350,423 4.39 | 131,050,253 4312 | 159,516,344 52.49 | 303,917,020 | 100.00
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ANALYSIS OF CONVERTIBLE REDEEMARBLE PREFERENCE SHAREHOLDING

Preference Shareholders by Size of Holding

Mumber of Preference Shareholders by Size of Holding as at December 31, 2013 [with 2012 Comparison)

Size of Holding it Tt Total Shares Held DRSARRER Rt aRAS
2013 2002 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
1-1,000 418 416 36.54 36.21 227,309 227,809 0.19 Q.19
1,001 - 2,500 186 189 16.26 16.45 371,404 378,404 0.31 0.32
2,501 - 5,000 257 262 2247 22.80 1,182,810 1,205,810 0.99 1.00
5,001 - 10,000 104 106 9.09 9.23 904, 598 919,598 0.75 Q.77
10,0017 - 25,000 73 69 6.32 6.01 1,334,995 1,259,995 1.1 1.05
25,001 - 100,000 66 67 5.77 5.83 4,039,049 | 4,069,549 337 3.39
100,001 - 1,000,000 33 i3 2.88 2.87 13,217,500 | 13,224,000 11.01 11.02
1,000,007 & above 7 7 0.61 0.61 98,722,335 | 93,714 835 82.27 82.26
Total 1,144 1,149 100.00 100.00 120,000,000 | 120,000,000 100.00 100.00
Preference Shareholders by Country of Residence
MNumber of Preference Shareholders by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2013
Country k recst:;;& f:;:: ger.;ﬂent, Companies Individuals Total
Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders %
USA 0 0 1 0.09 3 0.26 4 0.35
Trinidad and Tobago 12 1.05 73 6.38 408 15.66 493 43.09
Barbados i9 341 43 3.76 565 49.39 647 56.56
Total 51 4.46 17 10.23 a7e &5.31 1,144 100.00




Number of Preference Shareholders by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2012

Directors, Management,

Country Staff, Advisors Companies Individuals Total
Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders %
LISA 0 0 1 0.09 1 0.09 2 0.17
Trinidad and Tobage 13 1.13 71 618 4113 35.94 497 43.26
Barbados 41 3.57 43 3.74 566 49.26 650 56.57
Total 54 4.70 115 10.01 880 85.29 1,149 100.00
Preference Shares held by Country of Residence
Mumber of Preference Shares Held by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2013
Country Dimc;::;ﬁ E;::E‘:;ﬂent' Companies Individuals Total
Shares 2 Shares 2 Shares 2 Shares %
LISA 0 0 78,339,530 65.25 4,100 0.00 78,343,630 65.29
Trinidad and Tobago 500,000 0.42 14,574,507 12.15 4,698,204 J.e2 19,772,711 16.48
Baibidos 2,238,000 1.87 | 19,505,770 | 16.25 139,790 | 012 | 21,883,650 | 18.24
Total 2,738,000 2.28 | 112,419,807 03.68 4,842,103 4.04 | 120,000,000 | 100.00
MNumber of Preference Shares Held by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2012
Country Direc;far;: E;;:Ef:ﬁ ent, Companies Individuals Total
Shares % Shares % Shares % Shares %
LISA 0 0 78,339,530 65.28 1,000 0.00 78,340,530 65.28
Trinidad and Tobage 615,000 0.51 14,381,007 11.98 4,779,704 3.98 18,775,711 16.48
Barbados 2,273,348 1.89 19,490,770 16.24 119,141 0.10 21,883,759 18.24
Total 2,888 848 247 112,211,307 83.51 4,890 845 4.08 | 120,000,000 | 100.00
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We always look beyond

the problem to find a

solution.

Resourceful




ADVISORS AND BANKERS

Finan _-_||

Corporation
APPOINTED ACTUARY
Syhain Goulet, FCIA, FSA, MAAA, Affiliate Member of the (British) Institute of Actuaries
and Affiliate Member of the Caribbean Actuarial Association

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers SRL

LECAL ADVISORS

Allen & Overy LLP, Mew York, USA

Allen & Overy LLP, London, United Kingdom
Carrington & Sealy, Barbados

Barry LV Gale, QC, LLB {(Hons), Barbados

Patterson K H Cheltenham, QC, LLM, Barbados

M Hammel Smith & Co, Trinidad and Tobago

Hobsons, Trinidad and Tobago

Holman Ferwick Willan LLP, London, United Kingdom
Shutts & Bowen LLP, Florida, USA

BANKERS

First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Limited

CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank Limited
RBC Royal Bank (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited
RBC Royal Bank {Barbados) Limited

The Bank of Nova Scotia
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OFFICES

SAGICOR FINANCIAL CORPORATION
Cecil F de Caires Building

Wildey, 5t Michael

Barbados

Tel: (246) 467-7500

Fax: [246) 436-8829

Email: info@sagicor.com

Website: www.sagicor.com

SAGICOR LIFE INC
Sagicor Financial Centre
Lower Collymore Rock

St Michael, Barbados
Tel: (246) 467-7500

Fax: [246) 436-8829
Email: info@sagicor.com
rbados

Ist Avenue, Belleville

5t Michael

Tel: (248) 4677700

Fax: [246) 425-41438
Email: info@sagicor.com

Antigua

Sagicor Financial Centre

#9 Sir Sydney Walling Highway

St John's

Tel: (268) 430-5550

Fax: (268) 480-5520

Emnail: info_antigua@sagicor.com

Grenada

TransMemwil Complex

The Villa

5t George's

Tel: (473) 440-1223

Fax: (473) 440-4165

Email: info_grenada@sagicor.com

St Lucia

Sagicor Financial Centre

Choc Estate, Castries

Tel: (758) 4523169

Fax: (758) 450-3787

Email: info_stlucia@sagicor.com

Trinidad and Tobago

Sagicor Financial Centre

16 Queen's Park West, Port of Spain
Tel: (868) 628-1636/7/8

Fax: (868) 628-1639

Email: comments@sagicor.com

Anguilla
Malliouhana Anico Insurance Co Ltd
Manico Headuarters

Cosley Drive, The Valley

Tel: (264) 497-3712

Fax: (264) 497-3710

Dominica

WillCher Services Inc

44 Hillsborough Street

Corner Hillsborough & Independence Streets
Roseau

Tel: (767) 4402562

Fax: (767) 440-2563

Email: infe_ deminica@sagicor.com

Montserrat

Sagicor Life Inc

Cflo V. Yvette Fenton-Ryan
Ryan lrvestments

P. 0. Box 280

Brades

Montserrat

Tel: (664) 491-3403

Fax: (664 4517307

St Kitts

Sagicor Life Inc

Cfo The St Kitts Mevis Anguilla Trading and
Development Co. Ltd

Central Street, Basseterre

Tel: (869) 465-2476

Fax: (869} 465 6437

5t Vincent

Incorporated A gencies Limited
Frenches

Kingstown

Tel: (784) 456-1159

Fax: (784) 456.2232

SAGICOR GEMERAL INSURANCE INC.
PO Box 150

Beckwith Place, Lower Broad Street
Bridgetown, Barbados

Tel: (246) 431-2336

Faw: [246) 228-8266

Email: sgi-info@sagicorgeneral.com

Sagicor General Insurance Inc.
Haggatt Hall

5t Michael

Tel: (246) 431-2300

Faw: [246) 426-0752

Email: sgi-info@sagicorgeneral.com
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St Lucia

Sagicor Life Inc

Sagicor Financial Centre
Choc Estate

Castries

5t Lucia

Tel: (758) 4520994

Fax: {758) 450-4870

Antigua

Sagicor Life Inc

Sagicor Financial Centre

#9 Sir Sydney Walling Highway
St John's

Tel: (268) 480-5555

Fax: {268) 480-5550

Trinidad and Tobago

122 5t Vincent Street

Port of Spain

Tel: (368) 623-4744

Fax: (868) 628-1639 or (868) 625-1927

Sagicor Gereral Insurance Agencies
HHV Whitchurch & Company Limited
Old Street

PO Box 771

Roseau

Cominica

Tel: (767) 448-2182

Fax: (767} 448-5787

Willcher Services Inc
44 Hillsborough Street

Corner Hillsborough & Independence Streets

Roseau

Dominica

Tel: (767) 440-2562
Fax: (767} 440-2563

JE Maxwell & Company Limited
Linmores Building

Castries

St Lucia

Tel: (758) 451-7829

Fax: (758) 4517271

Email: jermax @ candw.lc

GLOBE FINAMCE INC

& Rendezvous Court

Rendezvous Main Road

Christ Church, Barbados

Tel: (246) 426-4755

Fax: (246) 426-4772

Website: www. globefinanceinc.com

SAGICOR FUNDS INCORPORATED
Cecil F de Caires Building

Wildey, 5t Michael

Barbados

Tel: (246) 4677500

Fax: (246) 436-3529

Email: info@sagicer.com

SAGICOR ASSET MANAGEMENT INC

Cecil F de Caires Building
Wildey, 5t Michael
Barbados

Tel: (246) 4677500

Fax: (246) 426-1153
Email: info@sagicor.com

SAGICOR FINAMCE INC
Sagicor Financial Centre
Choc Estate

Castries

5t Lucia

Tel: (758) 452-4272

Fax: (758) 452-4279

SAGICOR ASSET MANAGEMENT [TRINIDAD AND
TOBAGO) LIMITED

Sagicor Financial Centre

16 Queen's Park West, Port of Spain
Trinidad

Tel: (868) 628-1636/7/8

Fax: (868) 628-1639

MATIOMWIDE INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED
Sagicor Financial Centre

16 Queen's Park West

Port of Spain, Trinidad

Tel: (868) 628-1636

Fax: (868) 628-1635

Email: comments@sagicor.com

BARBADOS FARMS LIMITED
Bulkeley

5t George

Barbados

Tel: (246) 427-5299

Fax: {246) 437-3873

SAGICOR PANAMA SA

Ave Samuel Lewis y Calle Santa Rita
Edificio Plaza Obarric

3er Piso Oficina 201

Panama City, Panama

Tel: (507) 2231511

Fax: [507) 264-1949

Email: capitall @sinfo.net

SAGICOR CAPITAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
LIMITED

Sagicor Financial Centre

Lower Collymaore Rock

5t Michael

Barbados

Tel: (246) 467-7500

Fax: {246) 436-8829



Belize

The Insurance Centre
212 North Front Street
Belize City

Tel: (501) 223-3147

Fax: (501) 223-7390
Email: capitalbe@btl.net

Curacao

Schottegatweg Oost #11

Tel: (529) 9 7356-85538

Fax: (599} 9 736-85735

Email: info_curacao@sagicor.com

Curacao

Guillen Insurance Consultants
PO Box 4929

Kaya E, Salas Mo 34

Tel: (599) 9 451-2081

Fax: (599} 9 461-1675

Email: chris-guillen@betlinks.an

Haiti

Cabinet d'Assurance Fritz de Catalogne
Angles Rues de Peuple et des Miracles
Port-au-Prince

Tel: (509) 3701 1737

5t Maarten

Cfo Charlisa NV, Walter Misbeth Road #9938
Phillipsburg

Tel: (599) 542-2070

Fax: (599) 542-3079

Ernail: capital@sintrmaarten.net

CAPITAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY BAHAMAS
LIMITED

C/o Family Guardian Insurance Company Limited
East Bay & Shirley Street

PO Box 55-6232

Massau, NP

Baharmas

Tel: (242) 393-4000

Fax: (242) 393-1100

Email: infe@familyguardian.com

SAGICOR LIFE ARUBA NV
Fergusonstraat #106

AHMO Plaza Building, Suites 1 and 2
Oranjestad, Aruba

Tel: (297) 532-3967

Fax: (257) 582-6004

Email: calico@setarnet.aw

Lyder Insurance Consultants
Seroe Blanco 564
Tel: (297) 532-6133

LO] HOLDINGS LIMITED
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica

Tel: (376) 929-8920(-9)
Fax: (876) 960-1927

SAGICOR LIFE JAMAICA LIMITED
28-48 Barbados Avenue

Kingston 5, Jamaica

Tel: (876) 929-8320(-9)

Fax: (876) 960-1527

Website: www.sagicorjamaica.com

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ADMINISTRATORS LIMITED
28-43 Barbados Avenue

Kingston 5, Jamaica

Tel: (876) 929-3920(-9)

Fax: (876) 960-1927

Website: www.sagicorjarmaica.com

SAGICOR LIFE OF THE CAYMARN ISLANDS LTD
Global House, 198 Morth Church Street

George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Tel: (345) 942.8211

Fax: [345) 945-3262

Email: global@candw.ky

SAGICOR INSURANCE MAMNAGERS LIMITED
1st Floor Harbour Place

103 South Church Street

George Town

Grand Cayrman

Tel: (345)-949.7028

Fan: [345)-949-7457

SAGICOR PROPERTY MAMNAGEMEMNT SERVICES
LIMTED

78a Hagley Park Road

Kingston 10

Jamaica

Tel: (876) 929-9182

Fax: (876) 929-9187

SAGICOR RE INSURAMCE LTD

Global House, 198 Morth Church Street
George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Tel: (345) 942.8211

Fax: [345) 945-3262

Email: global@candw.ky
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HEALTH CORPORATION JAMAICA LTD

SAGICOR INSURANCE BROKERS LIMITED
28-48 Barbados Avenue

Kingston 5, |Jamaica

Tel: (876) 525-8920(-9)

Fax: (876) 960-1927

Website: www.sagicorjamaica.com

SAGICOR INVESTMENTS JAMAICA LIMITED
Sagicor Bank Building

60 Knutsford Boulevard

Kingston 5, |Jamaica

Tel: (876) 525-5583

Fax: (B76) 926-4385

Email: options@sagicor.com

Website: www.sagicorjamaica.com

SAGICOR BANK JAMAICA LIMITED
Sagicor Bank Building

60 Knutsford Boulevard

Kingston 5, |Jamaica

Tel: (876) 525-5583

Fax: (B76) 926-4385

Website: www.sagicorjamaica.com

SAGICOR USA, INC

4010 W, Boy Scout Blvd, Suite 300
Tampa, Florida 33607, USA

Tel: (813)-287-1602

Fax: (813)-287-7420

SAGICOR LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
4010 'W. Boy Scout Blvd, Suite 300
Tampa, Florida 33607, USA

Tel: (813) 2871602

Fax: (813) 287-7420

4343 M. Scottsdale Road, Suite 300
Scottsdale, Arizona, 85251, LISA
Tel: 1-800-531-5067

Fax: (480) 425-5150

Website: www.sagicorlifeusa.com

SAGICOR FINANCE LIMITED
Maples Corporate Services Limited
Ugland House

South Church Street

Ceorge Town, Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands

FAMGUARD CORPORATION LIMITED
East Bay & Shirley Street

PO Box 55-68232

Massau, NP

Bahamas

Tel: (242) 396 4000

Fax: {242} 353 1100

Website: www.famguardbahamas.com

RGM LTD

Albion Plaza Energy Centre
22-24 Wictoria Avenue

Part of Spain

Trinidad

Tel: (B68) 625-6505

Fax: (868) 624-7607
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